
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
The Democracy Service 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside 
 

Email: andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Monday 20 July 2020 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Cabinet 
 

A Meeting of Cabinet will take place remotely at 3.00 pm on Tuesday 28 July 
2020. 
 
This meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the Council’s 
website at the time of the meeting and follow the instructions on the page. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Cabinet members are:- 
 

 
 
Emergency Cabinet Portfolio Responsibilities During Covid-19 
 

Cllr Shabir Pandor 

 

Leading the immediate response to the pandemic 

Leading recovery strategy 

Public Health 

Cllr Peter McBride Immediate support to business 

Planning the post-pandemic inclusive economy 

Cllr Viv Kendrick Statutory responsibility for children’s social care 

Safeguarding our most vulnerable children throughout the 

pandemic 

Cllr Musarrat Khan Statutory responsibility for vulnerable adults 

Responsible for vulnerable adult social care, and safeguarding our 

most vulnerable adults throughout the pandemic 

Cllr Carole Pattison Working with schools to maintain services 

Planning for return to school 

Cllr Graham Turner Financial oversight 

Resources 

Cllr Naheed Mather Council staff, including staff wellbeing 

 

Cllr Cathy Scott Engaging and supporting voluntary sector capacity for immediate 

responses to the pandemic 

Strengthening place-based working for the future 

(North Kirklees) 

Cllr Rob Walker Engaging and supporting voluntary sector capacity for immediate 

responses to the pandemic 

Strengthening place-based working for the future 

(South Kirklees) 

 

 
 
 

Member Responsible For: 

Councillor Shabir Pandor Leader of the Council 

Councillor Viv Kendrick Cabinet Member - Children (Statutory 

responsibility for Children) 

Councillor Musarrat Khan Cabinet Member - Health and Social Care 

Councillor Naheed Mather Cabinet Member - Greener Kirklees 

Councillor Peter McBride Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration 

Councillor Carole Pattison Cabinet Member for Learning, Aspiration and 

Communities 

Councillor Cathy Scott Cabinet Member - Housing and Democracy 

Councillor Graham Turner Cabinet Member - Corporate 

Councillor Rob Walker Cabinet Member for Culture and Environment 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of Cabinet 
 
To receive apologies for absence from Cabinet Members who are 
unable to attend this meeting. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Interests 
 
The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests. 
 

 
 

1 - 2 

3:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 
 

 
 

 

4:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Cabinet will receive any petitions and hear any deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation. 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 

5:   Questions by Members of the Public (Written Questions) 
 
Due to current Covid-19 restrictions, Members of the Public may 
submit written questions to the Leader, and/or Cabinet Members.  
 
Any questions should be emailed to 
executive.governance@kirklees.gov.uk no later than 10.00am on 
Monday 27 July 2020.  
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11(5), the period allowed 
for the asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. A maximum of 4 questions per person may be submitted.  
 

 
 

 

6:   Questions by Elected Members (Oral Questions) 
 
Cabinet will receive any questions from Elected Members (via 
remote access).  
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule 2.3 (2.3.1.6) a period 
of up to 30 minutes will be allocated.  
 

 
 

 

7:   Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy; 
Tree Works on Council Owned Trees Guidance 
Document; Tree Risk Management Framework 
 
 
To consider the adoption of (i) the Council Owned Tree and Woodland 
Management Policy and (ii) the Tree Works on Council Owned Trees: 
Guidance Document and the Tree Risk Management Framework.  
 
Wards affected: All 
 
Contact: Rob Dalby, Greenspace Operations Manager  

 

 
 

3 - 34 

8:   Major Transport - Major Scheme Approvals and Update 
 
To consider granting authority for the Council to proceed with three 
infrastructure schemes as part of the Major Infrastructure Scheme 
Programme, and to receive details of progress made to date on the 
Major Infrastructure Scheme Programme. 

 

Wards affected: Dalton and Newsome  
 
Contact: Keith Bloomfield, Strategic Lead – Major Projects 
 

 

35 - 46 

mailto:executive.governance@kirklees.gov.uk


 

 

 

9:   Council Financial Outturn & Rollover Report 2019-20 
incorporating General Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue 
account, Capital and Treasury Management 
 
To receive information on the Council’s 2019-20 financial outturn 
position for General Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
and Capital Plan, including proposals for revenue and capital rollover 
from 2019-20 to 2020-21. The report also includes an annual review of 
Council Treasury Management activity. 
 
Wards affected: All 
 
Contact: James Anderson, Head of Accountancy / Sarah Hill, Finance 
Manager  
 

 
 

47 - 120 

10:   Kirklees Active Leisure Covid-19 Funding Support 
 
To consider the irrecoverable losses directly attributed to the Covid-19 
lockdown and subsequent anticipated phased re-opening faced by Kirklees 
Active Leisure (KAL), and proposals that they be underwritten from Covid-
19 funding received from the Government. 
 
Wards affected: All 
 
Contact: Martin Gonzalez, Development Manager  
 

 
 

121 - 
126 

11:   Exclusion of the Public 
 
To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following item of business, on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

 

12.   Kirklees Active Leisure Covid-19 Funding Support  
 
(This Appendix is recommended for consideration in private in 
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
namely it contains information relating to the financial and business 
affairs of the Council and third parties. It is considered that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption, which would protect the rights of 
an individual or the council, outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information and providing greater openness in the council’s 
decision making.) 
 
Exempt appendix relating to Agenda Item 10.  
 

127 - 
140 



 

 

 
 



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 2



 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:    28 July 2020    
Title of report:  Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy; Tree Works 

on Council Owned Trees Guidance Document; Tree Risk Management 
Framework 

  
Purpose of report: To seek approval for the new Council Owned Tree and Woodland 
Management Policy and for the implementation of the procedures outlined in the Tree Works on 
Council Owned Trees: Guidance Document and the Tree Risk Management Framework. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

No  
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision - No 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix - No 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Not Applicable  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Karl Battersby - 15.07.20 
(Sue Procter on behalf of) 
 
Eamonn Croston - 15.07.20 
 
 
Julie Muscroft - 16.07.20 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Rob Walker 
 
Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted: No 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered?  Yes 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


Page 2 of the report 
 
1. Summary 

 
The aim of the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy is to set out how the 
Council will effectively manage and enhance the trees and woodlands for which it is responsible, 
ensuring that they: 

• positively contribute to the area and the achievement of the Council’s corporate priorities, 
helping to create an attractive, healthy environment which maximises the quality of life of our 
citizens; 
• maximising benefits to the wider environment, including contributing towards the Council’s 
response to the climate emergency; 
• meet legal obligations; and  
• minimise conflict with the public and other land owners.  

 
The accompanying documents Tree Works on Council Owned Trees Guidance Document and 
Tree Risk Management Framework provide further detail on how specific tree related issues will 
be dealt with by the Council, and how it will effectively manage tree related risk. 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 

 
The total area of woodland within the Kirklees district is approximately 6,199ha or 15.2% of 
Kirklees district’s land area, higher than the national figure of 10.5%. Kirklees Council 
owned/managed woodlands cover over 600ha (approx. 10% of the woodlands in the district). 

Increasing tree cover and effective management of its tree and woodland assets are a key 
component of the Council delivering its Corporate Plan, in particular Clean and Green: enabling 
both our built and natural environment to contribute to the quality of life of our citizens and making 
the district a more attractive place in which to live and invest; and helping to connect people and 
places, improve air quality and be resilient in the face of extreme weather.  
 
There is increasingly strong evidence and a growing consensus that trees, woods and forests 
have a key role to play in climate change mitigation and adaptation, and in delivery of ecosystem 
services in both rural and urban areas. This policy aligns strongly with the Council’s response to 
the Climate Emergency with an increase in tree cover across the district, as part of the White 
Rose Forest programme, a key recommendation in the climate emergency working party’s report 
adopted in November 2019. 
 
Several previous tree related policies have existed, but they have not been comprehensive. A 
previous version of the Guidance Document has been available on the Kirklees website for some 
time but some of the information is out of date and it was therefore timely to review this document 
in conjunction with the development of the main policy and risk management framework. 
 
The Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy sets out a number of policy 
statements relating to: 

• proactive tree and woodland enhancement; 
• the protection of existing tree and woodland assets; 
• woodland management; 
• risk management; and 
• conflict and complaints. 

 
The Tree Works on Council Owned Trees Guidance Document complements the main policy by 
giving more detail on how specific tree related issues and conflicts will be dealt with by the 
Council, and to clarify the Council’s legal obligations in relation to such issues. This includes how 
trees will be maintained in different locations and with due regard to the protection of associated 
wildlife, how decisions relating to tree felling will be taken, and how requests for tree works not 
required by law will be assessed. 
 
The Tree Risk Management Framework focuses specifically on tree related risk. This document 
aims to assist the Council in exercising its duty of care to both its employees and the public with Page 4



regard to the safety of trees, and proactively manage risk to its land and property, by maintaining 
a system of tree inspection and remedial works that is in line with the Council Owned Tree and 
Woodland Management Policy as well as with current nationally accepted standards and industry 
best practice. A management system is proposed which includes a zone-based inspection 
regime, both routine and reactive inspections, and a system for prioritising remedial works. 
 
The premise of all three documents is that the Council supports the retention of trees on Council 
owned land wherever possible and will proactively work to increase tree cover across the district 
as part of its commitment to the climate emergency and the White Rose Forest programme. The 
policy is distinct from planning policy relating to trees and development which is already set out in 
the Local Plan.  

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
• Working with People 

The great majority of complaints relating to Council owned trees comprise requests for trees to 
be removed rather than complaints about unjustified removal. Whilst we appreciate that trees can 
be a source of nuisance the Council’s priority is the retention of trees where their removal is not 
necessary for statutory, safety or tree/woodland health reasons. It is therefore not always 
possible to act in accordance with residents’ wishes, however the Council will adopt a common-
sense approach with regards to requests it receives for relevant, justifiable and necessary tree 
works. All requests will be considered individually, and the circumstances of the request will be 
balanced against any environmental impacts before a decision is made. The reasons for the 
decision will be fully explained to the customer. Where the decision is not to the satisfaction of 
the customer, the customer has the right to appeal against the action or decision, to which the 
Council will respond in writing. Requests received in the form of complaints will be dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s complaints procedures.  
 
Where street tree felling is required for highways works this will not be undertaken without 
consultation with all elected ward members and residents on the street will be consulted as 
appropriate. 
 
In bringing its woodlands back into active management and in planning tree planting 
programmes the Council will aim to work with elected members, local communities and partner 
organisations wherever possible to ensure they fit with local needs and to foster greater positive 
community engagement with and care for our woodlands. 

 
• Working with Partners 

The three documents have been issued to partner organisations with expertise in tree and 
woodland management for peer review as part of the consultation process, including the 
Woodland Trust and the Yorkshire tree officers group. 

 
We will work collaboratively with ward members and partner organisations wherever possible in 
implementing the policies and procedures outlined in these documents, in particular where 
decisions are required about the removal of trees for non-statutory or safety reasons and for 
significant planning tree planting and woodland management schemes. 

 
• Place Based Working  

As described above the policy and associated documents allow for ward member, citizen and 
partner engagement in decision-making about tree related issues where appropriate to ensure 
that outcomes are appropriate to the geographical area and community in question. 

 
• Climate Change and Air Quality 

This policy commits the Council to proactive woodland management, increasing tree cover 
and protection of existing trees on Council land, all of which will contribute actively to carbon 
sequestration. As such this policy contributes to the Council’s response to the climate 
emergency and aligns with the adopted climate emergency working party report which in 
commits the Council to participation in the White Rose Forest programme, aiming to increase 
tree canopy cover across the district by 30% by 2045.  
 Page 5



 
• Improving outcomes for children 

The Guidance document recognises the value of all green spaces, including woodland, for 
adventurous play and the vital contribution this makes to children’s physical, mental and 
emotional well-being and development. As such the use of Council woodlands for play is 
considered, in particular the construction of tree swings in tree houses and proposes that 
such items will be left in woodlands where they are considered to be safe for use. Any such 
items encountered in Council woodlands by officers during the course of their work, or 
reported to the Council by third parties, will be inspected and assessed for safety in terms of 
their location and construction. If considered dangerous or inappropriate they will be removed 
within one working day of this decision being made. Structures will only be left in situ if they 
are considered to be safe for use until the next scheduled inspection of that area in the 
forestry team’s tree inspection programme, as the Council is not able to allocate additional 
resources to more frequent monitoring of such items. Any decisions made will be 
documented.  

 
• Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

All three documents have been reviewed and approved by the Council’s insurance team in 
terms of all content that relates to risk management and potential claims. 
 

Do you need an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)?  
 
N/a 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 
The three documents presented in this report have been developed by the park’s development 
and forestry teams within Greenspace. They were subsequently reviewed by the insurance team, 
Tom Stevenson (Biodiversity Officer), the planning policy team and Councillor Rob Walker and 
amendments made. The documents were then submitted to Scrutiny for a panel discussion which 
took place on 10th October 2019. 
 
The Scrutiny panel proposed a few small amendments which were made to the policy before it 
was issued for internal and external consultation. The three documents were then issued for 
consultation to the following: 
 
Internal: 
- Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing 
- Planning & planning policy 
- Corporate Facilities Management 
- Corporate Strategy  
- Guy Thompson, White Rose Forest partnerships manager 

 
External: 
- Woodland Trust 
- Yorkshire tree officers’ group 
- Save Greenhead Trees/Save Kirklees Trees campaign group 

 
Comments were received from the following: 
- KNH: some amendments to the wording in the Guidance document around the treatment of 

trees in residents’ gardens were discussed and agreed.   
- Corporate Strategy: links to climate emergency strengthened and distinction between this 

policy and planning policy made clearer. 
- Planning policy: some amendments made to make clear the distinction between this policy 

and planning policy relating to trees. 
- Save Kirklees Trees campaign group: comments related mainly to planning policy tree issues 

which are beyond the remit of this policy but have been passed on to the relevant 
department.   

 
 
 Page 6



5. Next steps and timelines 
 

 
• A Kirklees White Rose Forest delivery plan has been drafted and submitted to the White 

Rose Forest partnerships manager to take forward this element of the policy. This includes 
possible mechanisms for delivering woodland management and planting going forward such 
as the creation of a social enterprise. 

• Risk management: The forestry team will work with all affected services to begin the process 
of zoning trees and associated inspection levels in order to implement the new framework 
and agree details of recouping costs. A programme of basic training will be rolled out for 
grounds maintenance staff, housing officers and other staff as relevant to enable them to 
recognise obvious problems with trees which can be reported back to the forestry team. 

• Communications: Tree related information provided on the Council website will be reviewed 
and updated, in conjunction with planning teams so that information is streamlined; this will 
include discussion of how we use the website to inform/engage the public in changes relating 
to trees both in terms of tree removal and planting. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
Approve the adoption of the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy together 
with the Tree Works on Council Owned Trees: Guidance Document and the Tree Risk 
Management Framework. 
 
Reason: to achieve effective management and enhancement of trees and woodlands under 
Council ownership 

 
7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 
 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder, Councillor Rob Walker, supports the recommendations in this 
report and would ask Cabinet to resolve to agree to the recommendations as outlined in section 6 
of the report. 

 
8. Contact officer  

 
Rob Dalby, Greenspace Operations Manager 
rob.dalby@kirklees.gov.uk 
(01484) 221777   

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 
Scrutiny panel discussion, 10 October 2019:  
http://modgovdb01vm:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=572&MId=6132 

 
10. Service Director responsible  

 
Sue Procter, Service Director - Environment, Economy and Infrastructure 
sue.procter@kirklees.gov.uk 
(01484) 221777  

 
 
 

Page 7

mailto:rob.dalby@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:sue.procter@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Kirklees Council 

Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy 

1. Introduction and Aims 
1.1 Trees are a hugely important component of the landscape in both the urban and rural parts of the 

Kirklees district. Trees, whether appearing as individuals, groups or as woodlands, have a very 
significant effect on our quality of life by providing a range of ecological, aesthetic, social and health 
benefits. 

1.2 The total area of woodland within the Kirklees district is approximately 6,199ha or 15.2% of Kirklees 
district’s land area, which is considerably higher than the UK national figure of 11.8% (ONS figures). 
Kirklees Council owned/managed woodlands cover over 600ha, representing almost 10% of the 
woodlands in the district or 1.5% of the land cover. 

1.3 Increasing tree cover and effective management of its tree and woodland assets are a key 
component of the Council delivering its Corporate Plan, in particular Clean and Green: enabling both 
our built and natural environment to contribute to the quality of life of our citizens and making the 
district a more attractive place in which to live and invest; and helping to connect people and places, 
improve air quality and be resilient in the face of extreme weather. 

1.4 There is increasingly strong evidence and a growing consensus that trees, woods and forests have a 
key role to play in climate change mitigation and adaptation, and in delivery of ecosystem services in 
both rural and urban areas. As such this policy also forms part of the Council’s response to the 
Kirklees Climate Emergency, declared in January 2019, and the subsequent report of the Kirklees 
Climate Emergency Working Party adopted in November 2019. 

1.5 The aim of this policy is to set out how the Council will effectively manage and enhance trees 
and woodlands under Council ownership, ensuring that they: 
• positively contribute to the area, the achievement of the Council’s corporate priorities and 
the local response to the Climate Emergency; 
• maximise benefits for citizens and the wider environment; 
• meet legal obligations; and  
• minimise conflict with the public and other land owners.  

1.6 This policy and associated documents are intended to provide guidance for decision-makers across 
the Council when addressing any issues related to the management of trees and woodlands within 
Council ownership, as well as for the general public in terms of how requests/complaints relating to 
trees and woodlands will be dealt with.  

1.7 A Tree and Woodland Guidance document was adopted by the Council in 2014. This policy and 
associated documents supersede that document and any other previous Kirklees Council tree 
policies, strategies and guidelines. 

 
2. Scope 
2.1 The Council’s tree and woodland assets are managed by the Greenspace Department. 
2.2 This policy primarily relates to trees for which the Council is currently responsible, namely those located on 

Council-owned land within: 
i. Highway verges  
ii. Council tenancy housing sites 
iii. Cemeteries and churchyards 
iv. Car parks 
v. Parks and open spaces 
vi. Woodlands 
vii. Land vested with the corporate landlord (PRP) 
viii. The boundaries of Council owned/managed buildings 

2.3 This policy does not cover trees within private ownership unless the Council has a legal responsibility 
or power in respect of their management. 

 
3. Background 

 

Page 9



2 
 

Statutory obligations  
3.1 Under section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act) Local 

Authorities have a statutory obligation to have regard to the conservation of biodiversity, including 
restoring habitats and species populations, while exercising their functions.  

3.2 Further statutory protection to species associated with trees and woodlands are conferred by the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and European Protected Species legislation. Of particular note is 
legislation relating to bats and their roosts, badgers, and nesting birds. 

Benefits of trees 
3.3 The benefits of trees have been widely researched and documented, and include: 

• Landscape character: contributing to the physical attractiveness of the district and providing 
screening for less attractive development, thereby also attracting local investment; 

• Local environment: mitigating noise pollution, providing shelter, stabilising soils thereby reducing 
erosion, and mitigating flood risk by absorbing water and slowing the flow of water into 
watercourses 

• Climate change: carbon capture and sequestration; 
• Biodiversity: supporting a multitude of other species of flora and fauna; 
• Physical health: significantly improving air quality through trapping of particulate matter, offering 

shade, offering opportunities for physical activity; 
• Mental health and well-being: contributing to attractive green spaces which are well documented to 

have a positive effect on mental health and well-being;  
• Education and culture: providing an educational resource e.g. for Forest Schools; many specific 

trees and woodlands have important historic and cultural significance; and 
• Commercial: a potential source of revenue. 

Biodiversity and woodland management 
3.5 Forests, woods and trees make a major contribution to biodiversity in the UK but lack of 

management, fragmentation of habitat and climate change can compromise this contribution. 
3.6 Kirklees contains examples of the following Habitats of Principal Importance, which are identified 

under section 41 of the NERC Act 2006: Lowland Mixed Deciduous Woodland, Traditional Orchards, 
Upland Mixed Ashwoods, Upland Oakwoodland, Wet Woodland, Wood-Pasture & Parkland.  The list 
of Habitat (and Species) of Principle Importance is intended to inform the ‘biodiversity duty’ under 
section 40 of the NERC Act 2006 (see section 3.1 above).  

3.7 Many woodlands across Kirklees have been under or not managed for a number of decades, leading 
to even aged stands of mature, often single species woodland with little regeneration or ground flora. 
Reinstating active management of many woodlands, together with connecting woodland habitats, is 
therefore an important component of improving biodiversity across the district, and will demonstrate 
that the Council is meeting its ‘biodiversity duty’ under section 40 of the NERC Act 2006. 

3.8 Trees and woodlands are currently also under threat from a number of specific challenges including 
Ash Dieback and the effects of climate change, including changes in precipitation, temperatures and 
the spread of other pests and diseases, which are likely to increase into the future. 

White Rose Forest  
3.9 Kirklees Council is a key partner in the White Rose Forest (WRF) initiative which covers the Leeds 

city region and aims for a 30% increase in tree canopy cover by 2044 as part of the wider Northern 
Forest programme. The WRF initiative includes a number of key work streams including Green 
Streets, focused on urban tree planting, and Landscapes for Water which views woodland creation 
through the wider lens of natural flood management and water quality improvement. 

Tree-related risk 
3.10 The risk of being struck and killed by a tree or branch falling is extremely low - in the order of one in 

10 million for those trees in or adjacent to areas of high public use. The Health and Safety Executive 
(HSE) views this level of risk as “broadly acceptable”, however the public may not perceive the risk to 
be low following an incident depending on the associated media coverage. 

3.11 As the owner and manager of trees Kirklees Council owes a duty of care to persons and property who 
may suffer harm caused by their failure in line with the following legislation:  
• The Health & Safety at Work Act (etc) 1974 
• Occupiers Liability Acts 1957 and 1984 
• The Management of Health & Safety Regulations 1999 

Page 10



3 
 

3.12 As such the Council, as a reasonable and prudent landowner, has a responsibility to have a risk 
management framework in place which considers the risks posed by its trees, which balances the 
risks against the many benefits provided by its trees and woodlands, and which allows it to take 
actions which are proportionate to the risk and are reasonably practicable.  

3.13 This subject is discussed in more detail in the Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework 
which accompanies this document. 

Conflict in relation to trees 
3.14 Whilst trees are widely recognised for their many benefits they can also be the source of conflict. 

Frequent causes for complaints to the Council relating to trees include shading, leaf fall, structural 
damage, interference with utilities/services, and obscuring of views. 

3.15 Conflict may also arise where third parties undertake works to trees on Council land without prior 
written agreement from the Council. 

3.16 Trees owned by third parties may also cause damage to Council land or property on failure, and on 
occasion private trees may be noted by Council tree inspectors as posing an imminent risk to Council 
land or property. The Council has powers under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 and the Highways Act 1980 to require a private individual to make safe a tree which poses 
an imminent danger.  

 
4. Council Policy Statements for the Management of Trees and Woodland 

under its Ownership 
Tree and woodland enhancement  
4.1 The Council will seek to proactively increase tree and woodland cover in both rural and urban 

parts of the district, by planning for the replacement of trees projected to be lost through 
disease and by maximising opportunities to plant trees wherever practicable and sympathetic 
to local topography, ecology and landscape character and taking into account the avoidance 
of future conflict with other landowners and users, in conjunction with the White Rose Forest 
and relevant elements of the Local Plan including the facilitation of biodiversity net gain and 
connectivity enhancement within the Kirklees Wildlife Habitat Network and the Strategic Green 
Infrastructure Network.  

Protection of existing trees/woodland assets 
4.2 The Council will not agree to the removal of healthy trees from the environment unless this 

removal is deemed necessary under the Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework 
or is in line with good woodland management practices, or is otherwise required under other 
legislation or to implement a planning permission.    

Woodland management 
4.3 Where practicable the Council will seek to bring its woodlands back into active management 

in line with best practice as set out in The UK Forestry Standard through the creation and 
implementation of woodland management plans for sites and through seeking appropriate 
funding, in conjunction with local volunteer groups and commercial opportunities where 
appropriate, and ensuring adherence to all relevant wildlife legislation. 

Risk management 
4.4 The Council will manage tree-related risk in a proportionate, consistent and effective manner 

through the implementation of the Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework which 
accompanies this document. 

Conflict and complaints - Council and third-party trees 
4.5 Requests and complaints from third parties in relation to Council trees will be dealt in 

accordance with the above policies 4.1-4.4 and the Council’s Complaints Procedures where 
relevant, taking into account the specific circumstances and context of the request or 
complaint, and including an appeals process against any decision made. 

4.6 The Council will seek compensation in the form of remedial work to rectify damage and/or full 
replacement cost values from any external organisation or individual(s) responsible for 

Page 11



4 
 

significant damage to, or removal of, any Council owned tree(s) according to the value as 
calculated by the Capital Asset Valuation of Amenity Trees (CAVAT) methodology. 

4.7 The Council will, when identified as part of its own tree inspection programme, notify owners 
of private trees that pose a foreseeable risk to the public highway or to Council land of the 
need to carry out remedial works; in the event of non-compliance remedial works will be 
undertaken by the Council, with costs recharged to the tree owner, in line with relevant 
legislation. 

4.8 Tree works will not be carried out at the Council’s expense on behalf of private tree owners; 
where essential works are undertaken to rectify damage to Council land or property sustained 
through the failure of the whole or part of third-party trees the costs of such works will be 
recharged in full to the owner of the tree or trees in question. 
 

5. Procedures and Implementation 
5.1  The procedures and guidelines to be followed in implementing this policy are set out in the 

supplementary documents Kirklees Council Tree Works on Council Owned Trees: Guidance 
Document and Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework. 

 
Key References 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (section 40: duty to conserve biodiversity)  
• National Planning Policy Framework (Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding 

and coastal change; and Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 
• Kirklees Council Local Plan (adopted March 2019) 
• Trees in Towns II (DCLG, 2008) 
• Local Authority Tree Strategies (The Woodland Trust, 2016)  
• British Standard BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - 

recommendations  
• British Standard BS 3998:2010 Tree work – recommendations 
• The UK Forestry Standard (the Forestry Commission, 2017  
• The State of the U.K.’s Forests, Woods and Trees (The Woodland Trust, 2011) 

 

Page 12



 
 

 

 
TREE WORKS ON  
COUNCIL OWNED 

TREES 
 
 
 

GUIDANCE DOCUMENT 
Revised July 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Greenspace  
Kirklees Council 
Flint Street 
Huddersfield 
 
Tel 01484 414700 
Tel 01484 225664 (out of hours emergencies) 
Email forestry@kirklees.gov.uk 

Page 13



2 
 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

2. Common Law Rights ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Maintenance of Council Trees ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

3.1 Street trees ............................................................................................................................................................. 5 

3.2 Parks and public open spaces ................................................................................................................................ 5 

3.3 Cemeteries and closed churchyards ....................................................................................................................... 5 

3.4 Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing (KNH) areas ...................................................................................................... 6 

3.5 Tree felling .............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.6 Tree pruning ........................................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.7 Use of green waste ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.8 Tree planting .......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.9 Wildlife legislation ................................................................................................................................................. 7 

4. Unsafe Trees ................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

4.1 Unsafe trees - requiring immediate action ............................................................................................................ 8 

4.2 Trees - not requiring immediate action ................................................................................................................. 8 

4.3 Unsafe trees in private ownership ......................................................................................................................... 8 

5. General Works to Council Trees Not Required by Law ............................................................................................... 9 

5.1 Tree touching a building ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

5.2 Tree overhanging property .................................................................................................................................... 9 

5.3 Tree roots and drains ............................................................................................................................................. 9 

5.4 Trees blocking natural light ................................................................................................................................. 10 

5.5 Trees blocking views............................................................................................................................................. 10 

5.6 Leaf fall from trees ............................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.7 Sap from trees ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.8 Blossom from trees ............................................................................................................................................... 10 

5.9 Bird droppings from trees .................................................................................................................................... 11 

5.10 Fruit, berries & nuts from trees .......................................................................................................................... 11 

5.11 Wildlife and insects in trees ............................................................................................................................... 11 

5.12 Satellite, television and other communications reception blocked by trees .................................................... 11 

5.13 Security cameras/sensors blocked by trees ....................................................................................................... 11 

5.14 Solar collectors and panels obscured by trees .................................................................................................. 11 

5.15 Telephone wires and trees ................................................................................................................................. 12 

5.16 Tree considered too large .................................................................................................................................. 12 

5.17 Vandalism to trees ............................................................................................................................................. 12 

5.18 Anti-social behaviour and trees ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Page 14



3 
 

5.19 Claims of subsidence caused by trees ................................................................................................................ 12 

5.20 Tree swings, tree houses and other home-made play equipment on Council owned land ............................. 13 

6. Trees Affecting the Public Highway ........................................................................................................................... 13 

6.1 Tree obstructing the highway .............................................................................................................................. 13 

6.2 Pavement obstructed by tree ............................................................................................................................... 13 

6.3 Line of sight obscured by trees............................................................................................................................. 14 

6.4 Signal and signage obscured by trees ................................................................................................................. 14 

6.5 Street light obscured by trees .............................................................................................................................. 14 

7. Woodland Management ............................................................................................................................................ 14 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 15



4 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Kirklees Council is responsible for the management of all trees growing on its land including street trees, 
trees on public open spaces and in woodlands. By law, the Council has duty of care with respect to tree 
related risk and is also required to manage and undertake work to any tree which constitutes a statutory 
nuisance. In order to discharge these duties a programme of inspection and maintenance works is in place 
aimed at keeping staff and the public safe from harm and preserving the health and future wellbeing of the 
Council’s tree stock. 
 
Trees are a hugely important component of the landscape in both the urban and rural parts of the Kirklees 
district. Trees, whether appearing as individuals, groups or as woodlands, have a very significant effect on 
our quality of life by providing a range of ecological, aesthetic, social and health benefits. As such the 
Council is committed to maintaining – and where possible increasing – the level of tree cover across 
Kirklees. There are, however, a number of conflicts which may arise where the Council’s trees are located 
close to neighbouring properties and the aim of this guide is to set out the Council’s policies in dealing with 
these conflicts and to clarify the Council’s legal obligations in relation to such issues.  
 
This guidance document is intended for both staff and the general public. It complements and is intended to 
be read in conjunction with Kirklees’ Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy and the 
Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework. This document will be reviewed on a biennial basis by 
the forestry team within the Greenspace department. 
 
To contact Kirklees Council forestry team call 01484 414700 or email forestry@kirklees.gov.uk with 
details of the issues in question together with photographs where possible. The forestry team works 
in an advisory capacity to a number of Council Services and any decisions relating to trees will be made by 
the team in conjunction with the relevant Service. 
 
2. Common Law Rights  
 
In the English legal system, Common Law (or civil law) refers to laws that have been developed through 
precedent set by similar cases as opposed to being created through legislative statutes. Under English 
Common Law Rights, a property owner has a right to remove (abate) the nuisance associated with trees 
encroaching onto his/her property. The following advice with respect to encroaching trees is given for 
general guidance only and property owners would always be advised to obtain independent legal advice 
before acting.  
 
a) It is not the responsibility of the Council to prune back branches or foliage from its trees where they 
overhang another person’s property, however as a landowner you are entitled to undertake such pruning 
yourself. The Council is not obliged to accept the return of any pruned materials and they should only be 
left on Council land if prior written consent has been given. 
b) You can only consider removing those parts of the tree from the point where they cross the boundary of 
your property. You must not go beyond your property boundary without the permission of the tree owner. 
You have no legal right to cut or remove any part of a tree that does not overhang your property. Any work 
which you do carry out must be done at your own expense and without unauthorised access to Council 
land. Kirklees Council has no liability to reimburse any associated costs. If your actions render a tree to be 
unsafe you may be liable for any subsequent damage that results from tree failure.   
c) You are strongly advised to consult a professional tree surgeon for guidance on how best to prune back 
encroaching trees, unless the works are trivial meaning you could do the works with hand secateurs or 
similar.  
d) You are strongly advised to tell the owner of the trees what you plan to do. You can find out if the trees 
are owned by the Council by telephoning Kirklees Direct on 01484 414700.  
e) Before you consider doing any works to the trees you should find out if they are protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order or if they are in a Conservation Area. If trees are protected, then you will need to gain 
consent by making an application / give notice to the Council. For guidance on how to check if the trees are 

Page 16



5 
 

protected and how to make an application please contact the Council’s Planning department on 
trees.planning@kirklees.gov.uk or (01484) 221000. 
 
Any works to Council owned trees or parts of trees on Council land (not private land) require prior 
written consent from the Council as detailed in Section 5. 
 
3. Maintenance of Council Trees 
 
Trees are maintained in order to reduce the risk of harm to people and property to an acceptable level and 
to discharge the Council’s duties under law in dealing with a statutory nuisance. Tree maintenance may on 
occasion be undertaken for other reasons but this is at the discretion of the Council’s Greenspace 
Department. The Council is committed to increasing tree cover across the district and as such the retention 
of trees will always be the preferred course of action unless there is a clear justification otherwise. Further 
information on the Council’s policies relating to maintenance and management of its trees and woodlands 
can be found in the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy and the Kirklees Council Tree 
Risk Management Framework. 
 
3.1 Street trees  
 
Street (highway) trees are defined as trees planted and growing in pavements and road verges along the 
district’s highway network. Such trees are a valuable part of our urban landscape, and the Council will 
maintain and enhance this urban forest for the benefit of present and future generations.  
 
The Council will endeavour to protect street trees from threats such as loss of and damage to verges, the 
activities of statutory undertakers and other excavations, and damage from use of road de-icing salt bins or 
piles being placed around tree root areas. Where utility works are being undertaken within close proximity 
to highway trees, contractors will be obliged to undertake works in accordance with NJUG 10 v.4 or any 
amendments to that document. 
 
The Council will not support the removal of trees for vehicle drop crossings unless the tree is of limited life 
expectancy or a suitable mitigation scheme is agreed. All trees removed will be replaced with suitable 
specimens and all costs for removal and replacement will be borne by the person applying for the drop 
crossing according to Capital Asset Valuation of Amenity Trees (CAVAT) methodology. 
 
Many of our street trees are now mature and as such it is inevitable that some are removed each year due 
to age or condition, with other removals unavoidable due to necessary highway and infrastructure 
improvements. Where street tree felling is required for highways works this will not be undertaken without 
consultation with all elected ward members and residents on the street will be consulted as appropriate. 
Where practicable the Council will always seek to replant new trees to reverse the decline of our urban tree 
population – more often in grassed verges which are more suited to tree growth. Careful consideration will 
be given to the species selected and to the placement of trees so as to minimise conflict with other uses of 
the highway.  
 
3.2 Parks and public open spaces  
 
Trees in parks and public open spaces are managed to reflect the context of the site and their type, age 
and condition. Trees in parks generally have more room to grow compared to street trees and usually grow 
to their full height and spread.  
 
Ongoing maintenance includes removing dead wood, formative pruning (to remove problems in tree form 
when the tree is young, thus avoiding expensive problems later), removing low branches from pathways 
and removing trees when they come to the end of their safe and useful life.  
 
Available resources will be used to plant new trees where a need has been identified. Where management 
plans do not exist, trees will be selected and sited to complement and enhance the park or green space 
and to maintain tree cover in these areas. 
 
3.3 Cemeteries and closed churchyards  

Page 17

mailto:trees.planning@kirklees.gov.uk


6 
 

 
There are approximately 20,000 cemeteries and churchyards in England, encompassing approximately 
10,000 ha of land, representing an extremely valuable ecological resource. Many cemeteries and 
churchyards contain large specimen trees, the product of a framework of planting undertaken when the 
cemetery sites were first laid out. Many trees in cemeteries and churchyards have religious associations, 
and are also considered to be valuable places that can offer a sense of calm and relaxation, and even 
exercise, for those persons who choose to access them. In order to protect these trees the Council will 
ensure that the placement of new graves near trees will be in accordance with the guidance set out in BS 
5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations. 
 
3.4 Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing (KNH) managed areas  
 
A high number of KNH managed Council properties have trees within their gardens and throughout the 
district there are large numbers of trees on KNH managed estates, many of which are growing in close 
proximity to residential premises. 
 
Tree works are carried out by the Council’s Greenspace Department on behalf of KNH. The Council’s 
Tenancy Agreement sets out the rights and responsibilities of the tenant and also the Council’s rights as 
landlord which states: “You must cultivate and look after the garden and keep any trees, bushes, hedges or 
grass at a reasonable size or height”.  
 
The Council does not, however, reasonably expect all tenants to take responsibility for managing large 
trees within their gardens. All tree related requests will be considered on their own merits and where 
appropriate a consultation will be arranged between KNH and Greenspace Services before a decision is 
taken. The final decision will rest with KNH but will be subject to compliance with this Guidance Document, 
the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy and any relevant planning or legal rules or 
restrictions. 
 
In order to increase tree planting across Kirklees the Council will, where possible, endeavour to incorporate 
new trees into its housing sites. Careful consideration will be given to the species and placement of trees to 
minimise conflict with reasonable tenants' requirements and other site uses. Where appropriate we will 
consult with tenants and residents on such schemes. 
 
3.5 Tree felling  
 
Tree removal is regrettable but necessary under a number of circumstances. The decision to remove a tree 
is not taken lightly. Trees are usually felled because it is the best option to reduce the risk of harm to an 
acceptable level (e.g. dead, dying or diseased trees). Such decisions will always be made with reference to 
the Kirklees Council Tree Risk Management Framework. 
  
There are other circumstances where trees may be felled and these are mostly at the discretion of the 
Council’s Greenspace Department, such as where:  

• A tree has been proven to be causing subsidence;  
• The removal of a tree would benefit surrounding trees; or  
• It is the requirement of a management plan to enhance the development of neighbouring trees. 

 
3.6 Tree pruning  
 
Substantial pruning of a tree can allow decay organisms to enter exposed and vulnerable tissues and can 
also often weaken the structure of the tree. Pruning of a healthy tree will usually cause it to respond by 
producing vigorous new growth. Older trees do not tolerate pruning as well as younger ones and any 
substantial pruning can pose significant risk to the survival of a tree particularly in species which are not 
naturally tolerant of cutting. Pruning should therefore be avoided for reasons other than reducing risk of 
harm to people or property. Pruning for any other reasons would be exceptional and at the discretion of the 
Council’s Greenspace Department. Further guidance relating to particular circumstances is given in section 
4. 
 
3.7 Use of green waste  

Page 18



7 
 

 
Unless otherwise agreed, all debris that fits through the Council’s wood-chipper will be chipped on site and 
the resulting woodchip used by the Council. When woodland works are undertaken, all resulting debris, 
where appropriate, would be left on site either in mulch form or stored as habitat piles within appropriate 
woodland areas and removal of this would be seen as theft unless written permission is sought from 
Greenspace. 
 
3.8 Tree planting 
 
In line with the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy the Council supports tree and 
woodland planting wherever practicable and appropriate. Many problems associated with trees can be 
avoided by careful, considered design of planting schemes. The principle of “the right tree in the right 
location” is pivotal in ensuring trees on Council land exist and can grow and mature in harmony with the 
needs of residents including neighbouring property owners. The appropriate use of trees can transform the 
visual, amenity, economic and ecological value of an area. Tree planting schemes will always be 
undertaken with careful consideration of placement, species choice, species diversity and provenance to 
ensure we create high quality, sustainable landscapes for the future. Careful consideration will also be 
given to the best means of protecting newly planted trees in each situation. 
 
Procurement of trees and associated materials will be undertaken in line with Council procurement policies 
and procedures, with the aim of maximising efficiency and quality, and also in accordance with BS 
8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape - recommendations or any amendments 
to that document. Approved and reputable suppliers will be used to ensure quality specimens free from 
contamination.  
 
Where trees are planted as part of the Council’s forward planning to mitigate against future planned or 
anticipated removal the Council will where practicable wait until the new tree(s) are established before 
considering removal of the mature tree(s) in question. In practice this is usually approximately two years 
after the new tree’s stake has been removed. 
 
3.9 Wildlife legislation 
 
Work to trees has the potential to affect wildlife that receives specific legal protection. Species protection is 
provided through the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Protection of Badgers Act 1992 and the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. Other legislation relevant to tree work and wildlife 
includes the Hedgerows Regulations 1997 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.  
The Council will adhere to the requirements of all wildlife legislation in the course of undertaking tree works. 
 
Within Kirklees, bats and birds are the species groups most likely to be affected by tree works and as such 
measures to avoid impacts to these groups are described below. Where those working on trees have 
reason to suspect other protected species may be affected specialist ecological advice will be sought.   
 
Bats are European Protected Species and in England bats and their roosts are protected through the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. In 
undertaking any tree work, the Council will follow the survey protocol described in British Standard 
8596:2015 Surveying for bats in trees and woodland – Guide, and will, as described in the British Standard, 
employ the services of a bat specialist where necessary. The specialist will be named on an appropriate bat 
survey license issued by Natural England. Where a roost or roosts are identified, whether or not bats are 
present at the time, no works will be undertaken to the tree until such time as a bat mitigation license has 
been obtained from Natural England.   
 
It is an offence under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act of 1981 to intentionally take, damage or 
destroy the nest of any wild bird while it is in use or being built. As such tree and hedgerow work will be 
undertaken outside of the bird breeding season (inclusive of March-August) or where this is not possible 
trees will be inspected for bird's nests prior to work commencing. If active bird’s nests are present, no works 
will be undertake until all young have fledged, which will be determined through the advice of a suitably 
qualified ecologist.   
 

Page 19



8 
 

4.  Unsafe Trees  
 
4.1 Unsafe trees - requiring immediate action  
 
If a Council owned tree is in such a condition that it (or part of it) is at risk of imminent failure in the vicinity 
of people or property, the Council will attend the site as an emergency as soon as is reasonably practicable 
in line with its Tree Risk Management Framework. If work cannot be completed, areas at risk will be 
cordoned off until resources are available. 
 
Any matters of concern in relation to trees should be reported to forestry on 01484 414700 or email 
forestry@kirklees.gov.uk  
 
Signs to look for which may mean that a tree is in such condition to warrant immediate emergency action 
include:  
a) tree is snapped or blown over  
b) tree uprooted but held up by another tree or building  
c) a large branch has broken off or is hanging off the tree  
d) tree or branch is blocking the road or footpath  
e) tree or branch is blocking access to property  
f) tree may, or has already, fallen onto house or car  
 
Signs to look out for which may mean that a tree is a risk to people or property but the risk does not require 
an emergency response:  
a) tree is dead  
b) tree is dying - few leaves in summer or dieback in the crown  
c) bark is loose and falling off  
d) mushrooms or fungi growing on or near the tree  
e) old splits and cracks in the trunk or large branches  
f) smaller branches or twigs falling from the tree  
 
Trees can be made safe via pruning or felling. Typically we would employ the most cost effective approach. 
For certain high value trees, however, we would consider other options to reduce risk to an acceptable level 
whilst retaining the tree, including options to reduce the likelihood of the tree failing or the likelihood of 
persons being close to the tree if it did fail.  
 
4.2 Trees - not requiring immediate action  
 
Trees that are perceived as at risk of failure but presenting no immediate risk to the public (e.g. in areas of 
low/no public access) will be inspected and appropriate work undertaken depending on the level of risk 
identified at the time of inspection.  
 
4.3 Unsafe trees in private ownership  
 
Trees NOT within falling distance of the public highway  
 
Danger posed by trees owned by private parties is principally a matter for such parties to resolve. Private 
parties should take care of their own responsibilities and hence the Council should not be considered as 
the first point of contact in attempting to resolve concerns about the danger posed by trees in private 
ownership. Local Authorities do, however, have the power to require a private individual to make safe a tree 
which poses an imminent danger via the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. The 
Council may, therefore, intervene according to the powers given in the Act if an owner of such trees fails to 
act in a reasonable timescale (timescales depend upon the degree of risk presented) and may recover from 
the tree owner the expenses reasonably incurred by it in so doing.  
 
Trees WITHIN falling distance of the public highway  
 
If a tree in private ownership is reported to the Council and assessed as posing a danger to the highway it 
will be scheduled for work to make it reasonably safe. The land owner will in the first instance be contacted 

Page 20



9 
 

and instructed to make the tree safe under the Highways Act 1980. The Council may intervene according to 
the powers given in the Act if an owner of such trees fails to act in a reasonable timescale (timescales 
depend upon the degree of risk presented) and may recover from the tree owner the expenses reasonably 
incurred by it in so doing.  
 
5. General Works to Council Trees Not Required by Law 
 
Kirklees Council will refer to the following guidelines when considering requests for work which it is not 
required to undertake by law. The Council will adopt a common sense approach with regards to requests it 
receives for relevant, justifiable and necessary tree works; all requests will be considered individually and 
the circumstances of the request will be balanced against any environmental impacts before a decision is 
made. Where the decision is not to the satisfaction of the customer, the customer has the right to appeal 
against the action or decision, to which the Council will respond in writing. Requests received in the form of 
complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s complaints procedures which can be viewed 
at https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/contact-the-council/complaints-procedure.aspx. 
 
In some situations the Council may agree to third parties/volunteer groups undertaking works to 
trees on its land in order for them to help resolve their own specific issue or as part of a 
management plan, provided that those works do not compromise the structural integrity of the tree 
in question. In such situations all works would need to have prior agreement in writing from the Council 
and all such works would need to be funded by the third party in question. In the first instance such 
requests should be directed to forestry@kirklees.gov.uk or 01484 414700 with a proposal of works and 
justification, and photographs if possible. Details would also need to be provided of the contractor to 
undertake the work including:  
• An up to date copy of their public liability insurance; 
• A copy of qualifications relevant to the work proposed - if climbing two operatives trained for rescue 

and LOLER; if the proposal is a reduction we would need a pruning qualification and if lowering is 
involved we would need lowering qualification; and 

• Risk assessments and method statements for the work. 
 

Work should not take place until written consent is granted in response to the request. Any works 
completed without prior written consent may result in the Council seeking compensation from those 
responsible in the form of remedial work to rectify the damage and/or full replacement cost values as 
calculated by the Capital Asset Valuation of Amenity Trees (CAVAT) methodology. Under this valuation 
system, fines for cutting of a medium-sized tree can amount to approximately £20,000 and a 4 inch branch 
approximately £200 or more.  
 
5.1 Tree touching a building 
 
If a tree that is owned or managed by the Council is touching private property (dwelling, house, garage etc.) 
the Council will take action to remove the nuisance by the most appropriate means.  
 
In many cases the solution will be for the Council to prune the tree, but in some circumstances it may be 
more appropriate to fell the tree. If pruning is appropriate we will endeavour to undertake works to stop the 
problem recurring within three years.  
  
5.2 Tree overhanging property 
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell a tree that is owned or managed by the Council to alleviate the 
nuisance of branches overhanging private property (see section 2).  
 
Non-statutory nuisance caused by overhanging branches may be considered as part of our general tree 
work programme. However, this programme is discretionary and subject to the availability of funding.  
 
5.3 Tree roots and drains  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune, fell or cut the roots of a tree that is owned or managed by the Council to 
prevent roots entering private drains.  

Page 21

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/contact-the-council/complaints-procedure.aspx
mailto:forestry@kirklees.gov.uk


10 
 

 
Tree roots typically enter drains that are already broken or damaged. Trees themselves very rarely break or 
damage the drain in the first place. Tree roots found in a drain are usually symptomatic of an underlying 
problem requiring repair of the broken pipe. If you are concerned about the condition of your drains then 
you are advised to contact your water and sewerage company. Householders are often responsible for the 
maintenance of the drains within or on their property.  
 
5.4 Trees blocking natural light  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell a tree owned or managed by the Council to improve natural light to 
private property unless it is required by a court order to do so.  
 
Where trees growing naturally within the environment are blocking light into a property there is no legal 
“right to light”. The tree owner is not by law obliged or required to carry out work to the tree(s) for the benefit 
of level of light to a third party, unless the third party has brought a successful action through the courts 
demonstrating that a “right to light” exists.  
  
If natural light is being blocked by the growth of a predominantly evergreen hedge then action may be taken 
to reduce the problem under the High Hedges Act, Part 8 of the Antisocial Behaviour Act, 2003.  
 
Further information should be sought through the Council’s Planning department at 
trees.planning@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
5.5 Trees blocking views  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell a tree, or group of trees, owned or managed by the Council to improve 
the view from private property (including properties managed by Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing).  
 
5.6 Leaf fall from trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell a tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce leaf fall 
or remove fallen leaves from private property.  
  
The loss of leaves from trees in the autumn is part of the natural cycle and cannot be avoided by pruning. 
The falling of leaves onto a neighbouring property is not regarded in law as a statutory nuisance. 
 
5.7 Sap from trees 
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell a tree owned or managed by the Council to prevent or reduce 
honeydew or other sticky residue falling onto private property.  
 
Honeydew is caused by greenfly (aphids) feeding on the sap from the leaves and excreting their sugary, 
sticky waste. Unfortunately there is little that can be done to remove the aphid which causes the problem 
and pruning the tree may only offer temporary relief; any re-growth is often more likely to be colonised by 
greenfly, thereby potentially increasing the problem. Some trees, such as Limes, are more prone to attack 
by greenfly and in some years greenfly are more common especially following a mild winter. Honeydew is a 
natural and seasonal problem. Where new trees are planted we try to choose trees that are less likely to 
have this problem. Where honeydew affects cars, warm soapy water will remove the substance, particularly 
if you wash the car as soon as possible.  
 
5.8 Blossom from trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce 
blossom fall from trees or remove fallen blossom from private land.  
 
Tree blossom usually heralds the start of Spring. Blossom is a natural occurrence, which cannot be avoided 
by pruning, and is not regarded in law as a statutory nuisance. 
 

Page 22



11 
 

5.9 Bird droppings from trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce bird 
droppings from the tree, or remove bird droppings from private land or property.  
 
Bird droppings may be a seasonal nuisance but the problem is not considered to be a sufficient reason to 
prune or remove a tree. Nesting birds are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (and other 
related wildlife law). Warm soapy water will usually be sufficient to remove the bird droppings.  
 
5.10 Fruit, berries & nuts from trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce the 
occurrence of fruit, berries or nuts falling onto footways or private land.  
 
Fruit trees such as apple, cherry and pear are welcomed in many locations with the added benefit of 
providing free food. When considering what tree to plant we do take account of the likelihood of such 
problems. Equally, where fruit trees are established but there is a significant anti-social behaviour problem 
caused by the throwing of fruit or nuts we may consider phased removal and replacement with more 
suitable species.   
 
5.11 Wildlife and insects in trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce 
incidence of bees, wasps and other insects or wild animals.  
 
Bees are protected species and advice should be taken before considering their removal. You may be able 
to dispose of individual wasps using an aerosol insect-repellent spray, but this will not control or eliminate 
the nest itself. Ideally the whole nest should be destroyed. This can be achieved with great caution but it is 
far safer to use pest control experts. The Council provides a charged service for removing certain pest 
species. Please telephone Kirklees Direct on 01484 414700 to talk to Environmental Health.  
 
5.12 Satellite, television and other communications reception blocked by trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to enable or ease 
installation or improve reception of satellite or television receivers.  
 
It may be that your satellite or TV provider will be able to suggest an alternative solution to the problem, for 
example relocating the aerial/dish or means to boost the signal. Please note that Kirklees Council will not 
reimburse costs associated with relocating a TV aerial or satellite dish.  
 
5.13 Security cameras/sensors blocked by trees 
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to improve the range or 
vision of security cameras or similar sensor equipment unless requested to do so by an appropriate 
statutory authority, e.g. the Police, on the grounds of public safety. 
 
Security of premises is the responsibility of the owner and any system should be installed in such a way as 
to avoid interference from or with adjoining trees. 
 
5.14 Solar collectors and panels obscured by trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to improve the 
performance of solar water heating collectors or solar panels such as photovoltaic cells.  
 
Whilst the Council appreciates that there is a need to provide renewable energy resources, trees have an 
important role in maintaining and improving local amenity, in addition to contributing to local and national 
targets in tackling climate change. The presence of trees must be fully considered when selecting a 
suitable location for the placement of solar collectors and panels.  

Page 23



12 
 

 
5.15 Telephone wires and trees  
 
Kirklees Council will not fell any tree owned or managed by the Council to remove or reduce interference 
with telephone wires. However, there may be instances where the Council will undertake works to prune 
trees and reduce interference where pruning would be an effective measure.  
 
Your telephone service provider may be able to suggest an alternative solution to the problem. However, 
wires do and can run through trees with little or no effect. Service providers will often install the wires after 
the tree has been planted. 
 
5.16 Tree considered too large  
 
Kirklees Council will not prune or fell any tree owned or managed by the Council because it is considered to 
be 'too big' or 'too tall'.  
 
A tree is not dangerous simply because it may be considered too big for its surroundings. Other problems 
would need to be present, such as those described in earlier sections, in order for the Council to consider it 
to be dangerous. Kirklees Council does not recognise “crown reduction”, “lopping”, “topping” or “pollarding” 
as a general form of management of its trees. Such work can be detrimental to the health and future safety 
of trees and will only be undertaken in exceptional cases. 
 
5.17 Vandalism to trees  
 
Kirklees Council will investigate any reports of vandalism to any tree owned or managed by the Council and 
use enforcement and legal action to bring about the prosecution of offenders.  
 
Vandalism includes wanton damage of newly planted trees and any unauthorised pruning, felling or similar 
work to mature trees. 
 
You are not allowed to remove living material from Council land without consent and unauthorised persons 
are not allowed to use a chainsaw of any type in parks, public open spaces or on other Council land. If you 
see someone who may be removing living material without consent (i.e. a person not associated with a 
relevant sign written vehicle and / or without clothing that clearly identifies who they are) or they are using a 
chainsaw, please telephone Kirklees Direct on 01484 414700. 
 
5.18 Anti-social behaviour and trees  
 
Where any tree owned or managed by the Council is associated with criminal activity or anti-social 
behaviour, measures to reduce the problem will be considered on a site by site basis.  
 
Where a tree is associated with criminal activity and/or anti-social behaviour, steps to reduce the problem 
will typically require the coordination of a number of agencies including the police. Just pruning or felling a 
tree is not always the answer to the problem. Neglected spaces with overgrown trees and untidy areas can, 
on occasion, encourage criminal activity and/or anti-social behaviour and the Council's tree and grounds 
maintenance programme tries to improve these areas by making the local environment cleaner, greener 
and safer.  
 
5.19 Claims of subsidence caused by trees  
 
Kirklees Council will rigorously identify and defend any claims which are presumed to be false.  
 
If you believe that your property is legitimately suffering subsidence damage due to the action of trees 
owned or managed by the Council (or that you are concerned about potential damage) you are advised to 
contact your property insurer (private ownership) or Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing (Council Tenants) in 
the first instance so that you may discuss your concerns and agree an appropriate course of action. Should 
you, or those acting on your behalf, wish to make a claim for damages against the Council, alleging that a 

Page 24



13 
 

Council owned/managed tree is causing subsidence damage, then you will be required to submit an 
independent report to the Council’s Insurance Department.  
 
5.20 Tree swings and tree houses on Council owned land 
  
Kirklees Council recognises the value of all green spaces, including woodland, for adventurous play and 
the vital contribution this makes to children’s physical, mental and emotional well-being and development. 
As such the Council supports the responsible use of its woodlands for such activities and recognises that at 
times this may include the construction of tree swings and tree houses. The guidance below relates to tree 
swings and to tree houses constructed in trees; it does not apply to dens constructed at ground level from 
solely natural collected materials which are considered to be of minimal risk. 
  
Tree swings and tree houses encountered in Council woodlands by officers during the course of their work, 
or reported to the Council by third parties, will be inspected within 3 working days of a report and a risk 
assessment carried out taking account of the following risk factors with reference to guidance in the 
Forestry Commission's publication Rope swings, dens, treehouses and fires (Harrop, 2006): 

-       Location and use  
o   Location within the woodland - proximity to major roads, neighbours etc. 
o   Evidence of antisocial behaviour  
o   Fall height  
o   Hard/sharp objects in the fall/swing zone 
o   Water bodies within the immediate vicinity 

-       Construction  
o   Strength of rope used for swings and quality of knots  
o   Strength of tree branches used to support the structure 
o   Hazardous materials and tools that may have been brought in for construction  
o   Possibility of collapse 
o   Associated excavations 

  
If considered dangerous or inappropriate they will be removed within one working day of this decision being 
made. Structures will only be left in situ if they are considered to pose an acceptable level of risk until the 
next scheduled inspection of that area in the forestry team’s tree inspection programme, as the Council is 
not able to allocate additional resources to more frequent monitoring of such items. Any decisions made will 
be documented in the Council’s tree management software, Ezytreev.  
 
6. Trees Affecting the Public Highway 
 
6.1 Tree obstructing the highway 
 
Kirklees Council will undertake work to trees owned or managed by the Council to maintain a minimum 5.2 
metres height clearance over the carriageway (associated with a street, road or highway) or at a height 
deemed suitable by the Highway Authority for the road conditions. 
 
If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to a road, powers exist under the Highways Act to make 
the owner of the tree remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council could enforce this work and 
recharge the owner.  
 
6.2 Pavement obstructed or damaged by tree  
 
Kirklees Council will undertake work to trees owned or managed by the Council to maintain a minimum 2.5 
metres height clearance over a pavement associated with a street, road or highway, and 3 metres where 
there are cycling rights, as per statutory requirements. Any works necessary to prevent an obstruction to 
the width of a pavement associated with the highway due to the presence of a Council owned tree will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. Where a pavement is deformed or damaged owing to a tree or trees 
the preferred course of action will be remedial works to the pavement to enable the tree(s) to be retained, 
unless the tree needs to be removed owing to age or condition. 
 

Page 25



14 
 

If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to a footpath associated with the highway, powers exist 
under the Highways Act to make the owner of the tree remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council 
will do this work and recharge the owner. The majority of trees alongside public rights of way (PROW) will 
be on private land; where there is a bridleway the clearance required is 4m.  
 
6.3 Line of sight obscured by trees  
 
Kirklees Council will undertake work to trees owned or managed by the Council to maintain clear lines of 
sight for traffic and pedestrians at junctions and access points (associated with a street, road or highway).  
 
Standards for visibility vary according to the class of the road and the speed limit in force. If a privately 
owned tree is causing an obstruction to visibility at a road junction (sight line), powers exist under the 
Highways Act to make the owner of the tree remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council may 
undertake this work and may subsequently recharge the owner of the tree.  
 
The shoots that grow from the base of some trees in Council ownership such as lime trees are removed as 
part of our tree maintenance programme. The removal of basal shoots for aesthetic reasons is done as and 
when funds allow or when it is necessary to inspect the base of a tree.  
 
6.4 Signal and signage obscured by trees  
 
Kirklees Council will undertake work to trees owned or managed by the Council to maintain clear lines of 
sight for traffic signals and street signage (associated with a street, road or highway).  
 
A tree should not obstruct the vision of an approaching driver. If a privately owned tree is causing an 
obstruction to a traffic signal or street sign, powers exist under the Highways Act to make the owner 
remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council will do the work and recharge the owner.  
 
6.5 Street light obscured by trees  
  
Kirklees Council will undertake work to trees owned or managed by the Council to ensure that street lights 
are not substantially blocked by the presence of trees.  
 
If a privately owned tree is causing an obstruction to street light, powers exist under the Highways Act to 
make them remove the obstruction. If they do not, the Council will do the work and recharge the owner.  
 
7. Woodland Management 
 
Kirklees Council owns a significant area – approximately 600 hectares - of woodland estate that comprises 
ancient woodland, designated local nature reserves and newly planted woodlands.  
 
This woodland provides a number of extremely important functions for the local area including helping to 
absorb carbon dioxide from the atmosphere as well as reduce the harmful effects of climate change, 
providing habitats for a wide range of wildlife, providing venues for exercise and recreation and as places 
where local groups and the general public can engage with the natural environment. As a result the priority 
for the sustainable management of our woodlands is for their environmental and social benefits rather than 
purely commercial gains.  
 
To help us achieve sustainable management of our woodlands we will follow specific woodland 
management guidance provided by The UK Forestry Standard and where applicable follow other 
guidance and best practice recommendations from other nature conservation organisations. 
 
UK Forestry Standard: https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/the-uk-forestry-standard/  
 
Following this guidance will ensure that we both meet legal requirements and adhere to good forestry 
practice, encompassing the following elements: biodiversity, climate change, historic landscape, people, 
soil and water. 
 

Page 26

https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/research/the-uk-forestry-standard/


15 
 

In addition we will ensure our work adheres to both our local biodiversity action plan and the UK Post-2010 
Biodiversity Framework, ensuring that priority species and habitats are protected in Kirklees. 
 
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/policies-and-strategies.aspx 
 
 
 

Page 27

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/policies-and-strategies.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



Kirklees Council  
Tree Risk Management Framework 

1. Introduction 
The risk of being struck and killed by a tree or branch falling is extremely low, in the order of one in 10 
million for those trees in or adjacent to areas of high public use. The Health and Safety Executive 
(HSE) views this level of risk as “broadly acceptable” but states, however, that this is a general guide 
and not a definitive statement of what is reasonably practicable in law.  
 
As the owner and manager of trees Kirklees Council owes a duty of care to persons and property who 
may suffer harm caused by their failure in line with the following legislation: 

• The Health & Safety at Work Act (etc) 1974 
• Occupiers Liability Acts 1957 and 1984 
• The Management of Health & Safety Regulations 1999 

As such the Council, as a reasonable and prudent landowner, has a responsibility to have a risk 
management framework in place which considers the risks posed by its trees, which balances the risks 
against the many benefits provided by its trees and woodlands, and which allows it to take actions 
which are proportionate to the risk and are reasonably practicable.  
 
The risk management framework set out in this document includes a system of inspection for its trees 
which will enable the Council to have a better understanding of whether or not they pose a foreseeable 
hazard. In line with guidance from the HSE and the National Tree Safety Group (NTSG) this system 
will include consideration of the risks to which people and property may be exposed in deciding what 
level of inspection or examination is reasonable in each situation. The inspection system will also 
enable the Council to minimise any interruption of sightlines on highways which could result in damage 
to vehicles and persons and to proactively plan for tree replacement. 

 
This document forms part of Kirklees’ Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy and 
should also be read in conjunction with Kirklees Council Tree Works on Council Owned Trees: 
Guidance Document. 

 
2. Aims 
This document aims to assist Kirklees Council in exercising its duty of care to both its employees and 
the public with regard to the safety of trees, and proactively manages risk to its land and property, by 
maintaining a system of tree inspection and remedial works that is in line with its Council Owned Tree 
and Woodland Management Policy as well as with current nationally accepted standards and industry 
best practice.  
 
The system described in this document includes four components: 

• “zoning” of sites or trees in order to enable prioritisation of routine tree inspections; 
• scheduled (routine) inspections for trees at a frequency determined by their zone;  
• unscheduled (reactive) inspections for trees reported to be of concern in both emergency and 

non-emergency situations; and 
• a system for identifying and prioritising required remedial works according to the inspector’s 

assessment of a tree. 
 

3. Scope 
In line with the Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy this document concerns trees 
in the following locations which are managed by the Greenspace Department: 

• Highway verges  
• Council tenancy housing sites 
• Cemeteries and churchyards 

Page 29



• Car parks 
• Parks and open spaces 
• Woodlands 
• Land vested with the corporate landlord (PRP) 
• The boundaries of council owned/managed buildings 

 
4. Site Categorisation (Zoning) and Scheduled (Routine) Inspections 
In line with HSE and NTSG guidance trees will be categorised into a number of “zones” for the 
purposes of prioritising inspections according to the following dimensions of tree related risk: 

• the likelihood of failure of the tree or part of the tree (e.g. presence of known structural faults); 
• the value of the targets (persons, property etc.) present and frequency of presence within falling 

distance; and 
• the severity of impact should failure occur (e.g. size of tree or part that fails). 

 
Trees and groups of trees will be assigned one of four zones with an associated inspection frequency 
varying from 18 months to never. The minimum inspection frequencies allow for trees to be inspected 
in different seasons to allow a better assessment of tree health. Zones will be assigned by the relevant 
Service in conjunction with the forestry team and recorded in the Council’s tree management software, 
Ezytreev. 

 

 Zone Examples of trees/tree groups in zone Minimum 
inspection 
frequency 

1 • All trees within falling distance of arterial or main roads (unless other 
factors such as tree size mean the trees should be in zone 2, 3 or 4). 

• All trees in places where there is frequent public access e.g. in and 
around picnic areas, children’s playgrounds, popular footpaths, other 
high use areas in parks/recreation grounds, car parks, communal areas 
within cemeteries (unless other factors such as tree size mean the 
trees should be in zone 2, 3 or 4, or inspected on a bespoke 
frequency). 

• Trees in places where failure would cause damage to high-value 
property (unless other factors such as tree size mean the trees should 
be in zone 2, 3 or 4). 

• Trees with known structural faults where a decision has been made to 
retain the tree in question due to its importance for habitat, landscape, 
cultural or amenity reasons. 

• Tree species or groups of trees affected by known pests or diseases 
which would otherwise fall into zone 2. 

18 months 

2 • Normal use parks and open spaces, normal use woodland paths, trees 
beside private gardens (unless other factors such as tree size mean the 
trees should be in zone 3 or 4). 

• All trees within falling distance of secondary residential roads (unless 
other factors such as tree size mean the trees should be in zone 3 or 
4). 

• Tree species or groups of trees affected by known pests or diseases 
which would otherwise fall into zone 3. 

3 years  

3 • Trees within low usage areas (unless other factors such as tree size 
mean the trees should be in a higher or lower zone). 

5 years 

4 • Trees in sites with no public access.  
• All young trees, generally below 5 m high and planted in the last 10 

years. 

No routine 
inspection 

 

The recommended inspection frequencies detailed above provide a guideline for the initial cycle of 
inspections. Inspectors may recommend adjustments to the inspection frequency for a tree or group of 
trees on completion of each inspection allowing fine-tuning of the categorisation process. In some Page 30



circumstances inspections may be recommended on a much more frequent basis than every 18 
months, in particular in the case of trees with known defects where a decision has been made to retain 
them due to their importance for habitat, landscape, cultural or amenity reasons. 
 
5. Unscheduled (Reactive) Inspections and Emergency Procedures 
Inspections of individual or groups of trees within sites may be necessary outside of the scheduled 
inspection system following enquiries from the public, ward members or other officers and may occur in 
both emergency and non-emergency situations. Staff working on the ground on sites, such as 
gardeners on parks sites and housing officers on KNH sites, will be given basic guidance on identifying 
tree related problems as part of their day-to-day work and will be instructed to report any concerns to 
the forestry team in Greenspace. Similar guidance will also be available to the public as part of the 
document Kirklees Council Tree Works on Council Owned Trees: Guidance Document, Section 4. 

Once a report is received by the forestry team it will be recorded in the Ezytreev system and scheduled 
for an inspection as soon as this is deemed necessary and practicable. The subsequent inspection and 
any works required will be dealt with in accordance with the standard procedures set out in the 
remainder of this document.  

Out of normal office hours (Mon-Fri 9am-5pm) all tree related emergencies should be reported to the 
out of hours team on 01484 225664. An inspection will take place as soon as is reasonably practicable 
and, if required work cannot be completed immediately areas at risk such as roads, footpaths, or areas 
of parks or other green spaces will be cordoned off until resources are available. Where emergency 
situations are reported, inspections and works relating to these situations will take priority over 
scheduled inspections and tree works. Where necessary to prevent harm or damage to persons or 
property the forestry team will notify the emergency services and any relevant statutory bodies or utility 
companies (Yorkshire Water, United Utilities, Environment Agency, Network Rail etc.) affected by the 
situation. All details of the inspection and works undertaken will be recorded in the Ezytreev system. 
 
6. Inspection Practice  
All inspections will be undertaken by trained and experienced staff who hold a recognised 
award/certificate such as the Professional Tree Inspection award, National Certificate or Diploma in 
Arboriculture or have equivalent professional experience. Best practice will be maintained through 
training and other ongoing continual professional development. All tree inspectors will have access to a 
range of professional diagnostic tools as follows:  

• an inspection toolkit that includes: nylon hammer; binoculars; compass; VTA field guide; probe; 
knife & hand lens; 

• access to a digital camera; and 
• a tablet computer with tree management software (Ezytreev). 

 
Initial inspections may be undertaken on foot or in a vehicle with the aim of assessing the general 
condition and level of risk within an area of trees whilst identifying obvious hazards that exist. In the 
context of these inspections a defect is defined as a structural, health or environmental condition that 
could predispose a tree to failure. Such inspections will comprise a general assessment of the tree 
cover within the area from ground level, generally by passing along existing footpaths or access routes, 
or along the perimeter of the site where it is accessible. Any trees requiring works will be recorded and 
any trees exhibiting signs of decline, disease or structural instability will be subject to a closer visual 
assessment. If no external signs of decay, structural weakness or unexplained adaptive growth are 
evident during this process then no further action will be taken.  
 
Trees that appear to present no unreasonable hazard during their inspection will, under normal 
circumstances, not be documented in terms of their condition. Any omission from the record therefore 
implies that their hazard level is considered negligible. Trees that are considered to pose an 
unreasonable hazard and therefore requiring remedial works, or those requiring further investigation, 
will be documented in Ezytreev. All remedial works recorded in the Ezytreev system will be actioned 
according to the procedures set out in section 7. 
 

Page 31



In cases where potential defects are suspected but the inspector feels that further investigation is 
required before making a decision on the required action, details of the tree will be placed on Ezytreev 
and recommended for further monitoring which could include: 

• re-inspecting the tree at a later date, such as during a different season; 
• carrying out an climbing inspection;  
• asking for a second opinion from another member of the forestry team. 

Any further investigations undertaken will be recorded in Ezytreev. 
 

7. Remedial Works 
Remedial works identified through either scheduled or unscheduled inspections will be allocated a 
priority level and a target response time according to the inspector’s assessment of risk in line with the 
dimensions of risk set out in section 4 above. Target response times apply from the point at which the 
forestry team have inspected the tree. 

Work requirement Priority level and target response time* 
Urgent Urgent (within 3 working days) 
Essential Priority (within 10 working days) 

Standard (within 8 weeks where practicable) 
Desirable Low priority (as and when practicable) 
None No works planned 

*Please note that these are target response times only and timescales may need to be extended in the 
event of unforeseen events such as major storms. 

All works will be completed by qualified arboriculture staff within the forestry team or by external 
suitably qualified contractors managed by the forestry team. All tree work will be carried out in line with 
current British Standards, namely BS 3998:2010 [Tree work - Recommendations], or any subsequent 
amendments to that document.   
 
8. Recording and Data Storage 
Records will be made and retained of all inspections undertaken using the Council’s password-
protected tree management software system, Ezytreev. These records will include the following 
information: 

• Date of inspection 
• Name of inspector 
• Site details including clear information on hazards detected 
• Details of trees including species and condition 
• Recommendations 
• Previous tree work undertaken 
• Details of enquiries or complaints relating to trees on the site 

 
Personal data will be stored in line with the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). Such data 
will be stored securely, accuracy will be maintained, and it will only be retained as long as it is relevant.  

 
A failure log will be maintained as part of the system. Events such as tree failures will be recorded as 
soon as practicable after they occur. Such information is important for identifying the cause of the 
failure and can help in prevention of similar incidents in future. The log will be updated after all storm 
occurrences and other events such as one off failures or incidents involving trees.  

 
9. Monitoring and Review 
This document will be subject to a biennial review and update from Greenspace. The review will 
include: 
• Checks to ensure that the practice is in line with the Framework 
• A review of resource issues 
• Existing strengths and weaknesses of the Framework and recommended alterations 

 
Key References  Page 32



Hazards from Trees: A General Guide (The Forestry Commission, 2000) 
Common Sense Risk Management of Trees (National Tree Safety Group/The Forestry Commission, 
2011) 
Management of the Risk from Falling Trees Or Branches (Health And Safety Executive, 2013) 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:    28 July 2020    
Title of report:  Major Transport - Major Scheme Approvals and Update 
  
Purpose of report:  
 
To seek authority for the Council to proceed with three infrastructure Scheme as part of the Major Infrastructure 
Scheme Programme and to report progress made to date on our Major Infrastructure Scheme Programme.  
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

Yes 
 
If yes give the reason why  
 
Spending will exceed £250k and scheme boundaries 
will affect many wards 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix - No 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 
  
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Karl Battersby - 10.07.20 
 
Eamonn Croston - 15.07.20 
 
 
Julie Muscroft - 14.07.20 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Peter McBride 
Strategic Planning Regeneration and Transport 
 
Cllr Naheed Mather 
Strategic Housing, Regeneration and 
Enforcement  

 
Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted:   
 
The A62 Smart Corridor Scheme – Dalton 
 
The Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme - Newsome 
 
Cross Church Street Scheme - Newsome 
 
Public or private:    Public    
 
Has GDPR been considered?  Yes - GDPR does not apply    

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


Page 2 of the report 
 
1. SUMMARY 

 
1.1 Authority is sought for the Council to carry out the following major infrastructure Schemes as 

part of the Council’s Major Infrastructure Scheme Programme in line with specific 
recommendations in Section 6 

 
(a)      A62 Smart Corridor Scheme 

 
(b)      Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme 

 
(c)      Cross Church Street Scheme 

 
2. INFORMATION REQUIRED TO TAKE A DECISION 
 

2.1 In July 2014, Kirklees, together with the WY Combined Authority, the other four WY district 
councils and York, created a government funded West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund to 
provide much needed major investment in transport to create an environment where 
economic growth can occur.  The West Yorkshire Combined Authority secured £1bn of 
funding spread over 15 years. 
 

2.2 For its part Kirklees continues to develop several complex multi-faceted transport schemes 
which at their core include public transport, cycling, walking initiatives.  

 
2.3 All schemes must pass through an agreed Assurance Process. The Assurance Process 

(Appendix 1) is administered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) Portfolio 
Management Office. 

 
2.4 In Kirklees schemes are managed at both Project and Programme Board level.  Project 

scope, scheduling, resource management, budgets and risk are managed throughout. 
Scheme Highlight Reports are produced on a monthly basis with any necessary decisions, by 
exception, being escalated to the Strategic Director, Karl Battersby. 

 
2.5 To date Cabinet has received several previous reports which relate to the West Yorkshire 

plus Transport Fund / Major Infrastructure Scheme Programme. 
 
2.6 On 9th February 2016 Cabinet approved the ‘West Yorkshire Transport Fund – Scheme 

Principles’ report which highlighted several key highway design principles that could be used 
as a basis for the design and development of the Kirklees WY+TF schemes, these were 
 

• Balancing strategic needs against local concerns 
• Creating “Gateways” for our main town and urban centres 
• The acquisition/appropriation of land for highway purposes 
• The future use and management of the road-space of our key transport corridors; and 
• The environmental and economic benefits of greening up our key transport corridors 

(Green Streets). 
 

2.7 On 22nd August 2017 Cabinet agreed to underwrite land acquisition costs until finance is 
subsequently secured from WY+TF and costs reimbursed. Because of this decision a 
rolling ‘WY+TF Land Acquisition Fund’ has been set up in the Council’s Capital Plan. 

  
2.8 On 17th December 2017 Cabinet received a scheme update together with an introduction to 

the Assurance Process (administered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority) which all 
WY+TF schemes must follow. 

 
2.9 On 13th November 2018 Cabinet received a further scheme update. 
 

 

Page 36



2.10 The Council declared a ‘climate emergency’ in January 2019 and subsequently set an 
ambitious ‘net zero’ carbon emissions target of 2038. These schemes will all contribute to 
improved environmental outcomes as follows 

 
a. A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor – improving a longstanding area of congestion to 

improve traffic flow and delivering a ‘grey to green’ transformation by incorporating 
multi-functional green infrastructure improvements into the scheme design. 

b. Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme – providing a safe, direct an 
attractive link between Huddersfield Bus and Rail station to improve connectivity for 
public transport users and help incentivise others to make more use of public 
transport. 

c. Cross Church Street –a new pedestrian and cycle zone to create a safer, more 
pleasant environment for users of the town centre” 

 
2.11 Scheme Updates  
 

A. A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor - Huddersfield (Corridor Improvement 
Package) CIP Phase 1 
 
Budget £8,205,814 

 
£7.352 million - West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (West Yorkshire Plus 
Transport Fund, administered by WYCA) 
 
PLUS 
 
£853,660 - European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) 
 
 

Total received 
to date 

£855,000 

Assurance 
Process – 
Activity Stage
  

4 
 

 
i. Phase 1 of the corridor improvements starts at the junction of Huddersfield 

Ring Road / Southgate / Northumberland Street and ends at the junction of 
A62 / Old Fieldhouse Lane, a corridor length of approximately 2km. 
 

ii. The scheme will involve large scale modifications to the following junctions 
 

• Huddersfield Ring Road / Southgate / Northumberland Street. 
• Leeds Road / Lower Fitzwilliam Street / Gasworks Street. 
• Leeds Road / Bradley Mill Road / Barr Street. 
• Leeds Road / Thistle Street / Hillhouse Lane; and 
• Leeds Road / Old Fieldhouse Lane. 

 
iii. The scheme can be viewed online at www.kirklees.gov.uk/majorschemes 

 
iv. The scheme provides additional corridor vehicular capacity whilst also 

including improvements to both facilitate and encourage increased use by 
cyclists, public transport users and pedestrian users. 

 
v. The Scheme provides for nearly one hectare of new landscaping. It 

includes a comprehensive tree planting / landscape scheme, which 
includes “bee friendly” plants to encourage wildlife. This work is part of the Page 37

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/majorschemes


“Grey to Green Corridor”, funded by ERDF and incorporated into our 
highway scheme proposals. It’s aim is to remove areas of tarmac (grey) 
and replace with tree planting/ landscaping (green).  
 

vi. Public consultation of our proposals took place in November 2018. Our 
proposals were then exhibited at the Hudawi Centre in Huddersfield on 10 
March 2020, with a longer non-staffed display held at Huddersfield Central 
Library. A total of 11 people attended the staffed exhibition. No negative 
comments were received.  
 

vii. A full planning application is to be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority in September 2020. The application seeks permission for an 
additional access into Northern Retail Park as shown on plan 
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/pdf/A62-
leeds-road-proposed-changes.pdf 

 
viii. In order to facilitate the revised layout at the junction of Leeds Road / 

Lower Fitzwilliam Street / Gasworks Street, there will need to be an 
exchange of land between the Council and the owners of the Northern 
Retail Park. The owner of the Northern Retail Park has indicated that they 
are in principle in agreement with such a land exchange. The Council’s 
Strategic Assets are therefore now instructed to negotiate and agree the 
terms of the land exchange.   

 
ix. Any pre-commencement planning conditions will need to be discharged for 

works to start on site. 
 

x. Construction of the scheme is due to start in February 2021 if planning 
permission is granted, and the Council receives grant funding from the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority. WYCA. The scheme will be delivered 
by the Council’s Highways Construction service.  
 

B.  Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme 
 
Budget £1.885m 

 
£1.550m (Department of Transport 
Transforming Cities Fund Early Wins 
Fund, administered by WYCA) 
 
Plus 
 
£0.335m (Kirklees Council - Town Centre 
Action Fund) 
 

Total received 
to date 

£0 

Assurance 
Process – 
Activity Stage
   

5 
 

 
 

i. Delivery of the scheme which will lead to improved connectivity for 
pedestrians, cyclists and bus/rail users, including vulnerable users, by 
providing a safe, and attractive walking link between Huddersfield Bus and 
Rail Stations, together with a reduction in road traffic and congestion. 
 

ii. The scheme can be viewed online at www.kirklees.gov.uk/majorschemes Page 38

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/pdf/A62-leeds-road-proposed-changes.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/pdf/A62-leeds-road-proposed-changes.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/majorschemes


 
iii. Consultation for Huddersfield Better Connected Stations scheme took 

place between 4th and 29th November 2019.  During the consultation, the 
following activities were undertaken 

 
• Proposals published on Your Voice online platform and promoted through 

social media 
• Residents, frontages and local businesses contacted via letter drop, 

advised of the proposals and on ways they can gain further information 
and comment on the schemes 

• Three drop-in events held at Huddersfield Bus and Rail Stations together 
with a display of the proposals 

• Questionnaires were handed out/completed at the events, as well as 
available online 

 
iv. The public consultation results were positive (by a significant majority) to 

the scheme as a whole and to each individual proposal shown on the 
consultation design plan and outlined in the consultation material. 
 

• 71.4% of all responses were supportive of the set of general measures 
being proposed 

• 66.6% of all responses, on average, were supportive of specific measures 
being proposed and there was each individual specific measure received a 
majority support 

• 69.5% of the respondents agreed that the scheme would provide the listed 
benefits. 

 
v. Delivery on the scheme is due to commence in August 2020. The scheme 

will be delivered by the Council’s Highways Construction service.  
 
 

C.  Cross Church Street, Huddersfield Scheme 
 
 
Budget £2,089,835 

 
£1,290,925 - West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (CityConnect - Department for 
Transport’s Cycle City Ambition Grant, 
administered by WYCA) 
 
Plus 
  
£798,910 - Kirklees Council (Town Centre 
Action Fund) 
 

Total received 
to date 

£180,000 

Assurance 
Process – 
Activity Stage
  

3 
 

 
 

i. Plans for improvements to Cross Church Street and Queen Street have 
been developed to enhance the town centres public space. Queen Street 
and King Street will see a new Pedestrian and Cycle Zone between the 
Lawrence Batley Theatre and Zetland Street prohibiting all motor vehicles Page 39



except for permit holders, and for loading between 6am and 10am and 
between 4pm and 8pm. 
 

ii. Cross Church Street will see a new Pedestrian and Cycle Zone between 
the Kingsgate Shopping Centre entrance and Kirkgate prohibiting all motor 
vehicles except for loading between 6am and 10am and between 4pm and 
8pm. 
 

iii. These streets will allow cyclists to travel in both directions but the existing 
one-way arrangements for motor vehicles will remain.  
 

iv. The scheme can be viewed online at 
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/cross-
church-street-queen-street-and-queensgate.aspx 

 
v. Cross Church Street is one of the key objectives of the Huddersfield 

Blueprint.  Cross Church Street supports the Blueprint by improving access 
to the new Cultural Heart, Kingsgate Shopping Centre and surrounding 
areas, through a focus on pedestrians and cyclists.  

 
vi. Stakeholder responses from business owners and campaign/user groups 

commended the aims and aspirations of the plans to create more pleasant 
environments within the town centre, and improved infrastructure for 
pedestrians and cyclists. Business owners raised concerns about the 
vehicle access restrictions and the impact this would have on their viability 
due to disruptions for deliveries, customers and staff parking. These issues 
have been addressed in further individual enjoyment and consultation with 
businesses, and the scheme has been developed further to accommodate 
many of these concerns. Respondents who use bicycle as a transport 
mode did not see Cross Church Street as a cyclist thoroughfare, 
pedestrians rated their user experience as poor citing its appearance and 
condition amongst its deterrents.  

 
vii. The scheme is due to commence on site in August 2020. As the start date 

on site will be made before WYCA approval initial funding will be provided 
from the Town Centre Action Fund. 

 
viii. The scheme will be delivered by the Council’s Highways Construction 

service.  
 

3. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL 
 
Working with People 
 

3.1 One or more scheme specific public consultations have been held. For each scheme the Cabinet 
Portfolio, Ward Members and Key Stakeholders were consulted. 
 

3.2 Comments received during the consultation have resulted in amendments being made to the 
scheme layouts to addresses some of the issues and concerns raised. 
 
Working with Partners 
 

3.3 The programme of major projects is being delivered in close partnership with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority and others mentioned, specifically in this report. 
 
Place Based Working 
 

3.4 Our plans for Cross Church Street will make the most of the existing asset whilst seeking 
enhancement for the benefit of all. The quality of the built environment will be improved. The 
needs of businesses, shoppers and the travelling public have been considered in the Page 40

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/cross-church-street-queen-street-and-queensgate.aspx
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/transport-roads-and-parking/cross-church-street-queen-street-and-queensgate.aspx


development of the scheme. The scheme prioritises people in an area where pedestrian volume 
is high and commercial activity is important.  Vehicular traffic will be restricted whilst improving 
sustainable transport provision (increased cycling, walking and public transport patronage).  
 
Climate Change and Air Quality 
 

3.5 An objective of each of the projects is to improve air quality and have a positive impact on the 
environment. The A62 Smart Corridor, Better Connected Stations and Cross Church Street all 
include soft landscaping and planting. A reduction in congestion levels which will help improve air 
quality as will the emphasis on the use of sustainable transport. The A62 scheme includes close 
to one hectare of new landscaped area. 
 

3.6 Poor air quality is a significant public health issue and poor environmental conditions have been 
created due to the high volumes of traffic and levels of congestion along the A62 corridor. In this 
respect, an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) has been declared in Huddersfield Town 
Centre, the extent of which reaches the ASCP through its boundary at Old Leeds Road. 
 

3.7 The A62 scheme has the potential to have a two-fold beneficial impact on the environment – 
firstly the reduction in congestion and improvements to journey reliability would reduce the 
frequent stopping, idling and acceleration that generate the highest levels of emissions. 
Secondly, the provision of the Green Infrastructure and landscaping features across the three 
schemes will also help with natural air cooling, collecting nitrogen oxides and the absorption of 
carbon dioxide.  
 
Improving outcomes for children 
 

3.8 None 
 
Financial 
 
A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor - Huddersfield (Corridor Improvement Package) CIP 
Phase 1 
 

3.9 The outturn costs are £8,205,814 and an application has been made to the WYCA for £7.532m 
from the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund and which is due to be determined by WYCA later 
this year. 
 

3.10 In addition, £853,660 of European Regional Development funding was granted in March 2019. 
 

3.11 The Final Business Case (FBC - Activity 4) was approved by Investment Committee on 
20/5/2020. Development of the scheme is now working towards Activity 5 (Full Business Case 
plus Costs) which determines the actual cost to get it built. 
 

3.12 Formal approval of our FBC has released £1.599m of funding to progress the project to Full 
Business Case plus Costs (Activity 5). 
 

3.13 In accordance with the Assurance Process a Grant Funding Agreement has now been agreed 
between the CA and Kirklees Council for the £1.599m. In accordance with the Governance 
Process approval to accept this grant will be sought from the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure. 
 
Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme 

 
3.14 The Final Business Case + Costs was submitted to the Combined Authority in April 2020 and 

approved by Ben Still, Combined Authority Managing Director on the 19th June 2020. 
 

3.15 This approval allowed for the ‘Better Connected Stations’ project to proceed through Decision 
point 5 and for work to commence on Activity 6 (Delivery). 
 

3.16 The Combined Authority’s contribution of £1.550 million has been secured. The total project value 
is £1.885 million. The Combined Authority will now enter into a Funding Agreement with Kirklees Page 41



Council for expenditure of up to £1.550. In accordance with the Governance Process approval to 
accept this grant will be sought from the Chief Finance Officer and the Strategic Director 
Economy and Infrastructure. 
 

3.17 Kirklees Council are contributing £0.335m to the overall scheme budget from the Town Centre 
Action Fund. 
 
Cross Church Street, Huddersfield Scheme 

 
3.18 The Outline Business Case (Activity 3) was submitted to the Combined Authority in April 2020 

and approved by the Combined Authority on 25 June 2020. 
 

3.19 This Decision Point Approval allowed for the ‘Cross Church Street’ project to proceed directly 
through to Activity Point 5 in order to hasten delivery. 
 

3.20 Formal approval of our OBC has released additional funding to progress the project to Full 
Business Case plus Costs (Activity 5). In accordance with the Governance Process approval to 
accept this grant will be sought from the Chief Finance Officer and the Strategic Director 
Economy and Infrastructure. 
 

3.21 The Final Business Case plus Costs is due to be submitted to the Combined Authority in October 
2020. 
 

     Legal  
 

3.22 The Council has the statutory power to carry out these Schemes under the Highways Act 1980. 
 

3.23 The Council has the statutory power to enter into grant agreements with the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority. 
 

3.24 The Council has the statutory power to acquire land for Highway purposes and to dispose of land 
to the owner of the Great Northern Retail Park as part of the land swap.  
 

4. CONSULTEES AND THEIR OPINIONS 
 

4.1 All three schemes have been consulted with people about the proposals and recommendations. 
 
A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor - Huddersfield (Corridor Improvement Package) CIP 
Phase 1 
 

4.2 Throughout the process of developing A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor - Huddersfield (Corridor 
Improvement Package) CIP Phase 1 Cllr Peter McBride (Regeneration), Cllr Naheed Mather 
(Greener Kirklees) have been briefed. The lead members have been supportive of the objectives 
and design iterations throughout the development process. 
 

4.3 The ward members for Dalton Ward (Cllr Musarrat Khan, Cllr Naheed Mather and Cllr Peter 
McBride) in which the scheme falls have been briefed prior to and following public consultation.  
No comments were received. 
 
Huddersfield Better Connected Stations 
 

4.4 Significant dialogue has taken place with business users including Hackney Carriages. Cllr 
Mohan Sokhal led the discussion with trade representatives, as a result changes were made to 
scheme layouts. 
 

4.5 Throughout the process of developing the Huddersfield Better Connected Stations scheme, the 
three relevant lead members/Portfolio Holders have been briefed, being Cllr Peter McBride 
(Regeneration), Cllr Naheed Mather (Greener Kirklees) and Cllr Rob Walker (Culture & 
Environment).  The lead members have been supportive of the objectives and design iterations 
throughout the development process. 
 Page 42



4.6 The ward members for Newsome Ward (Cllr Karen Allison, Cllr Andrew Cooper, Cllr Susan Lee-
Richards) in which the scheme falls have been briefed prior to and following public 
consultation.  No comments were received. 
 
Cross Church Street, Huddersfield Scheme 
 

4.7 Throughout the process of developing the Huddersfield Better Connected Stations scheme, the 
three relevant lead members/Portfolio Holders have been briefed, being Cllr Peter McBride 
(Regeneration), Cllr Naheed Mather (Greener Kirklees) and Cllr Rob Walker (Culture & 
Environment).  The lead members have been supportive of the objectives and design iterations 
throughout the development process. 
 

4.8 The ward members for Newsome Ward (Cllr Karen Allison, Cllr Andrew Cooper, Cllr Susan Lee-
Richards) in which the scheme falls have been briefed prior to and following public 
consultation.  No comments were received. 
 

4.9 Legal, Finance and Human Resources have been consulted. 
 

5. NEXT STEPS 
 
A62 Smart Corridor 
 

5.1 Submit planning application in respect of land at Northern Retail Park September 2020. 
5.2 Submit Full Business Case plus Costs (FBC+) to WYCA for approval in October 2020. 
5.3 Subject to FBC+ approval and the grant of planning permission, on site construction to 

commence in February 2021. 
Better Connected Stations 

5.4 On site construction to commence in August 2020. 
Cross Church Street 

5.5 On site construction to commence in August 2020. 
 

5.6 It will be necessary for the Council to make in due course Traffic Regulation Orders) (TROs) to 
enable each scheme to proceed. For TROs to be made it will be necessary for the Council to 
carry out statutory consultations. Under the Council scheme of delegations, Karl Battersby 
Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure has the authority for TROs to be made. Subject to 
there being any unresolved objections it will be necessary for Cabinet to consider these 
objections to consider as to whether the relevant order should be made.   

 
6. OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS AND REASONS 

 
A62 Leeds Road Smart Corridor - Huddersfield (Corridor Improvement Package) CIP 
Phase 1 

 
Officers recommend that Cabinet 
 
6.1 Approves the Council applying for planning permission for the A62 Smart Corridor Scheme. 
 
6.2 Authorises the Council to accept and enter into any agreement with the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority for the funding of the A62 Smart Corridor Scheme. 
 

6.3 Approves the acquisition from the owner of the Great Northern Retail Park of the parcels of land 
that are required in order to be able to deliver the A62 Smart Corridor Scheme and the disposal 
of the parcels of land to the owner of the  Great Northern Retail Park in exchange. 
 

6.4 Approves the carrying out and implementation of the A62 Smart Corridor Scheme as long as the 
Council’s application to the local planning authority for planning permission is granted, the 
Council’s application to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for funding of £7.352m for the 

Page 43



Scheme is successful and the necessary land is acquired from the owner of the Great Northern 
Retail Park. 
 

6.5 Delegates to the Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure the authority to negotiate and 
agree the terms of any agreements that may necessary to carry out the A62 Smart Corridors 
Scheme including the terms of funding agreement referred to in paragraph 6.2 and the land 
acquisition and disposal referred to in paragraph 6.3. 
 

6.6 Delegates authority to the Service Director – Legal Governance & Commissioning to enter into 
any transfer of land in relation to the exchange with the owner of Great Northern Retail Park, 
grant agreement with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the funding of the A62 Smart 
Corridor Scheme and any other relevant agreements and documents to which the Council is 
party. 
 

Officers make these recommendations in respect of the A62 Smart Corridor scheme because the 
Scheme when completed will lead to improved journey times, reduction congestion and promote greener 
forms of travel.  
 
Huddersfield Better Connected Stations  
 
Officers recommend that Cabinet 
 
6.7 Authorises the Council to accept and enter into any agreement with the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority for the funding of the Huddersfield Better Connected Stations Scheme. 
 

6.8 Approve the inclusion of Huddersfield Better Connected Stations with a budget provision of 
£1.885m into the Kirklees Capital Plan. 
 

6.9 Approves the carrying out and implementation of the Huddersfield Better Connected Stations 
Scheme. 

 
6.10 Delegates to the Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure the authority to negotiate and 

agree the terms of any agreements that may be necessary to carry out the Huddersfield Better 
Connected Stations Scheme including the funding agreement with the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority in paragraph 6.7. 
 

6.11 Delegates authority to the Service Director – Legal Governance & Commissioning to enter into 
the grant agreement with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the funding of the 
Huddersfield Better Connected Stations  Scheme and any other relevant agreements and 
documents to which the Council is party. 
 

Officers make these recommendations in respect of the Huddersfield Better Connected Stations 
Scheme because the scheme when completed will promote greater use of greener forms of travel 
through greater connectivity.   

 
Cross Church Street Scheme   
 
Officers recommend that Cabinet: 
 
6.12 Authorises the Council to accept and enter into any agreement with the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority for the funding of the Cross Church Street Scheme. 
 

6.13 Approves the Council carrying out and implementation of the Cross Church Street Scheme as 
long as the Council’s application to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for £1,290,925 
funding is successful. 
 

6.14 Delegates to the Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure the authority to negotiate and 
agree the terms of any agreements that may be necessary to carry out the Cross Church Street 
Scheme including the funding agreement with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority in 
paragraph 6.11. 
 Page 44



6.15 Delegates authority to the Service Director – Legal Governance & Commissioning to enter into 
the grant agreement with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the funding of the Cross 
Church Scheme and any other relevant agreements and documents to which the Council is party. 
 

Officers make these recommendations in respect of the Cross Church Street Scheme because the 
scheme when completed will enhance the town centre public space and promote cycling.  

 
7. CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S RECOMMNEDATIONS 

 
7.1 Cllr Peter Mcbride is in favour of the schemes. “The key to making sure everyone can benefit 

from this vision is making travel and access equally as ambitious and fit for the future. The 
regeneration plans we have will see more housing and employment opportunities come to 
Huddersfield and we must make sure our road network is ready for any additional traffic that 
might bring. These schemes will help us to do just that, by reducing congestion and improving 
travel time in the area. We also have a commitment to address climate change and need to do all 
we can to support and encourage greener forms of travel. If we are to do this, we must make sure 
pedestrians and cyclists feel safe. A reduction in congestion and more people travelling in a 
greener way will also help us to improve air quality in this area.” 

 
8. CONTACT OFFICER 

 
8.1 Keith Bloomfield – Strategic Lead (Major Projects) – keith.bloomfield@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND HISTORY OF DECISIONS 

 
i. West Yorkshire Transport Fund - Scheme Principles (9 February 2016) 
ii. Land Acquisition Costs (22 August 2017) 
iii. WY+TF Schemes Update (13 November 2018) 

 
10. SERVICE DIRECTOR RESPONSIBLE 

 
i. Karl Battersby  Strategic Director Economy and Infrastructure 
ii. Angela Blake  Director for Economy and Skills 

 
  

Page 45

mailto:keith.bloomfield@kirklees.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

 

 

 
 

Page 46



 

1 
 

 

 
 

Name of meeting: Cabinet 
 
Date: 28th July 2020 
 
Title of report: Council Financial Outturn & Rollover Report 2019-20 

incorporating General Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue 
account, Capital and Treasury Management 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
To receive information on the Council’s 2019-20 financial outturn position for General 
Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and Capital Plan, including proposals 
for revenue and capital rollover from 2019-20 to 2020-21. This report also includes an 
annual review of Council Treasury Management activity. 

 
Key decision – is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 

Yes 

Key decision - is it in the Counci l’ s   
Forward Plan (key decisions and 
private reports? 

Key decision - Yes 

The Decision - Is it eligible for “call in” 
by Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 

 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 

 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director – Legal, Governance & 
Commissioning? 

Rachel Spencer Henshall – 20 July 2020 

Eamonn Croston – 20July 2020 

Julie Muscroft – 20 July 2020 

Cabinet member portfolio - Corporate Give name of Portfolio Holders 
Cllr Graham Turner 

 

Electoral wards affected: None Ward 
Councillors Consulted: None  

 
Public or private: Public 
GDPR: This report contains no information that falls within the scope of General Data 
Protection Regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 Page 47

Agenda Item 9:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/scrutiny/Scrutiny.asp


 

2 
 

 
 

 

1. Summary  

1.1 General Fund 

1.1.1 The Council’s revised General Fund controllable (net) revenue budget for 2019-20 was 
£287.1m. The budget included adjusted (net) revenue savings in-year of £7.7m as 
reported at Quarter 3, reflecting the reversal of existing savings targets as part of the 
Council approved 2020-23 budget report.  

 
1.1.2 The revised budget is net of a number of planned transfers to reserves during the year, 

with the most significant being £3.8m from the revenue grants reserve, £1.4m from the 
Strategic Investment reserve and £1.3m from the Waste Management reserve. 
 

1.1.3 Council spend was £287.1m in 2019-20, which reflects an overall ‘break-even’ financial 
performance against budget. In actuality there was a marginal overspend of £27k or 
0.01% against the revised budget.  This includes the following: 

 
i)      £6.5m savings achievement against the £7.7m revised target; equating to 84% 

 
ii) £1.2m net underspends elsewhere 

 
1.1.4 The revenue outturn position is summarised at Appendix 1 and in Table 1 below. 
 

Table 1 - Overview of 2019-20 general fund revenue outturn position  
 

 Revised 
Budget 

Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 
Children & Families 91,213 91,173 (40) 
Adults & Health 100,977 100,977 - 
Economy & Infrastructure 34,897 40,134 5,237 
Corporate Services 35,946 36,615 669 
Central Budgets 24,047 18,208 (5,839) 
Grand Total 287,080 287,107 27 

  
1.1.5 The overall ‘break-even’ position (rounded) is net of a number of variances against 

budget. Headline variances are described in more detail in sections 1.2 to 1.6 below.   
 

1.2 Children & Families 
 
 Learning – High Needs 
 

1.2.1 The National Fair Funding (NFF) regime was implemented by Government from 2018-
19. The High Needs block under the new NFF acknowledges the level of previous 
under-funding, and Government intention was to increase Kirklees’ annual allocation 
by £7m in comparison to the 2017-18 baseline. Due to transitional arrangements, this 
was to be phased over a 7 year period, at about £1m per annum. This phasing was 
reflected in existing budget plans.  

 
1.2.2   The Council has reported extensively on the fact that since the 2014 Children and 

Families Act was implemented, there has already been a 44% rise in the number of Page 48



 

3 
 

Education Health & Care Plans (EHCP’s) within Kirklees in the last four years (2015 to 
2019; 47% nationally). The rising demand and cost pressures show no sign of slowing 
down, with continued growth of EHCP numbers expected in future years (over 10% in 
each of the last three years nationally). In 2019-20, there was a further increase in 
EHCP’s in Kirklees by 588 to 3,329; equivalent to a 21% increase from 2018-19.  Note 
that this increase includes 276 young people who have left education but still have an 
EHCP.  Such cases were not included in aggregate figures reported for 2019 and 
earlier.  

 
1.2.3 For Kirklees, there is a significant and increasing funding pressure against the High 

Needs block of the Dedicated Schools Grant; to the extent that the Council’s general 
fund has supported unfunded DSG pressures at £4.4m in 2017-18 and £8m in 2018-
19. However, this is considered unsustainable going forward, with further demand and 
cost pressures anticipated in future years.  

 
1.2.4 Government has acknowledged the extent of current and growing spend pressures on 

high needs and the 2019-20 Spending Round (SR2019) announcement in September 
2019 included £700m additional national funding for high needs in 2020-21.  This was 
subsequently confirmed through the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement in December 2019, with the Council’s share at £6.1m for 2020-21. This 
includes the minimum £1m annual uplift for Kirklees as part of transitional 
arrangements to mitigate the £7m baseline 2018-19 under-funding (see also para 1.2.1 
above). 

 
1.2.5 The 2019-20 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs funding allocation for 

Kirklees is £37.0m. The 2019-20 in-year pressure on High Needs spend in excess of 
the DSG funding allocation was £12.9m (equivalent to 34.85%). As per updated 
Government guidance following an initial consultation, this spending pressure must 
be carried forward on the balance sheet in full, as a funding deficit against Dedicated 
School Grant (DSG), from 2019-20 onwards. This is presented as a negative balance 
on the DSG reserve as at 31st March 2020 (see Appendix 2). 

 
1.2.6 The total negative DSG reserve balance as at 31st March 2020 is £14.4m. Alongside 

the £12.9m High Needs pressure this includes a £2.2m overspend relating to the 
Council’s general fund contribution to Schools PFI, pending confirmation from the DfE 
that this is able to continue under the new regulations.  A matching £2.2m transfer 
from base budget has been set aside in a separate Schools PFI reserve to cover this 
cost when the appropriate permissions have been received (see also Appendix 2).  
The remaining balance reflects net underspends elsewhere of £0.7m; mainly due to 
underspending on the Early Years block.  

 
1.2.7 The 2019-20 budget plans had initially assumed that the High Needs pressure would 

be part offset from the planned release of Central Budget Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) budget of £5m.  In anticipation of Government confirmation of its consultation 
on treatment of DSG deficits, the 2020-23 Annual Budget Report included proposals 
to create a demand reserve from the re-direct of MRP set-asides that would previously 
have been used to at least part offset in-year High Needs spend pressures.  This will 
be used to mitigate the impact and volatility of a range of potential demand risks on 
statutorily provided service activity going forwards. The MRP re-direct has been 
reflected in the summary of revenue reserves at Appendix 2, with a transfer of £5m 
into the demand reserve by year end.  
 

1.2.8 Further transfers of £6.7m were also made into the demand reserve in-year, giving a 
closing balance of £11.7m as at 31st March 2020.  The transfers reflect a year-end 
review of capitalisation opportunities and funding sources within allowable accounting 
rules as outlined in the Early Closedown Review report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020 Page 49



 

4 
 

(see also section 1.7). 
  

1.2.9 Current estimates suggest that Kirklees’ High Needs budget pressures for 2020-21 
will be in the region of £8m.  High Needs remains an area of significant and growing 
pressure on Council budgets nationally and locally, and officers will continue to review 
and update future year forecasts informed by national and local intelligence.  

 
1.2.10 It is anticipated that medium term, growth pressures may be mitigated at least in part 

through other measures, with the Council currently working on the implementation of 
a ten-point action plan with key educational partners across the district. The approved 
capital budget plans for 2019-24 also include £25m to support increased District high 
needs specialist placement sufficiency.  
 
 
Learning and Early Support 
 

1.2.11 As at 31st March 2020, 311 children with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP’s) 
are using Post 16 Home to School Transport; a significant increase of 114 from the 
previous year. This has resulted in an overspend of £1m on Post -16 Home to School 
Transport in-year. 

 
1.2.12 This pressure also links in to other schools transport pressures highlighted in 

paragraph 1.4.2 further below, and the Council is currently exploring a range of 
alternate approaches, working with pupils, parents, schools sector and providers, to 
deliver more innovative and tailored transport options that will mitigate, at least in part, 
continuing growth pressures. An additional £1.1m has been built into base budgets 
going forwards as part of the 2020-23 Annual Budget Report to address the estimated 
residual ongoing pressure in this area. A further review of this baseline will be 
undertaken as part of the Council’s Budget Update in Autumn 2020.  

 
1.2.13 The increased number of approved applications for funding support from Special 

Educational Needs and Disability Inclusion Fund (SENDIF) has resulted in a pressure 
of £500k.  Approved applications totalled £1.4m in 2019-20, compared to £917k in 
2018-19.  The fund primarily supports 2 to 4 year olds with special educational needs 
who attend a Private Voluntary and Independent (PVI) or mainstream school nursery 
setting.  Numbers of children accessing the fund have increased from 299 to 406 over 
the last 12 months alongside a growth in complexity of need.   

 
1.2.14 The service has strengthened the resources in the Early Years Special Educational 

Needs (SEN) Inclusion Team and is providing training to nursery settings to upskill the 
workforce so that they can meet the needs of the children rather than having to access 
SENDIF. This is intended to help mitigate pressures on this budget going forward. 

 
1.2.15 There was a pressure of £0.3m within Statutory Responsibility for Education.  This 

mainly related to staffing.  This was offset by a temporary saving of £1m relating to the 
timing of posts being filled in the Early Support Service following significant investment 
into the service in 2019-20. Approved budget plans for 2020-23 have added back the 
£300k Statutory Responsibilities pressure into this budget heading.  

 
 
Child Protection and Family Support 

 
1.2.16 Within Child Protection and Family Support there was a plan to reduce the number of 

External Residential Placements during 2019-20.  As a result of the successful 
implementation of this plan, numbers of placements have reduced from 37 to 31 during 
the year, resulting in an underspend of £0.8m, reflecting the successful transition of Page 50



 

5 
 

placements to more appropriate support settings.  
 

1.2.17 There were pressures within the service of £0.6m relating to increased demand on the 
Youth Remand Service budget and also the Persons from Abroad budget. Both these 
pressures were a result of increasing numbers.    

 
1.3 Adults and Health 

 
1.3.1  Within Adults and Health the planned saving on independent sector home care of 

£0.5m was achieved, in part, due to strengths-based approaches (new approaches 
that promote independence and focus on individual’s strengths) having an impact.  
However, there was a further £1.25m home care underspend; mainly due to current 
capacity challenges in the Independent Sector Home Care market.  This was offset to 
a large extent by increases in other demand activity relating to self-directed support, 
by £1m. 

 
1.3.2 Home care capacity measures were implemented part-year to support providers, at an 

estimated cost of £400k.  The additional cost was offset by compensating funding from 
Better Care fund; achieved through continued flexible deployment of funding 
allocations in conjunction with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), with a 
consequential increase in the level of weekly hours provision of home care (and 
therefore cost) over the latter half of the year, when the measures were put in place. 
The approved budget plans for 2020-23 factored this part year uplift into forward 
budget plans.  
 

1.3.3 The other main variance in Adults relates to employee pressures at £1m.  A Programme 
has been undertaken to further develop understanding around demand and growth 
predictions, levels of productivity and the workforce shape required to best deliver 
pathways.  It will enable an intelligence led approach to vacancy management. In 
conjunction with the above there was a risk assessment of the sustainability of existing 
planned social work staff savings, the outcome of which added back £500k revenue 
resources into approved 2020-23 budget plans. 

 
1.3.4 The 2019-20 Adults budget included income from a number of specific adult social care 

grants such as Winter Pressures at £1.9m, Social Care grant at £1.2m and the 
Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) at £15.4m. There was also funding allocated through 
the Better Care Fund (BCF) pooled with Health, with the Council share £17.2m.  This 
(along with the iBCF, and Winter Pressures grant) has national reporting conditions and 
joint health sign off agreements.   

 
1.3.5 All existing social care specific grants, including BCF, have rolled into 2020-21 

baselines, as confirmed in the 2020-21 Local Government Finance Settlement.  A 
further £7.8m Social Care grant will also be received in 2020-21, as part of the overall 
national £1.5bn increase in social care funding; described by Government at the time 
as a ‘down payment’ for more extensive reforms to come. 
 

 
1.4 Economy and Infrastructure 

 
1.4.1 Within Environment there was an income shortfall of £1.4m in Car Parking. As part of 

2019-20 budget, car parking charges were frozen, and have been for a number of 
years. This means that the income targets within the budget could not be achieved. 
As part of the strategic alignment of future income targets; in particular the Council’s 
town centre and climate change ambition, a strategic review of car parking income 
targets resulted in a baseline budgeted income adjustment of £600k for Parking built Page 51



 

6 
 

into approved  budget plans for 2020-23 
 

1.4.2 Also within Environment there was pressure  of £1.5m on Schools Transport; in the 
main linked to special educational needs demand (links also to the Learning-High 
Needs Section 1.2 of the report earlier), and further overspends of £0.8m in Venues 
in-year; mainly relating to a short-term pressure in Bereavement due to revised income 
shortfall relating to the Cremator Replacement project.  
  

1.4.3 Economy and Skills had a £0.4m adverse variance on Commercial Properties linked 
to income shortfalls and a further £0.5m overspend in Corporate Landlord.  The latter 
was linked in the main to pressures on ongoing repairs and maintenance and an £80k 
financial pressure related to the finalisation of the Stadium agreement. 

 
1.4.4 There was a £0.6m overspend within Growth & Housing relating to declining income 

across Markets.  This included the part year effect of the rent reduction following the 
introduction of the new tenant leases for Huddersfield and Dewsbury Markets on 1st 
January 2020.  As part of the town centre ambition, a strategic review of income 
targets has been undertaken, resulting in a baseline budgeted income adjustment for 
Markets of £500k which has been built into approved 2020-23 budget plans. 

 
 

1.5 Corporate Strategy, Commissioning & Public Health 
 

1.5.1 Within Finance, there was an overspend of £0.6m in Benefit Payments relating to 
homelessness. Since the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act in April 
2018 the number of people eligible for, and being provided with, temporary 
accommodation in Kirklees has increased by 13%. This has resulted in the Council 
having to utilise more expensive accommodation options which has resulted in 
reduced levels of Housing Benefit subsidy income. This pressure was offset in part by 
other minor underspends across Welfare & Exchequer services   

 
1.5.2 Within Governance and Commissioning there was a £0.4m pressure in Legal. As part 

of the wider Corporate capacity review, previous planned savings targets for 2020-21 
have been reversed as part of approved budget plans 2020-23.      

         
 

1.6  Central Budgets 
 

1.6.1 Approved Central Budgets for 2019-20 included the set aside of £2.7m minimum 
revenue provision (MRP) over-allocation budget, as in-year contingency. This was 
released in-year, to part mitigate the balance of pressures set out in this report. 

 
1.6.2 In addition to the above, overall Section 31 business rate relief grants received in-

year was £2.2m higher than the £13.3m budgeted at the start of the year. This again 
has been reflected in Central budget outturn position for 2019-20. Local Authorities 
are paid section 31 grants throughout the year using the budgeted business rates 
position. This year end adjustment reflects the relative volatility in budgeting for the 
12 distinct business rate relief offsets available to businesses in-year, and for which 
Government compensates Councils through a corresponding section 31 grant. 

 
1.6.3 Further Central Budget underspends include £0.5m relating to other contingency 

inflation adjustments in-year.  
 

Flexible Capital Receipts 
 

1.6.4 The Council’s flexible capital receipts strategy was applied in relation to £2.3m Page 52



 

7 
 

transformation related spend and £0.3m voluntary severance costs in 2019-20.  
These costs meet the criteria for qualifying expenditure of funding the cost of service 
reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff or non-staff), where this leads to 
ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation, set out at paragraph 3i) of the 
Flexible Capital Receipts strategy which can be found at Appendix 10.  
 

1.6.5 The strategy is based on current Government guidance which allows the capitalisation 
of certain types of qualifying revenue expenditure in-year, funded from the flexible use 
of ‘in-year’ generated capital receipts. At the time the 2019-20 approved budgets were 
set, there was no specific ask to apply the above policy in year, unlike in previous 
years. However, in light of the subsequent impact of COVID-19 on Council finances, 
the policy was applied at year end, as reported as part of the 2019-20 early closedown 
review report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020 (see also 1.7.2 below).    

 
Revenue Rollover 

 
1.6.6 Council Financial Procedure Rules allows for consideration of revenue rollover, but  

only if the overall general fund position is in an underspend position at year end. The 
marginal overspend of £27k against a revised revenue budget of £287m was 
transferred to reserves at year end and offset against general balances.  

 
            COVID-19 financial impact on 2019-20 Council finances 
 

1.6.7 A total of £1.1m of additional pressures were identified in the 2019-20 accounts as a 
direct result of COVID-19.  This included £676k cost pressures, mainly attributable to 
additional spend within Adults Social Care (£273k), Public Health (£162k) and 
Customers and Communities (£155k). Income losses totalled £453k with the largest 
individual loss relating to Catering (£196k).  Further income losses were identified 
across a range of services including Welfare and Exchequer, Trade Waste, Parking, 
Town Halls and Public Halls.   
 

1.6.8 The above additional pressures were offset in-year by £1.1m of the first tranche of un-
ringfenced COVID Support Grant received by Government in March 2020.  The total 
amount of funding received was £12.2m, and the remaining balance of £11.1m was 
transferred to earmarked reserves to be applied in 2020-21 as described in section 1.7 
below.   

 
 

1.7 General Fund Reserves 
 

1.7.1 General fund reserves and balances have increased through 2019-20 by £0.9m; from 
£112.5m at the start of the year to £113.4m as at 31 March 2020. A further £2.3m 
was added into Council reserves at the start of 2020-21, as per the 2020-23 budget 
plans approved at Budget Council on 12 February 2020; increasing the overall level 
of reserves and balances to £115.7m as at 1st April 2020. 

 
1.7.2 The year-end reserves position set out in Appendix 2 incorporates the new Place 

Partnership Theme reserve approved as part of the overall 2020-23 Council budget 
plans.  It also reflects measures taken to release an additional £6.7m revenue resources 
into earmarked general fund revenue reserves in light of the heightened corporate risk 
assessment from the financial impact of COVID-19. These measures, outlined in the 
following paragraphs, were approved as part of the 2019-20 Early Closedown Review 
report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020. The link to this report is shown below : 

 
 Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday 2nd June 2020, 3.00 pm | Kirklees Council (Item 9) 
 Page 53

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=6439&Ver=4


 

8 
 

1.7.3 The 2019-20 early closedown review report set out proposals to increase earmarked 
reserves by £6.7m through a year end review of capitalisation opportunities and funding 
sources within allowable accounting rules.  The review identified £5.4m of revenue 
costs that could be capitalised within allowable accounting rules, including use of the 
Council’s existing flexible receipts policy to capitalise transformation costs which can 
be funded from in-year capital receipts. The remaining balance of £1.3m reflects the 
release of revenue rollover originally planned to fund capital public realm works, now to 
be funded from borrowing.  
 

1.7.4 At the time of the Early Closedown Review report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020, the £6.7m 
transfer of revenue resources was anticipated to be aligned to financial resilience 
reserves. It is now proposed that this is re-directed to the Demand Reserve, given the 
significant High Needs deficit held on Kirklees’ balance sheet, and which is forecast to 
increase by upto a further £8m in 2020-21. 

 
1.7.5 A specific reserve has been set aside to cover the costs of the Council’s COVID-19 

response in 2020-21. The balance of this reserve as at 31 March 2020 is £11.1m; made 
up of the transfer of the first tranche of un-ringfenced COVID Support Grant of £12.2m, 
less £1.1m COVID-19 funding applied in 2019-20 for the identified cost pressures 
incurred in the period up to 31 March 2020.   

 
1.7.6 The £12.2m funding was released early by Government on 27 March and technically 

has to be accounted for in 2019-20, with the balance of £11.1m rolling forward into 
2020-21 through a specific reserve. It is anticipated that the £11.1m reserve will be fully 
applied in 2020-21 to help offset significant and unbudgeted COVID-19 pressures in-
year. 

 
1.7.7 The £115.7m general fund reserves and balances at 1st April 2020 includes 

a £14.4m deficit against the DSG reserve as outlined earlier in section 1.2.6.  Of this, 
£12.9m reflects the 2019-20 High Needs overspend in-year. 

 
1.7.8  Total usable reserves (excluding Schools Reserves (Other) and Public Health) at 1st 

April 2020 are £104.6m; equivalent to 34.6% of the 2020-21 £302.3 (net) revenue 
budget.  For comparator purposes, the median percentage across the 36 metropolitan 
Councils on this particular indicator was 35% as at 31 March 2019. 
 

1.7.9 The significance of this indicator is that it features as part of CIPFA’s suite of ‘financial 
resilience’ performance indicators being developed to support officers, members and 
other stakeholders as an independent and objective suite of indicators that measure 
the relative financial sustainability and resilience of Councils, given extensive and 
ongoing national coverage and concern about financial sustainability across the local 
government sector. 

 
1.7.10   Financial resilience reserves as at 1st April 2020 will remain at just over £37m, which 

was also the minimum financial reserves requirement recommendation by the Chief 
Financial Officer at least to the start of 2021-22, as set out in the 2020-23 Annual 
Budget Report.  The financial resilience risk reserve is informed by the Council’s 
corporate risk register; current version attached at Appendix 10 for information.    

 
 

1.8     Collection Fund 
 

1.8.1 The Collection Fund accounts separately for council tax and business rates income 
and payments. Table 2 below summarises the financial performance of the 
collection fund in 2019-20, including planned payments to the general fund in 
2020-21. Page 54



 

9 
 

 
Table 2 – Collection Fund Summary 
 

Collection Fund forecast           
(Council Share) 

Council 
Tax 

Business 
Rates  

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 
(Surplus)/Deficit at 1st April 2019 1,621 (8,700) (7,079) 
Re-payments to/(from) General Fund 19-20 (1,179) 6,923 5,744 
In year Financial Performance 738 (1,908) (1,170) 
(Surplus)/Deficit at 31st March 2020 1,180 (3,685) (2,505) 
Re-payments to/(from) General Fund 20-21 58 3,377 3,435 
Remaining (Surplus)/Deficit 20-21 1,238 (308) 930 

 
1.8.2 In-year income performance on Council Tax reflects 99.6% actual income 

achieved against planned income of £180.0m. The balance of just 0.4% included 
a re-assessment of bad debt provision requirements, in light of the emerging 
financial climate. 
 

1.8.3 The business rates surplus reflects a further review of the Council’s provision for 
historical appeals valuations outstanding; set at £4.8m at 31st March 2019.  This 
requirement was revised downwards in-year reflecting the impact of many long 
standing appeals being either withdrawn or settled, alongside the more stringent 
appeals system implemented from 2017 onwards.  

 
1.8.4 Taking into account the opening balance and ne t  repayments to the general fund 

in year, the above in-year performance resulted in an overall surplus for the collection 
fund of £2.5m at 31st March 2020.   There are planned repayments of £3.4m to the 
general fund in 2020-21, reflecting best estimates of the forecast year end Collection 
Fund surplus at the time 2020-23 budget plans were approved. The actual £2.5m year 
end surplus leaves a £0.9m deficit balance overall on the collection fund as at 1 April 
2020 and will be managed in due course as part of the forthcoming budget strategy 
update review .   

 
1.9 Housing Revenue Account 

 
1.9.2 The Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) accounts for all Council housing 

related revenue expenditure and income in a separate statutory (ring-fenced) 
account. The revenue outturn is a net nil variance against an annual turnover budget 
of £92.0m in 2019-20. 

 
1.9.2 This included some additional costs incurred in-year on grounds maintenance at £0.2m 

and £0.1m temporary accommodation, and lower than expected rechargeable repairs 
cost recovery , and minor variations on for leasehold income, rents and service charges 
totalling £0.7m. This was offset largely by a lower than expected bad debt provision 
requirement due to the Government’s temporary ‘pause’ on the national rollout of 
universal credit. 

 
1.9.3 HRA reserves at 31 March 2020, net of set asides for business risks and 

investment needs and a minimum working balance, is £61.0m which will roll forward 
to support future HRA asset investment in line with HRA longer term business plan 
requirements.  A summary of the HRA outturn and reserves position can be found at 
Appendix 3.   
 
 
 Page 55



 

10 
 

 
1.10 Capital  

 
  1.10.1 The nature of capital programmes and funding means that with some schemes, there 

is greater potential for variations in-year; for example timing of external funding being 
secured, or the size and complexity of specific schemes meaning longer lead in times 
than originally profiled in capital budget plans. In recognition of this, Council Financial 
Procedure Rules (FPR’s) now allow greater in-year flexibility for Cabinet to amend 
existing Programme and scheme allocations between years. So for example, the 
Council approved capital plan for 2019-20 including capital rollover, on 17 July 2019, 
was £114.3m. Subsequent application of the FPR flexibility in-year by Cabinet through 
quarterly financial monitoring reporting largely contributed to a revised capital budget 
of £94.6m; the difference largely re-profiled into later years.   

 
1.10.2 As noted above, the Council’s revised capital budget for 2019-20 was £94.6m. The 

budget has increased by £2.9m since quarter 3 as a result of increased grants and 
contributions.  A breakdown of the budget changes can be found in Appendix 6.   

 
1.10.3 The 2019-20 capital outturn was £81.2m, which is about £12.8m higher than equivalent 

capital spend in 2019-20. Of the total actual spend, £18.7m relates to strategic 
priorities, £51.2m relates to baseline capital spend, the balance of £11.3m to projects 
of a one-off nature. 

 
Table 3 – Capital Outturn 2019-20 

 

By Category  

Revised 
Capital 
Budget 
    £000 

Outturn 
     £000 

 
 

Variance 
       £000 

Aspire & Achieve  13,055 10,230 (2,825) 
Best Start 3 5 2 
Independent 200 664 464 
Sustainable Economy 51,898 40,511 (11,387) 
Well 3,014 1,506 (1,508) 
Safe & Cohesive 15 8 (7) 
Clean & Green 1,625 1,148 (477) 
Efficiency & Effectiveness 3,184 5,758 2,574 
General Fund 72,994 59,830 (13,164) 
Strategic Priorities 4,200 3,215 (985) 
Baseline 17,377 18,165 788 
Housing Revenue Account 21,577 21,380 (197) 
Total Capital Budget 94,571 81,210 (13,361) 

 
1.10.4  A more detailed breakdown of the capital outturn position is provided at Appendix 5 (a) 

and 5 (b), along with key variances highlighted. 
 

1.10.5 Capital expenditure was funded by the following sources of finance; borrowing £29.8m, 
grants and contributions £24.2m, capital receipts at £6.9m, Major Repairs Reserve 
(HRA) at £12.6m and HRA Reserves/Revenue contributions at £7.7m. This is shown 
in more detail at Appendix 8 (a).  

 
1.10.6 Actual borrowing costs incurred 2019-20 are largely consistent with treasury 

management budget assumptions. Treasury Management budgetary assumptions are 
reviewed annually as part of the annual budget re-fresh, and take account any changes Page 56



 

11 
 

in the profiling and quantum of capital spend to be funded from borrowing over the 
periodically re-freshed multi-year capital plans.  

 
1.10.7 The 2019-20 Early Closedown Review report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020 included  

£5.4m capitalisation within allowable accounting rules, of costs previously allocated to 
revenue in-year. Funding of this additional year end spend was met via un-ringfenced 
capital receipts and uncommitted underspends from the wider capital plan. Also, £1.3m 
of capital expenditure which was previously to be funded by the release of revenue 
rollover originally planned to fund capital public realm works, was funded from 
borrowing.  

 
1.10.8 Capital rollover proposals total £17.8m and include £8.6m timing issues on 

contractually committed schemes rolling forward into 2020-21, and a further £9.2m 
slippage on spend commitments tied to specific unspent grants and other ring-fenced 
resources, totalling £17.8m. The £4.4m difference between the £17.8m capital rollover 
requested and the overall outturn variance of £13.4m will be met from a combination 
of uncommitted capital receipts and in-year uncommitted capital budgets no longer 
required. 

 
Capital Rollover Proposals 

 
1.10.9 When the Council approved the Capital Investment Plan in February 2020 for the 5 

year period from 2020-21 to 2024-25, it made provision for a level of investment of 
£913.2m within the Annual Budget Report (£707.9m General Fund, £205.3m HRA).  

 
 1.10.10 The proposal is to effectively re-profile planned spend totalling £17.8m from 2019-20 

to 20-21; £17.6m general fund and £0.2m HRA.  This largely reflects deferred spend 
against existing schemes rolled forward into future years. 
 

 1.10.11 The capital plan has now been updated to take account of the capital rollover totalling 
£17.8m from 2019-20 and changes in the estimated levels of resources available. The 
revised capital plan set out in this report, including re-profiled planned spend, stands 
at £886.8m over the 2020-25 period.  

 
 1.10.12 It is acknowledged however that there will be a more fundamental review of the multi-

year capital plans set out in this report, over the coming months, in preparation for the 
forthcoming medium term financial strategy re-fresh to Cabinet and Council later this 
year. In light of this, years 2 to 5 of the revised plan have been aggregated, pending 
the broader review, which is intended to reflect a longer term capital planning cycle, 
and emerging Council capital priorities in light of COVID-19 impact and local, regional 
and national mitigations to support the recovery plan (see also para 1.10.24).        

 
 Other 
 

 1.10.13 The updated capital plan includes the Transforming Cites Fund (TCF) which is a 
national sustainable transport fund administered by the Department for Transport (DfT) 
for delivery of transformational projects in the period 2020-21 to 2022-23.  The specific 
funding for the Kirklees TCF programme from the £317m regionally secured TCF 
funding through Leeds City Region, is £39.5m TCF, presented within the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport schemes capital plan under Sustainable Economy, Strategic 
Priorities.  This includes £6m local match funds have been identified from within the 
Town Centre Action Plan budget and is earmarked towards TCF. 

 
 1.10.14 The plan also incorporates proposals for King James’s High School (£5.25m) for the 

construction of a new teaching block and the improvements to the existing 
accommodation in order to provide sufficient and suitable accommodation for 150 Page 57



 

12 
 

additional pupils. Provision is also made for Almondbury Community School (Primary) 
at £275k and £200k for Netherhall Learning Campus High School.  These proposals 
were endorsed by Cabinet on 16th June 20. 

 
 1.10.15 A sum of £387k borrowing has been committed within the plan to support large capital 

maintenance scheme works required at Newsome High School.  This represents 10% 
of the overall grant capital funding expected by the school (due to convert into an 
Academy) from the Department of Education. 

 
 1.10.16 The government grant allocations built into the 5 year Capital Plan approved by Council 

in February 2020 have been revisited. The main change to note is the basic need grant 
allocation which is used to fund New Pupil Places within Achieve & Aspire Strategic 
Priorities Capital Plan.  Previously, an indicative annual amount of £1.05m had been 
built into the Plan from 2021-22 onwards.  Basic Need allocations were published by 
Government in April 2020, of which Kirklees was allocated zero grant for 2021-22. In 
light of this, the grant assumptions for basic need grant allocations have been revised 
to nil from 2021-22 onwards within the updated Plan.   

 
 1.10.17 A two year Highways Capital Plan (2020-21 and 2021-22) was endorsed at Cabinet on 

1 May 2020, to allow immediate commencement of works.  The revised detailed two 
year Highways Capital Plan inclusive of subsequent capital rollover of £3.3m, is 
presented in Appendix 9. Cabinet are asked to endorse the detailed Highways plan 
presented at Appendix 9, which also incorporates the following funding adjustments : 
 

i) The challenge fund bid submitted jointly by Kirklees and Calderdale Councils for the 
A62 Leeds Road, Cooper Bridge and A6024 Holme Moss landslip was successful, this 
has brought an additional £2.03m to Kirklees Council, and includes matched funding 
from existing Highways capital allocations, which is shown in the total budget for these 
schemes.  

 
ii) Government announced on 14 May 2020, additional funding for roads maintenance 

across the whole of the UK which was distributed on a formula basis. The West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) as a whole received £21.944m. This comprised 
additional challenge and pothole funds.  

 
For Kirklees it is anticipated that there will be a direct payment of pothole grant 
increasing this amount from £349k which was shown in the May 2020 Highways capital 
plan to £3.8m, but this has yet to be confirmed. There may also be additional challenge 
fund grant made available for the financial year 2020-21 however the way this is 
allocated, and the amount made available to each of the authorities, if any, is still to be 
determined by WYCA.  

 
iii) WYCA has allocated £240k for Air Quality in Kirklees which has been shown in the 

Integrated Public Transport programme area of this capital plan; £125k in 2020-21 and 
£115k in 2021-22. The spend for this project will be managed by the Councils 
Environmental Services team.  
 
The additional £240k identified above for air quality will be used on Initiatives to support 
the partners councils delivery of the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy, which 
could include upgrades to traffic management systems to improve air quality at 
sensitive locations, and continuation of the Eco-Stars Low Emission Fleet Incentive 
Scheme. 
 

iv) There are a number of large road resurfacing works to improve important local routes 
and reduce the maintenance backlog, for the following roads:  
 Page 58



 

13 
 

 
Scheme From To Ward Scheme 

Estimate 
Programme 

A616 Sheffield Road New 
Mill 

New Mill Boundary  Holme Valley  
South 

£525,000 Principal* Roads 

Hotspots   All £1,300,000 Roads Connecting 
Communities 

Carr Green Lane including 
Rawthorpe Lane 

Long Lane Bradley Mills 
Road 

Dalton £800,000 Roads Connecting 
Communities 

Forge Lane  B6117 
Station Road 

Lees Hall 
Road 

Dewsbury 
South 

£500,000 Unclassified Roads 

Cawley Lane High Street  Heckmondwike £270,000 Unclassified Roads 
 

 1.10.18 Other significant grant changes are an additional £400k WYCA grant towards the Town 
Centre Action Plan Acquisitions pot. 

 
 1.10.19 The Capital Plan currently includes £2m borrowing for Residential Children’s Units 

within the Best Start Plan under Specialist Accommodation, Strategic Priorities.  The 
Care Quality Commission and Children’s service have identified a preferred bed model 
for residential units which is more closely associated with normal family life.   

 
 1.10.20 Work is being undertaken to identify appropriate preferred houses for purchase from 

private landlords, for conversion into Children’s homes. Cabinet are therefore asked to 
delegate authority to the Strategic Director for Children in consultation with the Portfolio 
Member for Children’s Services, along with the head of Corporate Landlord and Head 
of Legal services, to negotiate and to procure identified properties to meet service 
needs within the programme total.  

   
 1.10.21 The draft capital plan 2020-25 is shown at Appendix 8(a) and 8(b) and summarised in 

Table 4 below: 
 

Table 4 – Updated Capital Plan 2020-25 
 

By Category * 
2020-21 2021 to 25 Total 

£000 £000 £000 
General Fund :    
Achieve & Aspire 18,408 55,476 73,884 
Children 748 9,250 9,998 
Independent 1,855 22,606 24,461 
Sustainable Economy 123,481 379,199 502,680 
Well 14,617 15,964 30,581 
Safe & Cohesive 185 0 185 
Clean & Green 8,706 42,085 50,791 
Efficient & Effective 2,955 7,685 10,640 
General Fund  170,955 532,265 703,220 
Housing Revenue Account :    
Strategic Priorities 13,448 72,523 85,971 
Baseline 21,084 76,545 97,629 
Housing Revenue Account  34,532 149,068 183,600 
Overall Total 205,487 681,333 886,820 

*categorisation here by primary outcome for illustrative purposes, acknowledging that in many instances capital 
investment delivers multiple outcomes.  

 
 1.10.22 Officers will continue to review capital budget profiles in year, and any further re-

profiling movements between years will be reported to Cabinet as part of the quarterly Page 59



 

14 
 

financial monitoring arrangements through 2020-21, in accordance with Financial 
Procedure Rules 3.10-3.15. This approach acknowledges the growing complexities 
and challenges over the upcoming years in delivering to this scale of ambition 

 
 1.10.23 Future capital plan updates will also be presented periodically to Council as part of the 

annual budget strategy update and annual budget approval reports to Cabinet and 
Council as a matter of course as part of the annual planning cycle. 

 
 1.10.24 A fundamental review of the 5 year plan will be undertaken in the summer to re-phase 

and reprioritise capital plan priorities over a 10 year period. The plan will be revamped 
in line with the Councils Economic Recovery Plan permitting strong financial 
management which will underpin sustainable decision making, deliverability of 
services/schemes, the financial risk and achievement of outcomes.  The outcome will 
be presented as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy review report in Autumn. 

 
 1.10.25 Provision has been made in the Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan to 

cover the expected costs of borrowing.  As revenue resources are themselves under 
considerable pressure over the coming years, close scrutiny will need to continue to 
ensure borrowing fulfils the criteria of being affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

 
 
 Prudential Indicators 
 

 1.10.26 Appendix 7 provides a schedule of the prudential indicators applicable to affordability 
and prudence which have been reported as part of capital monitoring in 2019-20.  
Indicators applicable to treasury management are reported in the Review of Treasury 
Management activity for 2019-20 which can be found at Appendix 12. The Council has 
complied with its PI’s for 2019-20. 

  
 1.10.27 The proportion of the annual revenue budget set aside to repay debt and interest is a 

matter of local decision, informed by relevant CIPFA prudential guidance relating to 
prudence, affordability and sustainability.   

 
2  Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 The Appendices accompanying this report provide a more detailed breakdown of the 

outturn financial monitoring position, as follows: 
 

Appendix 1 summarises by service area, the general fund revenue outturn position 
in 2019-20; 

 
Appendix 2a summarises the general fund reserves and balances movements in-
year; 
 
Appendix 2b sets out a glossary of terms for the general fund reserves ; 
 
Appendix 3 summarises the HRA revenue outturn position including movements in 
HRA reserves in-year; 

 
Appendix 4 shows the performance against revised planned revenue savings in-year; 

 
Appendix 5a summarises by Council priority Outcome, the capital outturn position in 
2019/20  
 
Appendix 5b summarises by Council priority Outcome, key capital outturn variances 
in excess of £500k, against revised capital budget, for 2019-20  Page 60



 

15 
 

 
Appendix 6 summarises key capital budget changes between Quarter 3 financial 
monitoring report and outturn, for 2019-20  
 
Appendix 7 provides a schedule of prudential indicators for 2019-20, applicable to 
affordability and prudence; 

 
Appendix 8a summarises the updated capital plan 2020-25, taking into account 
rollover, grant changes and additions.  A funding summary is also included; 
 
Appendix 8b shows the detailed capital plan updated for 2020-21 including rollover, 
by Council Priority Outcome, and aggregated capital plan totals for the 2021 to 2025 
period.  

 
Appendix 9 shows the 2 year detailed Highways capital plan; 

 
Appendix 10 details the updated Council flexible capital receipts strategy 
incorporating  

 
Appendix 11 is the Corporate Risk Register, updated as at July 2020. 
 
Appendix 12 is the Annual Report on treasury Management activity to Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee, 22nd July 2020. 
 

 
2.2 The corporate risk register at Appendix 11 summarises the key strategic risks or 

barriers to achieving the corporate objectives. It also provides visibility about the 
management actions which are either in place or brought into action to mitigate the 
impact of these risks. Many of these are of a financial nature and provide contextual 
information when setting the council’s budget. There isn’t a direct link but they do help 
to inform the level of reserve held by the council. 
 

2.3 Individual risks vary over time, and the need to set aside reserves changes depending 
on the underlying budget provisions. The risk assessment reflects the approved budget 
plans updated for emerging and changing medium and significant risk.  

 
3  Implications for the Council 
 
3.1 The report provides summary information on the overall financial performance against 

annual Council revenue and capital budgets in 2019-20, incorporating as well an overall 
updated capital plan for 2020-25. These budgets support the overall delivery of the 
following Council objectives and Priorities within available resources: 

 
i) Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 
ii) Economic Resilience (ER) 
iii) Improving Outcomes for Children 
iv) Reducing demand of services 

 
3.2 Working with People 

 
3.3 Working with Partners 

 
3.4 Place Based working 
 
3.5 Climate Change & Air Quality 
 Page 61



 

16 
 

3.6 Improving Outcomes for Children 
 
3.7 Other (e.g. Financial, Legal or Human Resources) 
 
3.7.1 The Council’s 2020-23 budget plans, approved at Budget Council on 12 February 

2020, included further target revenue savings proposals of £5.4m over the 2020-23 
period. The plans also incorporated a number of actions as part of the Council’s 
refreshed reserves strategy. This included the Chief Finance Officer (Service Director 
Finance) recommendation that existing financial resilience reserves be maintained at 
£37.1m at the start of 2020-21.  

 
3.7.2  The rationale for the above reflected continued uncertainty on the post 2020 national 

funding landscape for Councils, further uncertainty at UK’s intended negotiated 
withdrawal from the EU, whilst at the same time the Council is facing continuing and 
significant challenges and service pressures over the medium term. It also took into 
consideration a range of risks recorded in the Council’s updated corporate risk 
register, which was appended to the annual budget report. Since this time there has 
been heightened uncertainty caused by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the 
resulting financial effects on the Council.  

 
3.7.3 Council officers have implemented processes to capture COVID-19 related costs 

across the totality of Council activity. In addition, Government has requested monthly 
returns on the financial impact of COVID-19, starting from April 2020, to help inform 
Government intelligence on the scale of financial impact on Councils. The financial 
impact on Council finances is also significant across a range of Council income 
streams, with national lockdown measures having a material short-term impact on fees 
and charges across Council service activity. There are also significant pressures on 
council tax and business rates income.  

 
3.7.4 Early indicative high-level COVID-19 financial impacts on Council finances forecasts 

were reported to Cabinet on 21 May 2020. A link to the report is shown below for 
reference: 

 
Agenda for Cabinet on Thursday 21st May 2020, 3.00 pm | Kirklees Council (Item 7) 

 
3.7.5 The estimated financial impact set out in the above report was in the region of £34m to 

£66m.This will be adjusted down by the Council’s share of Government funding; £23.2m 
to date in 2020-21 (net of £1.1m used to offset 2019-20 COVID financial impacts).  
 

3.7.6 A further national funding package for local government was announced in early July 
as part of a “comprehensive plan to ensure councils’ financial sustainability for the 
future”.  This included a further £500m un-ringfenced grant to be distributed to local 
authorities to help fund the additional expenditure incurred as a result of COVID-19.  
The Council’s share of this funding is £3.9m.  The funding package also includes 
funding for 75% of income losses from sales, fees and charges, where the losses are 
greater than 5% of the council’s planned income receivable. 

 
3.7.7 It was also announced that Councils may spread Collection Fund deficits arising in 

2020-21 over three years to 2023-24.  Under usual circumstances, any in-year deficit 
or surplus on council tax and business rates income is carried forward through the 
Collection Fund to the following year. 

 
3.7.8 COVID-19 financial impacts will continue to be reviewed in light of further emerging 

local, regional and national intelligence through 2020-21, and will be included as part 
of overall in-year financial monitoring reported in the corporate member arena through 
established annual Council planning cycle and governance processes.  Page 62

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=5962&Ver=4


 

17 
 

 
3.7.9 The Council’s refreshed reserves strategy approved in the 2020-23 budget plans is 

directed at strengthening organisational flexibility and financial resilience over the 
medium to longer term in account of the continued funding uncertainty for Councils 
post 2021.  The Financial Resilience reserves level on 1 April 2020 of £37.1m meets 
the minimum recommended level as set out in the strategy. 

 
3.7.8 It is intended that the forthcoming annual budget strategy report to Cabinet and 

Council in early autumn will incorporate a more detailed review, quantification and 
sensitivity analysis on a range of emerging budget and other risks to help inform the 
Council’s financial planning framework and overall reserves requirement as part of the 
refreshed Medium Term financial Plan (MTFP).  This will include a further review of 
any COVID-19 financial impacts anticipated to affect the Council’s budget beyond 
2020-21.  

 
 
4 Consultees and their opinions 
 

This report has been prepared by the Service Director Finance, in consultation 
with the Executive Team. 

 
 
5 Next Steps 
 

 Subject to member approval, capital rollover proposals and the update of the 5 year 
capital plan will be incorporated into in year financial monitoring in 2020-21, and 
reported quarterly to Cabinet from Quarter 1 onwards. 

 
 
6 Cabinet portfolio holders recommendations 
 

The portfolio holder agrees with the recommendations set out in this report. 
 
 

7 Officer recommendations and reasons 
 

Having read this report and the accompanying Appendices, Cabinet are asked to: 
 

General Fund 
7.1 note the revenue outturn position for 2019-20; 
 
7.2 note the year end position on corporate reserves and balances; 
 
7.3 note the regular monitoring and review of corporate reserves in 2020-21 to be 

reported to Cabinet as part of the Quarterly financial monitoring cycle; 
 
7.4 note the use of the Council’s flexible receipts strategy for the year end capitalisation 

of £2.4m transformation related costs in 2019-20  
 

Collection Fund 
7.5 note the year end position on the Collection Fund; 

 
HRA 

7.6 note the HRA revenue outturn and reserves position 2019-20; 
 
Capital Page 63



 

18 
 

7.7 note the Council capital outturn position for 2019-20 
 
7.8 approve the £17.8m capital rollover from 2019-20 to 2020-21; 
 
7.9 approve the revised capital plan for the period 2020-25 after taking into account 

rollover, the re-phasing of schemes and changes to grant assumptions; 
 
7.10 approve the detailed 2 year Highways capital plan 2020-21 and 2021-22 which 

incorporates the large scheme road resurfacing programme; 
 
7.11 Cabinet are asked to delegate authority to the Strategic Director for Children in 

consultation with the Portfolio Member for Children’s Services, along with the head of 
Corporate Landlord and Head of Legal services, to negotiate and to procure identified 
properties to meet service needs within the £2m programme total. (para 1.10.20) 
 
Treasury Management 

7.12 note the review of Treasury Management activity for 2019-20 
 
 

8 Contact Officer 
James Anderson, Head of Accountancy 
james.anderson@kirklees.gov.uk 

 

Sarah Hill, Finance Manager 
sarahm.hill@kirklees.gov.uk 

 
 
9 Background papers and History of Decisions 

Early Closedown Review 2019-20 to Cabinet on 2 June 2020 
Annual budget report 2020-23 to Budget Council on 12 February 2020 
COVID-19 impact on Council finances report to Cabinet on 21 May 2020 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services. 

 CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 
 Public Works Loan Board Website. 
 Local Authorities Property Fund & Factsheet 
 
 
10 Service Director responsible 

Eamonn Croston, Service Director Finance. 
eamonn.croston@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
 
 

  

Page 64

mailto:sarahm.hill@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:eamonn.croston@kirklees.gov.uk


 

19 
 

Appendix 1 
General Fund 2019-20 Outturn                            

Strategic Director portfolio responsibilities  Revised 
Budget  Actual Variance  

  £’000 £’000 £’000  

Child Protection & Family Support  58,569   57,589   (980)  

Learning & Early Support & Schools  32,644   33,584   940  

Sub Total (Children & Families)  91,213   91,173   (40)  

Adults Social Care Operation  34,399   32,874   (1,525)  

Commissioning, Quality and Performance  58,267   59,818   1,551   

Integration, Access & Community Plus  8,311   8,285   (26)  

Sub Total (Adults & Health)  100,977   100,977   -     

Growth & Housing  6,538   6,894   356   

Economy & Skills  9,633   10,328   695   

Environment  18,623   22,808   4,185   

E&I Management  103   104   1   

Sub Total (Economy & Infrastructure)  34,897   40,134   5,237   

Strategy, Innovation & Planning  12,929   12,994   65   

Public Health & People  5,806   6,027   221   

Governance & Commissioning  8,311   8,402   91   

Finance  8,900   9,192   292   

Sub Total (Corporate Strategy, Commissioning & Public Health)  35,946   36,615   669   

Central Budgets  24,047   18,208   (5,839)  

General Fund Total   287,080   287,107   27   

             
     
                         

Page 65



 

20 
 

  Appendix 2a)  
General Fund Earmarked Reserves             

  

1st April 2019 
(incl. 2019-20 
budget report 

approvals) 

Drawdown/ 
Contribution 

in-year 

Early 
Closedown 

Review 

Reserves 
position as at 

31st March 
2020 

2020/21 
Budget 
 Report 

Approvals 

Reserves 
position as at 
1st April 2020 

   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000  
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)                (268)           14,664                 14,396                 14,396  
Schools (other)             (9,476)               (491)                 (9,967)                 (9,967) 

Total Statutory (School Reserves)             (9,744)           14,173                   4,429                                          4,429  

Earmarked              
Financial Resilience Reserves           (37,146)                 (37,146)              (37,146) 

Earmarked (Other)             
Rollover             (2,161)                223                 1,282                   (656)                    (656) 
Revenue Grants (various)           (12,924)             3,829                  (9,095)                 (9,095) 
Public Health             (2,069)                919                  (1,150)                 (1,150) 
Stronger Families Grant             (1,817)                806                  (1,011)                 (1,011) 
Insurance             (1,900)                  (1,900)                 (1,900) 
Ward Based Activity             (1,227)                   28                  (1,199)                 (1,199) 
Social Care Reserve             (2,496)                301                  (2,195)                 (2,195) 
Property and Other Loans             (3,000)                    -                    (3,000)                 (3,000) 
Adverse Weather             (3,000)                568                  (2,432)                 (2,432) 
Strategic Investment support             (5,400)             1,421                  (3,979)                  (250)               (4,229) 
Waste Management           (11,000)             1,316                  (9,684)                4,000                (5,684) 
Mental Health             (1,400)                  (1,400)                 (1,400) 
Business Rates             (2,000)                  (2,000)                 (2,000) 
Covid 19 Response              (11,099)            (11,099)              (11,099) 
School PFI            (2,184)                 (2,184)                 (2,184) 
Demand Reserve            (5,000)              (6,706)            (11,706)              (4,000)            (15,706) 
Place Partnership Theme                      (2,000)               (2,000) 
Other             (5,032)           (1,004)                 (6,036)                 (6,036) 

Total - Earmarked Other            (55,426)            1,223             (16,523)            (70,726)              (2,250)            (72,976) 

Sub Total Earmarked Reserves           (92,572)             1,223             (16,523)          (107,872)              (2,250)          (110,122) 
GENERAL BALANCES           (10,215)                216                        -                  (9,999)                 (9,999) 
Grand Total        (112,531)           15,612             (16,523)          (113,442)              (2,250)          (115,692) 
Total usable reserves (excluding schools (other) and public health)        (100,986)           (102,325)          (104,575) 

P
age 66



 

21 
 

Appendix 2b) 
GLOSSARY OF RESERVES 

RESERVE 
 

DESCRIPTION 

School Reserves Statutory reserves relating to both individual schools balances/deficits carried 
forwards, and Dedicated Schools Grant (ring-fenced for schools related expenditure; 
surpluses/deficits carried forward). 

Financial Resilience Covers a range of potential costs highlighted in the Council’s corporate risk register, 
including budget risks as set out in the sensitivity analysis within this report. 

Rollover To fund deferred spend commitments against approved rollover 
Revenue Grants Represents grants and contributions recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement before expenditure has been occurred. 
Public Health Timing issues on Public Health grant spend commitments (Public health grant is 

statutorily ring-fenced) 
Stronger Families Set aside reflecting timing issues on expenditure commitments supporting a range of 

Stronger Families activity, funded from external grant. 
Insurance Mitigates against risk from increased liabilities and insurance claims. 
Ward Based Activity Set aside reflecting timing issues on ward based activity spend commitments 
Property and Other 
Loans 

Set aside in part against the potential risk of future loan defaults; in part to offset 
potential unfunded technical accounting entries on general fund revenue arising 
purely arising from the introduction of a new local government accounting code 
intended to strengthen balance sheet transparency.  

Adverse Weather Mitigates against budget risk arising from severe weather events in the District. 
Strategic Investment 
& Support 

To address the scale of development costs required to support the upscaling of 
capital investment activity and major project activity over the MTFP. 

Social Care Set aside to cover phased rollout of a range of social care expenditure commitments 
as agreed at Cabinet, August 2018. 

Mental Health 
(including Domestic 
abuse) 

To support a number of local area based mental health initiatives. 

Business Rates Set aside against potential backdated payments with respect to national company 
business rates appeals, and also to resource the Council’s approved business start 
up and retention policy. 

Elections Smoothing reserve to accommodate annual fluctuations in local and national 
election cyclical costs outside the normal base budget provision. 

Waste Management To support the implementation of the Council’s waste management strategy, 
including phased release over the MTFP to manage current PFI contract transition in 
light of the current Council PFI Waste Contract ending in 2022-23. 

Commercialisation To support Commercialisation opportunities including the One Venue Development 
Plan, to help drive investment in public and community buildings. 

Demand Reserve Set aside to mitigate the impact/volatility of a range of potential demand risks on 
statutorily provided service activity  

Place Partnership 
Theme 

To encourage Place specific local initiatives  

Other Earmarked A range of smaller reserves earmarked for specific purposes, each less than £0.6m.  
General Fund 
Balances 

General reserve set at £10m to support general working capital and cashflow 
requirements. 

 
 

 

Page 67



 

22 
 

 
          Appendix 3 

 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2019-20 - OUTTURN   
  Annual 
   
  Revised Actuals Variance 
  Budget     
       
  £'000 £'000 £'000 
        
Repairs & Maintenance 24,077  24,077  0  
Housing Management 34,187  34,913  726  
Other Expenditure 27,568  26,607  (961) 
Total Expenditure 85,832  85,597  (235) 
        
Rent & Other Income (91,999) (91,325) 674  
Revenue Contribution to Capital Funding 6,167  7,691  1,524  
Repairs & Maintenance Savings Returned 2018/19  (1,200) (1,200) 
Planned transfer from HRA Reserves 0  (763) (763) 
Total 0  (0) (0) 

    

HRA RESERVES       

  
Balance at 
31 March 

2019 

Approved 
Movement in 

Reserves 

Balance at 
31 March 

2020 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Set aside for business risks (4,000)  (4,000) 
In Year Surplus/Deficit  - - 
Contribution from Reserves  763 763 
Set aside to meet investment needs (as per HRA 
Business Plan) (56,282)  (56,282) 
Working balance (1,500)  (1,500) 
Total (61,782) 763 (61,019) 

 
 

Page 68



 

 

 
 

    
                                                                  Appendix 4 

Planned Savings – 2019-20 Outturn 
 

Reference Service Activity Headline Proposal 
Actual Planned Variance 
Saving  Saving  
£000 £000 £000 

EX CP3 Management and Regulatory Planned reduction in Legal Disbursement charges -175 -175 0 
EX CP4 Service Wide Planned reduction in the use of Agency Social Workers -636 -636 0 
TOTAL CHILD PROTECTION AND FAMILY SUPPORT -811 -811 0 

EX IN1 Access Strategy & Delivery – Library and 
Information Centres Re-shape Library and Information Service -300 -300 0 

EX OC7 Access, Strategy & Delivery – Access to 
Services 

New ways of working; customer service 
centres/Kirklees Direct -100 -100 0 

EX OC8 Access Strategy & Delivery – Library and 
Information Centres 

Organisation wide – cross-cutting savings from Place 
based working -300 -300 0 

TOTAL INTEGRATION, ACCESS & COMMUNITY HUB -700 -700 0 

EX AS3 Demand Led Services Reduce spend on independent sector home care and 
apply proportional spend on direct payment -988 -988 0 

EX AS4/5 Independent Sector Residential & Nursing 
Placements 

Reduction of older people and physical disability 
placements -387 -387 0 

EX AS6 Day care and Contracted Services  Review all existing contracts -133 -133 0 
EX AS7 Day care and Contracted Services – Older People’s Independent Sector Day Services -50 -50 0 
EX AS8 Other demand led services Community equipment -33 -33 0 
EX AS 9 Care Phones & Assistive Technology Care Phones – Increased Income 3 -20 23 
New AS1 Care Phones & Assistive Technology Additional savings 0 -250 250 
New AS2 Other demand led services Change in bad debt provision requirement -295 -200 -95 
TOTAL ADULT SOCIAL CARE OPERATION -1,883 -2,061 178 

NEW CR2 Management & Regulatory  Increase income collection efficiency thereby reducing 
bad debt requirement -50 -50 0 

NEW CR3 Management & Regulatory Increased contribution from HRA/KNH for housing 
management service  -1,500 -1,500 0 

TOTAL ECONOMY & INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT -1,550 -1,550 0 
EX CR6 Corporate Landlord New ways of working -300 -300 0 
TOTAL ECONOMY & SKILLS -300 -300 0 
EX CR1 Transport Services Smarter practices/efficiencies -103 -103 0 

P
age 69



 

 

Reference Service Activity Headline Proposal 
Actual Planned Variance 
Saving  Saving  
£000 £000 £000 

EX CR2 Bereavement Services Additional income potential, 20%, through smarter 
marketing/product offer -50 -50 0 

EX CR3 Parks & Open Spaces Increased cost recovery on services from KNH -25 -25 0 

NEW CR1 Management & Regulatory  Income generation initiatives ; 10% booking fee – town 
hall tickets -50 -50 0 

EX CR4 Schools Facilities Management – 
Catering/Assets Meal price increase/reduced subsidy on living wage -55 -55 0 

EX CR5 Schools Facilities Management - Cleaning Realignment to current performance -25 -25 0 
TOTAL ENVIRONMENT -308 -308 0 
NEW ER1 Management & Regulatory  Reduction in the events budget -100 -100 0 
EX ER3 Strategic Investment - Planning Increase in Planning Fees 56 -120 176 
TOTAL GROWTH & HOUSING -44 -220 176 
EX CS3 Finance and Accountancy Efficiency Savings  -185 -201 16 
EX CS5 Welfare and Exchequer More automation on back office services -132 -50 -82 
TOTAL FINANCE -317 -251 -66 

EX CS6 HD-One Financial & HR Transactional 
Services Income generation -118 -100 -18 

EX PI1 Sexual Health Incorporating additional schemes into integrated sexual 
health services main contract 125 -100 225 

EX PI3 / 4 
/ 5 Obesity, Physical Activity, Healthy Child Incorporating additional schemes into healthy child 

programme 151 -103 254 

EX PI2 Substance Misuse Reducing payments in primary care and ongoing 
contract efficiencies 325 -100 425 

TOTAL PUBLIC HEALTH & PEOPLE 483 -403 886 

EX CS1 Transformation team Organisation wide – cross-cutting reduction in sickness 
absence -859 -859 0 

NEW CS1 Management & Regulatory Strategy & Commissioning review -250 -250 0 
TOTAL STRATEGY, INNOVATION & PLANNING -1,109 -1,109 0 
            
TOTAL GENERAL FUND PLANNED BUDGET SAVINGS -6,539 -7,713 1,174 

      
      

 
 
 

P
age 70



 

 

 
          Capital Plan 2019-20 Outturn Summary                                       Appendix 5 a) 

 
 

 Revised 
Budget 

Outturn Variance Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 % 
General Fund     
Aspire & Achieve 13,055 10,230 (2,825) (22) 
Best Start 3 5 2 67 
Independent 200 664 464 232 
Sustainable Economy 51,898 40,511 (11,387) (22) 
Well 3,014 1,506 (1,508) (50) 
Safe & Cohesive 15 8 (7) (47) 
Clean and Green 1,625 1,148 (477) (29) 
Efficient & Effective 3,184 5,758 2,574 81 
GENERAL FUND TOTAL 72,994 59,830 (13,164) (18) 
     
Housing Revenue Account     
Strategic Priorities 4,200 3,215 (985) (23) 
Baseline 17,377 18,165 788 5 
HOUSING REVENUE TOTAL 21,577 21,380 (197) (1) 
     
CAPITAL PLAN TOTAL 94,571 81,210 (13,361) (14) 

 

 
  

P
age 71



 

 

 Key Highlights (variances >£500k)           Appendix 5 b) 
 
 Achieve & Aspire 

 
Sustainable Economy 
 

 
  

Activity Level Annual 
Budget 

£’000 

Variance for  
the year  

£’000 

Comments 

Strategic Priorities    
New Pupil Places       2,679 (888) Majority of underspend is ring-fenced grants to fund the New Pupils Places Strategy.  

Largest Variances £548k on Beaumont Academy due to savings made on final account 
with the gain shared, and £124k on future needs budget.  Underspend in funding on 
Strategic Priorities will be required to rollover for 2020/21 to enable the rolling 
programme on schools to be delivered as part of the Schools Investment Needs Strategy. 

Dewsbury Learning 
Quarter 

2,363 (663) Stage payments are made for this scheme as each phase of work completes and 
remaining works to complete early 2020/21. 

Baseline    
Capital Maintenance  4,479 (876) The majority of funds are contractually committed as part of the 2019-20 Capital 

Maintenance programme, since monies from the construction value is held as retention 
on the majority of schemes. Funding is to be rolled over into the next financial year.   

Activity Level Annual 
Budget 

£’000 

Variance for  
the year  

£’000 

Comments 

Strategic Priorities    
   West Yorkshire plus    
   Transport Schemes 

3,768 (1,153) Variance reflects re-phasing of balance of scheme costs into 2020/21 

   Town Centre Action  
   Plans  
 

7,591 (1,873) Variance reflects part re-phasing of scheme costs into 2020/21 

    

P
age 72



 

 

Sustainable Economy                                    Appendix 5 b)  
  

 
Well                                                  

 
Efficient & Effective                                                  

 

Activity Level Annual 
Budget 

£’000 

Variance for  
the year  

£’000 

Comments 

Baseline    
    Highways  15,854 (1,494) Variance reflects re-phasing of some works into 2020/21 
    Corporate Landlord  
    Asset Investment 

4,793 (1,869) Includes £500k balance of Cremator implementation costs re-phased to 2020/21, and 
other scheme costs that will now complete in 2020/21 

    Vehicle Replacement  
    Programme 

2,505 (1,584) Variance reflects contractually committed spend re-phased into following year 

Activity Level Annual 
Budget 

£’000 

Variance for  
the year  

£’000 

Comments 

Baseline    
Play Strategy   1,132 (745) Slippage mainly on section 106 funded schemes 

Activity Level Annual 
Budget 

£’000 

Variance for  
the year  

£’000 

Comments 

One Off Projects    
Flexible Capital Receipts 
Strategy  

 823 1,822 Additional spend commitment as a result of the year end capitalisation exercise 

Information Technology   100 1,305 Additional spend commitment as a result of the year end capitalisation exercise 

P
age 73



 

 

 
Breakdown of Capital Budget Changes      Appendix 6  
(Since quarter 3 capital monitoring) 

  
£'000 £'000 

QUARTER 3 CAPITAL BUDGET  91,635 
   
Increase in Grants/Contributions   
Strategic Priorities   
West Yorkshire Transport Fund Schemes 1,332  
Pioneer House  277  
Homes England ACP 80 1,689 
   
Baseline   
Economic Resilience:   
Fuel Poverty Boiler Support Grants addition of capital receipt 30  
Forest Trust Grant received for White Rose Forest Scheme  35  
grant claimed back on expenditure to cover costs of the Dewsbury THI 
scheme 115  
Forest Trust Grant received for White Rose Forest Scheme & Waterfront 
Development to cover additional cost 62 242 
   
Highways:   
Developers Contributions (S106) for Liley Lane (Roads Connecting 
Communities) 68  
contribution to a scheme from Yorkshire Water at Lees Hall Road, Thornhill 
Lees 20  
S278 Developer fees received From Harron Homes for Owl Lane, Dewsbury 73  
S278 Developer fees received from Wade Hathaway £148k and S106 fees 
from Stirling Scotfield £82k 230  
Contribution for Blackpool Bridge - Structural work 2  
S278 Developer fees received for Gernhill Ave from Sulmans £188k and 
Harron Homes £4k 192 585 
   
Housing Regeneration:   
£39k to Wakefield Road Demo & £47k to Cemetery Lodge 86  
DFG contributions to schemes over £30k from recipients 31 117 
   
Play Areas: Section 106 payments  193 
   
Learning & Early Support: DFC Capital Funding for Schools  110 
   

Total Additions  2,936 
   

REVISED OUTTURN BUDGET  94,571  
 

  Page 74



 

 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS ACTUALS 2019-20                Appendix 7 
 

Capital Expenditure, Capital Financing Requirement and External Debt 
The table below draws together the main elements of Capital Plan expenditure and financing arrangements.  The 
table also shows the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which is the Council’s underlying external indebtedness 
for a capital purpose, compared with the expected borrowing position. 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 
  Actual Strategy 

Estimate* 
Actual 

 £000s £000s £000s 
Capital Expenditure    
  General Fund  50,820 112,751 59,831 
  HRA 17,595 33,529 21,379 
  Sub-total (excl. PFI) 
 
  General Fund - PFI 

68,415 
 

1,554 

146,280 
 

2,000 

81,210 
 

2,014 
  HRA – PFI 300 250 220 
Total 70,269 148,530 83,444 
    
Financed by -    
Borrowing 17,229 58,572 29,764 
  PFI 1,854 2,250 2,234 
  Other 51,186 87,708 51,446 
Total 70,269 148,530 83,444 
            CFR as at 31 March    
  General Fund excl PFI 436,600 508,900 461,600 
  General Fund PFI 49,300 45,800 45,800 
  HRA excl PFI 175,300 170,700 175,300 
  HRA PFI 52,900 50,500 50,500 
Total CFR 714,100 775,900 733,200 
    
External debt as at 31 March    
  Borrowing (excl interest accrued) 395,870 539,300 426,900 
  Other LT Liabilities 106,266 100,000 100,200 
Total debt 502,136 639,300 527,100 

 

*The PI estimates include an allowance for anticipated slippage of capital expenditure during the year. 
 
The difference between the CFR and total debt reflects the amount of internal balances that are being “borrowed” 
to finance capital indebtedness.   
 
Limits to Borrowing Activity 
The first key control over the Council’s borrowing activity is a Prudential Indicator to ensure that over the medium 
term, net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose.  Net external borrowing should not, except in the short-
term, exceed the total CFR.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  As can be 
seen from the table above, the Council kept its total debt within the CFR and this has also been the case in previous 
years. 
A further two Prudential Indicators control overall level of borrowing.  These are the Authorised Limit and the 
Operational Boundary.  The Authorised Limit represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited.  It reflects 
the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short-term, but is not sustainable.  It is 
the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements.  This is the statutory 
limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
The Operational Boundary is based on the probable external debt during the course of the year.  It is not a limit 
and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times during this year.   
 
 

Page 75



 

 

 2018-19 2019-20 
 Actual (max) Limits/ 

Boundary 
Actual (max) 

 £m £m £m 
Authorised limit for external debt    
Borrowing  395.9 665.0 426.9 
Other Long Term Liabilities 106.3 101.3 100.2 
Total 502.2 766.3 527.1 
Operational boundary for external 
debt 

   

Borrowing  395.9 665.0 426.9 
Other Long Term Liabilities 106.3 101.3 100.2 
Total 502.2 766.3 527.1 

 
 

The Council was well within its Authorised limit and Operational Boundary for the year.   
 
There is also a limit on HRA indebtedness set by the Department for Communities and Local Government under 
the recent HRA self-financing reform.  The limit is set at £247.6 million for the HRA CFR, excluding PFI liabilities.  
The actual HRA CFR excluding PFI liabilities as at 31 March 2020 is £175.3 million which is well within the limit. 
 
Affordability Prudential Indicators 
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  
This indicator identifies the cost of capital (borrowing costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream.  The net revenue stream for General Fund is defined as the amount to be met from un-ringfenced 
government grants and local taxpayers, and for HRA it refers to the total HRA income (rent, other income and 
grant). 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 
 Actual Estimate Actual 

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream 

   

General Fund 
General Fund excl PFI 

5.93% 
 3.69% 

5.43% 
3.15% 

5.98%  
3.72% 

HRA 29.63% 31.38% 32.12% 
HRA excl PFI 31.53% 29.87% 30.47% 

 

 
The actual for General Fund for 2019-20 was slightly larger than estimated due to an increase in financing costs 
and reduction in net revenue stream.  The PIs have marginally increased for HRA due to changes in depreciation 
charged to Council dwellings and income levels in year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 76



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 a) 
 
      Capital Plan Expenditure Summary 

 Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 
2020/21 – 2024/25 Capital Plan 
Expenditure Summary 

2019-20                   
£'000 

 2020-21            
£'000 

2021 to 25            
£'000 

Total                       
£'000 

General Fund:      
Achieve & Aspire 10,230  18,408 55,476 73,884 
Best Start 5  748 9,250 9,998 
Independent 664  1,855 22,606 24,461 
Sustainable Economy 40,511  123,481 379,199 502,680 
Well 1,506  14,617 15,964 30,581 
Safe & Cohesive 8  185 0 185 
Clean & Green 1,148  8,706 42,085 50,791 
Efficiency & Effectiveness 5,758  2,955 7,685 10,640 

General Fund Capital Plan 59,830  170,955 532,265 703,220 
      
Housing Revenue Account:      
Independent - Strategic Priorities 3,215  13,448 72,523 85,971 
Independent - Baseline 18,165  21,084 76,545 97,629 

 HRA Capital Plan 21,380  34,532 149,068 183,600 
       

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 81,210  205,487 681,333 886,820 

 
      Capital Plan Funding Summary       
   

 Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 
Funding Summary 2019-20                   

£'000 
 2020-21            

£'000 
2021 to 25            

£'000 
Total                       
£'000 

Direct / Earmarked Contributions to Schemes     
Capital Grants / Contributions applied 24,229  63,761 252,561 316,322 
Earmarked Capital Receipts 1,567  5,837 46,979 52,816 
Revenue Contributions (HRA) 7,691  16,738 44,385 61,123 
Reserves -MRR (HRA) 12,593  11,493 59,778 71,271 
Revenue Contributions (General Fund) 0  200 800 1,000 
Pooled Resources      
Non Earmarked Capital Receipts 5,366  2,950 13,950 16,900 
Corporate Prudential Borrowing 29,764  104,508 262,880 367,388 
FUNDING 81,210  205,487 681,333 886,820 

  
  

Page 77



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21 and 2021 to 2025 including Rollover     Appendix 8 b) 
 
  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

        
ASPIRE & ACHIEVE  

     
 Strategic Priorities       

        
 Alternative Provision School B 0  0 9,999 9,999 
 Special School - SEMHD B 0  100 14,900 15,000 
 Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) School  B 0  0 3,000 3,000 
 District Sufficiency - SEND  0  100 27,899 27,999 

         

 Brambles Primary Academy 
G/ 

S106 432  2,684 5,563 8,247 
 King James High School B 0  5,250 0 5,250 
 Almondbury Community School B 0  275 0 275 
 Netherhall Learning Campus B 0  200 0 200 
 Scissett Middle School S106 0  210 0 210 
 Birkby Junior Expansion G 1195  200 0 200 
 Beaumont Academy (Moorend) G 79  30 0 30 
 Reprovision of Special School - Lydgate B 1  88 0 88 
 Royds Hall G 8  0 0 0 
 Future Needs for Primary/Secondary places G/B 76  865 373 1,238 

 
New Pupil Places in Primary/Secondary 
Schools 

 1,791  9,802 5,936 15,738 

        
 Dewsbury Learning Quarter B 1,699  664 0 664 

        
 Libraries & Public Buildings B 103  814 3,984 4,798 

 Almondbury Library B 45  55 0 55 
 Libraries & Public Buildings  148  869 3,984 4,853 
        

 Strategic Priorities Total  3,638  11,435 37,819 49,254 

 Baseline       

 Basic Need G 633  500 2,000 2,500 

 Capital Maintenance G 3,603  4,263 11,800 16,063 
 Capital Maintenance (Newsome High) B 0  387 0 387 

 Devolved Formula Capital G 1,551  852 2,950 3,802 
 Baseline Total  5,787  6,002 16,750 22,752 
 
  

Page 78



 

 

 
  Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover  Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

 One Off Projects       
 SEND Provision G 513  500 746 1,246 

 

Commissioning option appraisals to 
facilitate the delivery of the outcomes of the 
SEN High Level review of future needs 

B 24  350 161 511 

 Healthy Pupils G 280  80 0 80 
 Completed Schemes B -12  41 0 41 
 One Off Projects Total  805  971 907 1,878 
        

 ACHIEVE & ASPIRE TOTAL  10,230  18,408 55,476 73,884 
        

BEST START       
 Strategic Priorities       
 Specialist Accommodation/Youth Services B/G 5  742 9,250 9,992 
 Strategic Priorities Total  5  742 9,250 9,992 
 One Off Projects        
 DofE Cabin Contribution B 0  6 0 6 
 One Off Projects Total  0  6 0 6 
         
 BEST START TOTAL  5  748 9,250 9,998 

 
     

Page 79



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

       
INDEPENDENT       
 Strategic Priorities       

 

Commissioning Option Appraisals to 
facilitate outcomes of Specialist 
Accommodation Strategy 

B 19  50 6 56 

 Cherry Trees B 75  627 34 661 
 Day Services Support for Vulnerable Adults B 41  400 21,816 22,216 
 Strategic Priorities Total  135  1,077 21,856 22,933 
  One Off Projects       

 Adults Social Care Operation G 512  165 700 865 

 
Adults Social Care Operation - AT IT 
Consultant 

G 0   50 0 50 

 Highfields B 17  13 0 13 
 Carefirst System Replacement R 0  550 50 600 
 One Off Projects Total  529  778 750 1,528 

            
  INDEPENDENT TOTAL   664  1,855 22,606 24,461 
        
SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY       
 Strategic Priorities       
 A62 & A644 Corridors & Cooper Bridge G 533  817 67,300 68,117 
 KC1 Dews Ring Road Multi node scoot G 100  59 0 59 
 KC2 A644 Ravens to Dews Streetworks G 76  84 0 84 
 KC3 A652 Dews to Batley Streetworks G 18  102 0 102 
 CCAG2 Bradley to Brighouse  66     

 
Corridor Improvement Programme – A62 
Smart Corridor G 511  2,021 5,098 7,119 

 
Corridor Improvement Programme - 
Holmfirth Town Centre Access Plan G 100  646 4,019 4,665 

 Huddersfield Southern Corridors G 253  3,941 3,725 7,666 
 A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor (M2D2L) G 84  2,176 10,018 12,194 
 A629 Ainley Top to Huddersfield (Phase 5) G 718  2,750 8,078 10,828 
 Huddersfield Station Gateway Phase 1 G 89  1,335 3,640 4,975 
 Huddersfield Station gateway Phase 2 G 26  5 4,991 4,996 
 North Kirklees Orbital Route (NKOR) G 60  10 0 10 
 UTMC Urban Traffic Management  G 85  20 0 20 
 Transforming Cities Fund G 151  4,049 35,500 39,549 
 WYTF Land Acquisition B -255  628 0 628 
 West Yorkshire plus Transport Schemes  2,615  18,643 142,369 161,012 
        
        

Page 80



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY       

 

Aspirational Regeneration of Major Town 
Centres - Feasibility 

B 241  241 0 241 

 

Regeneration of Strategic Town Centres - 
Dewsbury 

B 616  7,295 7,400 14,695 

 

Regeneration of Strategic Town Centres - 
Huddersfield 

B 4,861  5,422 19,406 24,828 

 Town Centre Action Plans  5,718  12,958 26,806 39,764 
        

 
Regeneration and Greening of Smaller 
Towns and Villages 

B 0  1,000 9,000 10,000 

           
 Market Hall Multi-Storey Car Park R 0  500 9,500 10,000 
 Dewsbury Staff Move & Regeneration B 0  50 8,450 8,500 
 Soundspace B/G 0  0 35,000 35,000 

 
Additional Investment into Strategic Town 

Centres 
 0  550 52,950 53,500 

         
 Strategic Acquisition Fund B 0  4,000 8,000 12,000 
 Castle House B* 0  0 2,450 2,450 
 Strategic Acquisition Fund  0  4,000 10,450 14,450 
         

 Dewsbury Riverside B/G 0  12,000 21,000 33,000 
            
 KSDL (HD One) B 0  4,100 8,900 13,000 

 Property Investment Fund B** 807  17,693 6,327 24,020 

 Loans - Development Finance  807  21,793 15,227 37,020 
        

 Homes England - Accelerated Const Prog G 65  15 0 15 
 Site Development G 0  6,000 0 6,000 
            
 Public Realm Improvements B 788  457   457 
            
 Start Up & Retention Policy Capital Grants RR 0  200 800 1,000 
            
 Strategic Priorities Total  9,993  77,616 278,602 356,218 

    
 
 
 
  Page 81



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY  
     

 Baseline       
 Housing (Private) G/R 3,136  3,621 16,162 19,783 

 Highways G/B 16,534  25,232 46,985 72,217 
            

 Corporate Landlord Asset Investment B 2,924  5,752 17,200 22,952 
 Corporate Landlord Compliance B 1,141  1,153 4,000 5,153 
 Corporate Landlord  4,065  6,905 21,200 28,105 
            

 
Corporate Landlord Suitability 
Programme 

B 0  0 4,000 4,000 

 
Sustainability of Huddersfield Town Hall - 
Conditions 

B 0  150 3,350 3,500 

 

Corporate Landlord Asset Strategy 
Review 

 0  150 7,350 7,500 

         
 Bereavement B 113  720 700 1,420 
 Vehicle Replacement Programme B 922  2,834 5,000 7,834 
 School Catering B 134  329 800 1,129 

 Baseline Total  24,904  39,791 98,197 137,988 
        

 One-Off Projects       
 Housing (Regeneration) G/R 359  540 0 540 

 Economic Resilience G/B/R 906  731 0 731 
 Strategic Asset Utilisation B 619  225 0 225 

 Leeds City Region Revolving Fund B 0  1,211 0 1,211 
 Highways (Street Lighting) B* 3,696  2,810 2,000 4,810 

 

School Catering - Compliance Essential 
Works 

B* 17  463 400 863 

 Ward Based Activity B 17  94 0 94 

 One-Off Projects Total  5,614  6,074 2,400 8,474 

           

  SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY TOTAL   40,511  123,481 379,199 502,680 

        
 
     
  

Page 82



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

WELL       
 Strategic Priorities       
 Spenborough Valley Leisure Centre B 885  7,407 7,521 14,928 
 Huddersfield Leisure Centre B 41  179 0 179 
 Dewsbury Sports Centre Priorities B 193  298 1,950 2,248 
 Strategic Priorities Total  1,119  7,884 9,471 17,355 
         
 Baseline        
 KAL Self Finance Programme B* 0  661 2,400 3,061 
 Play Strategy B/G 387  6,072 4,093 10,165 
 Baseline Total  387  6,733 6,493 13,226 
            
  WELL TOTAL  1,506  14,617 15,964 30,581 

        
SAFE AND COHESIVE       
 Strategic Priorities       
 Youth Offending Team B 8  185 0 185 
 Strategic Priorities Total  8  185 0 185 
            
  SAFE AND COHESIVE TOTAL  8  185 0 185 

        
CLEAN AND GREEN       
 Strategic Priorities       
 Depot Works B 16  460 25 485 
 Garden Waste Containers and Vehicles  599  5,288 0 5,288 

 
Waste Management Plant/Infrastructure B/B* 

/G 0  0 27,000 27,000 

 Climate Emergency - Green Travel B 0  2,000 0 2,000 
 Air Quality B 0  352 0 352 
 Huddersfield Heat Network G 0  0 14,660 14,660 

 Strategic Priorities Total  615  8,100 41,685 49,785 
           
 Baseline          
 Environment & Strategic Waste B 494  100 400 500 
 Baseline Total  494  100 400 500 
 One Off Projects           
 Electric Vehicle Charge Points G 39  506 0 506 
 One Off Projects Total  39  506 0 506 
            
 CLEAN AND GREEN TOTAL  1,148  8,706 42,085 50,791 

     
     Page 83



 

 

  Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover  Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN 

Funding 

 
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

        
EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS       
 Baseline       
 Information Technology B* 905  900 3,600 4,500 
 Flexible Capital Receipts R 2,645     

 One Venue Development B 21  282 800 1,082 

 
Sustainability of Major Town Halls - Service 
Development B* 97  450 1,785 2,235 

 Baseline Total  3,668  1,632 6,185 7,817 
           

 One Off Projects          
 Information Technology (Digital) B 1,404  800 1,500 2,300 
 Information Technology B 208  384 0 384 
 Occupational Health I.T. B 29  0 0 0 

 Internal Renovation works B 449  139 0 139 
 One Off Projects Total  2,090  1,323 1,500 2,823 
           

  EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS TOTAL   5,758  2,955 7,685 10,640 

        
GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PLAN TOTAL   59,830  170,955 532,265 703,220 

 
FUNDING KEY: 
B = Borrowing 
B* = Service funded Borrowing - Work is ongoing to remove this category and have one system of prudential 
borrowing. 
G = Grant  
R = Capital receipts 

 

      
  

Page 84



 

 

Capital Plan 2020-21-2024-25 including Rollover   Appendix 8 b) 
 

  Outturn  Revised Capital Plan 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
CAPITAL PLAN Fu

nd
in

g  
2019-20                   

£'000 

  
2020-21            

£'000 

2021 to 
25            

£'000 

 
Total                       
£'000 

       
Strategic Priorities       
Housing Growth H / R 3,162  5,948 17,456 23,404 
New Build Phase 1 - Ashbrow Extra Care H/G 0  1,500 5,567 7,067 
Remodelling / High Rise H 0  1,500 10,500 12,000 
IT System (Universal Housing Replacement) H 0  500 500 1,000 
Council House Building B/R/

H 0  4,000 38,500 42,500 

Miscellaneous H 53     
Strategic Priorities Total  3,215  13,448 72,523 85,971 

       
Baseline       
Housing Capital Plan H 14,994  9,995 43,518 53,513 
Estate Improvements (Neighbourhood 
Investment) H 617  1,624 4,535 6,159 

Compliance H 70  5,790 13,392 19,182 
Fuel poverty H / 

G 0  826 3,302 4,128 

Adaptations H 2,484  2,849 11,798 14,647 
Baseline Total   18,165  21,084 76,545 97,629 

           
TOTAL HRA CAPITAL PLAN  21,380  34,532 149,068 183,600 

 
FUNDING KEY:  
H = HRA revenue contribution/major repairs reserve  
R = Capital receipts  
G = Grant 
B = Borrowing 

 
 
 
  

Page 85



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 
2 Yr Total  

£ 

ASSET MANAGEMENT           
1A - Principal Roads           
Principal Road Surfacing Dressing Programme C.61131   790,000  550,000  1,340,000  
Pre Surface dressing patching C.61132   350,000  250,000  600,000  
SCRIM deficient sites C.62860   220,000    220,000  
A62 Leeds Road Bradley to Cooper Bridge, 
Huddersfield  (HM Challenge Fund) C.64421   1,650,000    1,650,000  
A62 Castlegate, Huddersfield C.64551   750,000    750,000  
A62 Queensgate, Huddersfield C.65325     500,000  500,000  
A62 Huddersfield Road, Birstall C.65326   200,000    200,000  
A653 Leeds Road, Shaw Cross C.65442   200,000  400,000  600,000  
A644 Huddersfield Road, Ravensthorpe C.65441     370,000  370,000  
A641 / A6107 Bradley Bar roundabout C.64986   45,000   45,000  
A616 Sheffield Road, New Mill     425,000  100,000  525,000  
A6024 Woodhead Road Landslip (HM 
Challenge Fund)     1,010,000    1,010,000  
Principal Roads - Schemes to be identified       80,000  80,000  
Priority footway programme -Schemes to be 
identified     158,824  150,000  308,824  
            
    B 0  0  0  
    G 5,798,824  2,400,000  8,198,824  
    T 5,798,824  2,400,000  8,198,824  
      
1B - Roads Connecting Communities           
B & C Road Surface Dressing Programme C.61178   210,000  210,000  420,000  
Pre surface dressing patching C.61179   250,000  250,000  500,000  
B6432 Firth Street, Huddersfield C.64091   55,000  227,000  282,000  
Queen Street South, Huddersfield C.65327     68,000  68,000  
Mill Street East, Dewsbury C.65328   410,000    410,000  
Peel Street, Marsden including Station Road C.65329   245,000    245,000  
C557 Blackmoorfoot Road C.65438   225,000    225,000  
C566 Leys Lane/Park Lane Emley C.65443     100,000  100,000  
Gledholt Bank C.65484   245,000    245,000  
C565 Upper Lane Emley       150,000  150,000  
Roads Connecting Communities - Schemes to 
be identified         0  
Smithy Brook Lane flags to flex C.65483   45,000    45,000  
Hostingley Lane slurry seal C.65482   25,000    25,000  
Falledge Lane Upper Denby slurry seal C.65481   25,000    25,000  
Priority footway programme schemes to be 
identified     116,234  70,000  186,234  

  
Page 86



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 

2 Yr Total  
£ 

    B 0  0  0  
    G 1,851,234  1,075,000  2,926,234  
    T 1,851,234  1,075,000  2,926,234  
            
1C  - Unclassified Roads           
U Road Patching C.64298   180,000  300,000  480,000  
U Road Surface Dressing C.64299   180,000  200,000  380,000  
Leymoor Road, Golcar C.64102   100,000  100,000  200,000  
Bent Ley Road, Meltham C.64383   120,000    120,000  
Heys Lane Slaithwaite C.65444   125,000    125,000  
Hoyle House Fold, Linthwaite C.65445   110,000    110,000  
Cambridge Road / Clare Hill, Huddersfield C.64893   120,000    120,000  
Highlands Ave / Highcroft Cres, Almondbury C.65447   150,000  200,000  350,000  
St Paul's Road, Kirkheaton C.64904     100,000  100,000  
Upper Road Batley C.65435     125,000  125,000  
Market Place Slaithwaite C.65430     20,000  20,000  
Underbank Old Road Holmfirth C.65434     105,000  105,000  
Serpentine Road, Cleckheaton C.64901     175,000  175,000  
Robertown Lane C.65432     140,000  140,000  
LonglandsRoad/Royd Street/Hill Top Road 
Slaithwaite C.65429   210,000    210,000  
Bradley Mills Road C.65449   190,000  200,000  390,000  
Crossley Lane Mirfield C.65489     120,000  120,000  
Woodsome Estate, Batley       90,000  90,000  
Dark Lane Batley       50,000  50,000  
Eightlands Dewsbury C.65491   88,000    88,000  
Proprietary surface treatment schemes to be 
identified       100,000  100,000  
            
Localilty Based U Roads improvements 
(£10m)           
Programme supporting events     500,000    500,000  
Hotspots Phase 1      1,300,000    1,300,000  
White Gate Road, Cartworth Moor Retread C.65437   152,000    152,000  
Cote Lane/Greave Road Hade Edge Retread C.65446   125,000    125,000  
Cartworth Moor Road Retread C.65448   95,000    95,000  
Binn Lane Marsden Retread C.65439   40,000    40,000  
Reddisher Road Retread C.65431   100,000    100,000  
Back Lane Grange Moor Retread C.65440   45,000    45,000  
Nether Moor Road Crosland Moor Retread C.65433   50,000    50,000  
Cliff Road Holmfirth Retread C.65436   145,000    145,000  
Flush House Lane Holmbridge Retread     85,000    85,000  
Fallhouse Lane/Fixby Lane Retread     150,000    150,000  

  Page 87



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Fundin
g 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 

2 Yr Total  
£ 

Stony Gate Cartworth Moor - Overlay on 
retread sites  C.65504   20,000    20,000  
Moorside Lane Slaithwaite - Overlay on 
retread sites  C.65500   82,000    82,000  
Mellor Brook Slaithwaite - Overlay on retread 
sites  C.65499   20,000    20,000  
High House Lane Linthwaite - Overlay on 
retread sites  C.65494   82,000    82,000  
Highfield Road Slaithwaite - Overlay on 
retread sites  C.65495   70,000    70,000  
Magdale Honley - Overlay on retread sites  C.65498   16,000    16,000  
Hollin House Lane New Mill - Overlay on 
retread sites  C.65497   30,000   30,000  
Localilty Based U Roads improvements - 
schemes to be identified     1,893,000  5,000,000  6,893,000  
            
LHMG Pothole funding (£3,828,183)           
Carlinghow Hill C.65485   230,000    230,000  
Carr Green Lane incl Rawthorpe Lane C.65486   800,000    800,000  
Cemetery Lane C.65488   150,000    150,000  
Dirker Drive C.65490   150,000    150,000  
Forge Lane C.65493   500,000    500,000  
Longmoor Lane incl Coal Pit Lane and 
Burncliffe Hill C.65497   170,000    170,000  
Oxford Road Dewsbury C.65501   230,000    230,000  
Royd Street Milnsbridge C.65502   130,000    130,000  
Spring Lane New Mill C.65503   150,000    150,000  
Cawley Lane Heckmondwike C.65487   270,000    270,000  
DFT challenge fund top 10 scheme 
development C.65251   30,000    30,000  
LHMG Pothole funding - schemes to be 
identified     1,018,183    1,018,183  
            
Wasp Nest Rd / Mead Street, Birkby - 
pavement repairs C.64906   50,000    50,000  
Fibre works - pavement repairs C.65010   10,000    10,000  
Cow Heys - pavement repairs C.64895   65,000    65,000  
Fairfields Upper Denby - pavement repairs C.65492   100,000    100,000  
Towngate Grove Mirfield - pavement repairs C.65505   30,000    30,000  
Acre Lane Meltham - pavement repairs C.65480   70,000    70,000  
Pavement repaires - schemes to identify       100,000  100,000  
            
    B 6,530,000  6,530,000  13,060,000  
    G 4,196,183  595,000  4,791,183  
    T 10,726,183  7,125,000  17,851,183  
            Page 88



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    
£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 
2 Yr Total  

£ 

1D - Structures           
Principal Inspections (80254) C.61211   150,000  150,000  300,000  
General Inspections (81837) C.61212   50,000  50,000  100,000  
Un-programmed Inspections (82424) C.61218   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Structures Interim Measures (80622) C.61221   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Structures Assessments (2319) C.61222   80,000  50,000  130,000  
Third Party Liaisons C.61224   20,000  20,000  40,000  
Abnormal Load Movements (83715) C.61225   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Asset Management C.61227   75,000  150,000  225,000  
Wall Surveys (80619) C.64258   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Retaining Walls Bulk (2438) C.61216   300,000  100,000  400,000  
Reactive Wall Maintenance (84608) C.62307   100,000  138,000  238,000  
Minor Structural Maintenance (1877) C.61210   250,000  240,000  490,000  
Bridge Strategy (8170) C.61217   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Future Design Works (80440) C.61223   10,000  20,000  30,000  
Haigh Culvert, Flockton - K1227 C.64988   44,000  0  44,000  
Thick Hollins Dike Bridge- Meltham - K0033 C.62517   10,000  232,000  242,000  
Mill Moor Road Culvert, Meltham- K1066 C.62518   100,000  0  100,000  
Royd St Bridge, Milnsbridge -K0041 C.64676   220,000  0  220,000  
Willow Lane Bridge, Birkby- K0088 C.64677   170,000  0  170,000  
South View Culvert, Jackson Bridge - K1227 C.64999   60,000  0  60,000  
Lower Clough Culvert, Linthwaite -K1051 C.65000   25,000  0  25,000  
New Strengthening Schemes to be identified     415,607  0  415,607  
            
    B 0  0  0  
    G 2,129,607  1,200,000  3,329,607  
    T 2,129,607  1,200,000  3,329,607  
            
1F Street Lighting Replacement Strategy           
BUDGET HOLDING CODE C.60911   34,807  50,000  84,807  
HM81568 SLPROGDEVELO C.60919   15,000  30,000  45,000  
Almondbury 2016 - LED upgrade C.63892   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Ashbrow 2016 - LED upgrade C.63893   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Batley East 2016 - LED upgrade C.63894   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Batley West 2016 - LED upgrade C.63895   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Birstall & Birkenshaw  2016 - LED upgrad C.63896   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Cleckheaton 2016 - LED upgrade C.63897   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Colne Valley 2016 - LED upgrade C.63898   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Crosland Moor & Netherton 2016 - LED upg C.63899   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Dalton 2016 - LED upgrade C.63900   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Denby Dale 2016 - LED upgrade C.63901   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Dewsbury East 2016 - LED upgrade C.63902   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Dewsbury South 2016 - LED upgrade C.63903   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Dewsbury West 2016 - LED upgrade C.63904   120,000  40,000  160,000  

  
Page 89



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 
2 Yr Total  

£ 

Golcar 2016 - LED upgrade C.63905   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Greenhead 2016 - LED upgrade C.63906   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Heckmondwike 2016 - LED upgrade C.63907   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Holme Valley North 2016 - LED upgrade C.63908   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Holme Valley South 2016 - LED upgrade C.63909   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Kirkburton 2016 - LED upgrade C.63910   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Lindley 2016 - LED upgrade C.63911   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Liversedge & Gomersal 2016 - LED upgrade C.63912   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Mirfield 2016 - LED upgrade C.63913   120,000  40,000  160,000  
Newsome 2016 - LED upgrade C.63914   120,000  40,000  160,000  
            
    B 2,809,807  1,000,000  3,809,807  
    G 0  0  0  
    T 2,809,807  1,000,000  3,809,807  
            
1J - Unadopted Roads           
Schemes to identify   B  50,000  50,000  50  
    G 0  0  0  
    T 50,000  50,000  100,000  

      
Maintenance Total   T 23,365,655 12,850,000 36,215,655 
External Funding   T 13,975,848 5,270,000 19,245,848 
Net Maintenance Total   T 9,389,807 7,580,000 16,969,807 

          
            

INTEGRATED TRANSPORT           
2A - Integrated Public Transport           
General Scheme Development C.61008   46,000  48,000  94,000  
Bus Hotspots C.63363   253,072  120,000  373,072  
Schemes to identify     50,612  0  50,612  
Air Quality Management Scheme C.64025   125,000  115,000  240,000  
            
    B     0  
    G 474,684  283,000  757,684  
    T 474,684  283,000  757,684  
            
2B - Network Management           
Replacement of Obsolete Poles  C.62523   190,774  0  190,774  
Southgate / Sainsbury’s C.65392   86,000  0  86,000  
Gelderd Road / Oakwell Way C.65394   30,000  0  30,000  
Bradford Road / Rouse Mill Lane C.65395   85,000  0  85,000  
Denby Dale Crossings Remote Monitoring C.65397   60,000  0  60,000  

 Page 90



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 
2 Yr Total  

£ 

Area Wide Crossing Refurbishments - 
schemes to identify     100,000  831,000  931,000  
WYCA schemes     340,000  0  340,000  
            
    B 100,000  100,000  200,000  
    G 791,774  731,000  1,522,774  
    T 891,774  831,000  1,722,774  
            
2C -  Cycling and Walking           
Programme Development C.60905 B/G 67,000  70,000  137,000  
Disabled Crossing Facilities C.60983   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Neighbourhood Path Imps C.60984   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Urban Path Improvements C.60985   10,000  10,000  20,000  
Schemes to be identified     35,971  20,000  55,971  
            
    B 20,000  20,000  40,000  
    G 112,971  100,000  212,971  
    T 132,971  120,000  252,971  
            
2E - Safer Roads           
Streets for People C.663341 G 548,000  450,000  998,000  
Moving Speed Indicator Devices C.664444 B 70,000    70,000  
Speed Limit Review C.664283 G 85,000    85,000  
Springwood Road Car Park C.662847 B 150,000    150,000  
A649 Walton Lane - roundabouts C.64639 G 120,000    120,000  
Huddersfield Town Centre Casualty 
Reduction  C.65095 G 70,000    70,000  
Forge Lane, Thornhill Lees C.65094 G 60,000    60,000  
Mill Street East, Dewsbury C.65097 G 95,000    95,000  
Shelley college crossing C.65276 G 87,000    87,000  
VAS refurb C.63850 G 20,000    20,000  
Acre Street Lindley - surfacing signal 
approach C.64641 G 10,000    10,000  
B6432 Firth Street - zebra to pelican C.65090 G 50,000    50,000  
Penistone Road / Fenay Bridge Road C.65092 G 50,000    50,000  
Meltham Town Centre C.64291 G 10,000    10,000  
Sovereign - YE works C.64318 G 20,000    20,000  
Skid Reduction remedial works C.64282 G 10,000    10,000  
VAS refurb C.63850 G 20,000    20,000  
zebra lighting upgrades   G 38,000    38,000  
Heaton Road   B 30,000    30,000  
Headlands Road   G 25,000    25,000  
Cowrakes Road j/w Crosland Road   G 20,000    20,000  
Honley zebra upgrade   G 17,000    17,000  Page 91



 

 

2 Year Detailed Highways Capital Plan    Appendix 9 
 

Programme Capital 
code 

Funding 

2020-21 
Budget    

£ 

2021-22 
Budget     

£ 
2 Yr Total  

£ 

Hostingley Lane    G 10,000    10,000  
20/21 Casualty Reduction small scale 
schemes   G 46,772    46,772  
2021/2022 schemes to be identified       1,011,000  1,011,000  
            
    B 250,000  250,000  500,000  
    G 1,411,722  1,211,000  2,622,722  
    T 1,661,722  1,461,000  3,122,722  
            
2K - Flood Management and Drainage 
Improvements           
Minor Drainage Works C.60999 B 250,000  250,000  500,000  
Flood Management schemes C.62530 B 200,000  200,000  400,000  
Environmental Health (EH) schemes to 
identify    G 282,204    282,204  
EH - Kirklees Culvert Programme C.63012 G 245,000  230,000  475,000  
EH - North Mirfield Flood Risk Study C.65260 G 10,000    10,000  
EH - Priority Clusters #4   G 14,000    14,000  
EH - Priority Clusters #5   G 14,000    14,000  
EH - Priority Clusters #6   G 20,000    20,000  
EH - Priority Clusters #7   G 20,000    20,000  
Drainage Challenge Fund - scheme to identify  C.64422 G 14,409    14,409  
NPIF - scheme to identify C.64398 G 13,249    13,249  
            
    B 450,000  450,000  900,000  
    G 632,862  230,000  862,862  
    T 1,082,862  680,000  1,762,862  
            
2L - Developer Funded Schemes   B     0  
    G 432,085  0  432,085  
    T 432,085  0  432,085  
            

      
IT Total   T 4,676,098  3,375,000  8,051,098  

External Funding   T 3,856,098  2,555,000  6,411,098  
Net IT Total   T 820,000  820,000  1,640,000  

       
Gross Programme Total     28,041,752 16,225,000 44,266,752 
External Funding     17,831,945 7,825,000 25,656,945 
Net Programme Total     10,209,807 8,400,000 18,609,807 

  

Page 92



 

 

FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY         Appendix 10  

1. Government guidance allows the capitalisation of certain types of qualifying revenue expenditure in-year, 
funded from the flexible use of ‘in-year’ generated capital receipts. It covers in-year capital receipts 
generated in-year, from 2016-17 to 2021-22 inclusive. 
 

2. In-year generated capital receipts includes general fund receipts from the sale of general fund land and 
buildings. It also includes ‘right to buy’ (RTB) receipts from the sale of Council houses. These are remaining 
receipts that are also available to the Council, after taking account of the Council’s other obligations in 
relation to RTB receipts generated in-year.  

 
3. It is proposed that consideration be given to applying ‘in-year’ capital receipts generated, to fund the 

following qualifying capitalised revenue expenditure, in line with original DCLG guidance issued in March 
2016, as follows : 
 

i) funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff or non-staff), where this 
leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation; 

 
Qualifying expenditure in 2019-20 

 £2.3m transformation spend – used to support the programme Management Office and the Council’s 
external business partner in providing governance, monitoring, review and delivery of transformation and 
change. 

 £0.3m voluntary severance costs – will deliver future ongoing efficiency savings to the council through a 
rationalised workforce. 

 
ii) driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how the public interacts with 

constituent authorities where possible;  
                     

4. The time period relating to the above qualifying expenditure covers 2018-19 and the following 2 years. The 
original DCLG guidance covered the 2016-19 period, but this was subsequently extended by a further 3 years, 
to 2021-22, following the Autumn Statement announcement on November 17th, 2017. 

 
5. The extent to which capital receipts will actually be applied in-year will take into account the following 

factors: 
i) the amount of capital receipts actually generated in-year; 
ii) the amount of qualifying capitalisable revenue expenditure in-year; 
iii) the affordability of borrowing to fund the capital plan in-year, where current funding assumptions 

include use of in-year capital receipts to part fund the Councils annual general fund capital plan. 

6. The proposals set out in 3. above are ‘in principle’ and allow officers the ‘flexibility’ to consider a range of 
funding options in-year that meet the intended objectives set out in the Council’s budget strategy update. 
 

7. It is intended that officers will update members as part of the annual budget report to full Council each 
February, and finalised proposals for the flexible use of capital receipts to be incorporated into an annual early 
closedown review report for Cabinet consideration early April. 

Page 93



 

 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER & MANAGEMENT ACTION PLAN         JULY 2020    Appendix 11  

Risk 
No 
 

Risk – Description of the risk 
 

Management actions already in place to mitigate the risk Control 
Opptnty 

Trend 

     
 Emergency & Immediate Risk    
0 The current national emergency as 

result of the Covid 19 coronavirus 
has huge implications on the Kirklees 
community, and the Council. 

There are additional risks and impacts on the council (and community) in the short 
and medium term, which relate to community, operational and financial impact 
This is an ever-changing position, which requires regular reconsideration until the 
current crisis is declared under control/has passed, with a substantial number of 
areas of uncertainty. 

L 
 

 Community Impacts & Risks The current national emergency has a serious and significant risk to the community 
citizens and services users, with particulalr concerns about the impact on specific 
user groups.  

  

1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The council does not adequately 
safeguard children and vulnerable 
adults, as a result of increased 
complexity, referral volumes and a 
lack of service capacity to respond to 
the assessed need. 
 
 
This risk may have worsened as a 
result of the full and partial 
coronavirus lockdown, with reduced 
referrals, an unwillingness of third 
parties to make referrals and a 
reduced ability to investigate. the 
basic controls described above 
remain valid 
 

• Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) checking, staff training, supervision, 
protection policies kept up to date and communicated.  

• Effective management of social work (and related services); rapid response to 
any issues identified and from any serious case review work.  

• Active management of cases reaching serious case review stage, and any media 
interest 

• Review of current practices following the child sexual exploitation in Rotherham 
and the emerging requirements. 

• Ensure that workloads are balanced to resources. 
• Staff and skill development to minimise dependence on key individuals.  
• Use of agency staff and or contractors when necessary 
• Ideal manager training 
• Development of market sufficiency strategy; consider approaches to support the 

development of the available service offer both locally and regionally. 
• Ensure competence of the Safeguarding Boards and that they are adequately 

resourced to challenge and improve outcomes 
• Ensure routine internal quality assessment 
• Take effective action after Serious Case Reviews 

H  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 94



 

 

• Effective listening to messages about threats from other parts of the council and 
partner agencies 

• Proactive recognition of Members role as “corporate parent” 
• Children’s Improvement Board to assist governance and quality improvement 
• Ensure effective record keeping 

                                            Responsible for this risk – R Parry and M Meggs (owners several) 

 
4X5=20 

2 
 
 
 
 

Legacy issues of historical childcare 
management practices, and 
particularly, the heightened national 
attention to Child Sexual 
Exploitation and historical abuse 
cases leads to reputational issues, 
and resource demands to address 
consequential matters. 

• Additional resources and expertise allocated to new and historical Child Sex 
Exploitation (CSE) and other legacy work, as required. 

• Risk matrix and risk management approach implemented with the police and 
partners. 

• Understand relationship with the Prevent strategy, and issues linked to counter 
terrorism 

• Take steps per risk 7 to seek to avoid ongoing issues 
• Ensure effective record keeping 

                                         Responsible for this risk –M Meggs 

LM  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
4x4=16 

3 
 
 
 
 
 

Failure to address matters of violent 
extremism and related safer 
stronger community factors, 
including criminal exploitation, 
create significant community 
tension, (and with the potential of 
safeguarding consequences for 
vulnerable individuals).  
 

• Prevent Partnership Action Plan. 
• Community cohesion work programme 
• Local intelligence sharing and networks.  
• Status as a Prevent Priority Area provides funding for a Prevent Coordinator Post 

and enables the development of bids for additional funding. 
• Counter terrorism local profile. 
• Awareness that campaigns such as black lives matter may give cause to action 

and reaction. 
                                             Responsible for this risk – R Parry and M Meggs(owners C Gilchrist) 

M  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
                   
4x5=20 

4 
 
 

Significant environmental events 
such as severe weather impact on 
the Council’s ability to continue to 
deliver services. 

• Effective business continuity and emergency planning (including mutual aid) 
investment in flood management, gritting deployment plans. 

• Winter maintenance budgets are supported by a bad weather contingency.  
• Operational plans and response plans designed to minimise impacts (e.g. gully 

cleansing for those areas which are prone to flooding.) 
                            Responsible for this risk – K Battersby (owners S Procter, W Acornley) 

M  
 
 

 
 
3x5=15 
 
 
                      

P
age 95



 

 

5 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk of infection with a high 
consequence infectious disease  
(HCIDs airborne) with the 
consequent impacts of pressure on 
services through demand, and a 
reduced ability to deliver services 
resultant from staff absences and 
similar. 
International transmission of HCIDs 
issues can also affect supply chains 
with the consequence of availability 
of products 

• National mitigation actions controlled through UK Government and devolved 
administrations. 

• Advice/instruction to/from, Chief Medical Officer, PHE, Health and Social care 
system. and schools (from DfE). 

• More local mitigations controlled through Public Health, Health protection. 
• Local lockdown processes in line with statutory positions 
• Business continuity planning and arrangements invoked. 
• Preparations for risk of recurrence 
• Understanding supply change and alternatives, and mitigations to retain 

essential existing suppliers where appropriate 
•  Appropriate advice and Information cascaded to Kirklees citizens and staff  

                          Responsible for this risk –Rachel Spencer Henshall & all of ET 

L  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5x5=25 
 
                        

 The UK exiting the EU    
6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The process of the UK exiting the EU 
lead to the following consequences 
and impact: 
• Economic uncertainty impact on 

business rates and housing 
growth, with knock-ons to 
council tax, new homes bonus 
and business rate income. 

• The potential for increased cuts 
in core government funding (as a 
result of economic pressures) in 
the context of ongoing increases 
in demand for council services. 

• Rising inflation could lead to 
increased costs ( e.g. the cost of 
raw materials ). Interest rate 
volatility impacting on the cost 
of financing the council’s debt.  

These risks are largely addressed elsewhere in the Matrix, but there is a shortening 
timescale, and local businesses may consider that coronavirus related risk is a more 
severe threat now. 
• Monitor government proposals and legislation, and their impact on council, 

partner services and local businesses 
• Working with the WY Combined Authority, and other WY local authorities and 

partners 
• Continue to lobby, through appropriate mechanisms, for additional resources 

and flexibilities in the use of existing funding streams to e.g. Local Government 
Association (LGA)  

• Be aware of underlying issues through effective communication with partners, 
service providers and suppliers and other businesses about likely impact on 
prices and resources. 

• Ensure that budgets anticipate likely cost impacts 
• Utilise supplementary resources to cushion impact of any cuts and invest to save. 
• Ensure adequacy of financial revenue reserves to protect the council financial 

exposure and that they are managed effectively not to impact on the council 
essential services 

• Local intelligence sharing and networks.  
• Prevent partnership action plan. 

LM  
 
 
    
 

 
 
        
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



 

 

• The general uncertainty affecting 
the financial markets could lead 
to another recession.  

• An uncertain economic outlook 
potentially impacting on levels of 
trade and investment.  

• Uncertainty about migration 
impacting on labour markets, 
particularly in key sectors like 
health and social care 

• Potential impact on community 
cohesion, with increased 
community tensions and 
reported hate crimes 

• Community cohesion work programme 
• Continue to work with local employer representative bodies e.g. FSB, MYCCI to 

make best use of existing resources and lobby for additional resources to 
support businesses pre/post EU Exit 

• Service and financial strategies kept under review to keep track of developments 
related to the UK exiting the EU. 

• Working Group established to consider and monitor implications. 
 
Responsible for this risk –all ET (owner D Bundy, N Parkar) 
 
 
 

 
                                                                                             

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           
4x4=16         
 

 The finances of the Council The current national emergency has a serious and significant risk to the councils 
financial position-  

  

7 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A failure to achieve the Councils 
savings plan impacts more generally 
on the councils finances with the 
necessity for unintended savings 
(from elsewhere) to ensure financial 
stability 
 
 

• Established governance arrangements are in place to achieve planned outcomes 
at Cabinet and officer level 

• Escalation processes are in place and working effectively. 
• Alignment of service, transformation and financial monitoring. 
• Tracker developed which allows all change plans to be in view and monitored on 

a monthly basis 
• Programme management office established and resourced 
• Monthly (and quarterly) financial reporting  

                                          Responsible for this risk - E Croston & ET (owner J Anderson) 

H  

 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
4x5=20 

P
age 97



 

 

8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Coronavirus has added significant 
income risks and imposed additional 
costs (some of which have been met 
by government funding) which have 
a current year and likely medium-
term continuing impact.                  
The whole horizon risks also remain 
in relation to a failure to control 
expenditure and income within the 
overall annual council approved 
budget leads to the necessity for 
unintended savings (from 
elsewhere)). The most significant of 
these risks are related to volumes (in 
excess of budget) of; 

• Complex Adult Care services 
• Children’s Care Services 
• Educational high needs 

&  Rent Collection impact of 
Universal Credit rollout (H R A) 
And in the longer term, the costs of 
waste disposal.  

• Monitor short term loss of income  
• Monitor additional costs (& be sure they are all captured)  
• Recognise in budget plans 
• Scenario plan for reduced level of demand, post current crisis 
• Scenario plan for recurrences of coronavirus or similar 
• Scenario plan for default by debtors- council tax and rents (individual citizens), 

business rates and commercial rents (businesses), sundry debtors (both) 
• Consider impacts from rent deferrals 
• Seek to recover additional costs where budgets held by other parties or partners 
• Significant service pressures recognised as part of resource allocation  
• Responsibility for budgetary control aligned to Strategic and Service Directors. 
• Examine alternative strategies or amend policies where possible to mitigate 

growth in demand or reduce costs 
• Utilise supplementary resources to cushion impact of cuts and invest to save. 
• Continue to lobby, through appropriate mechanisms, for additional resources  
• Proactive monitoring as Universal Credit is introduced 

 
 
 
 

                                                 Responsible for this risk - E Croston & ET(owner J Anderson) 

H  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                
5x5=25 

9 
 
 
 
 

Above inflation cost increases, 
particularly in the care sector, 
impact on the ability of providers to 
deliver activities of the specified 
quality, and or impacting on the 
prices charged and impacting on the 
budgets of the Council. 

• Monitor quality and performance of contracts. 
• Be aware of underlying issues through effective communication with service 

providers and suppliers about likely impact on prices 
• Renegotiate or retender contracts as appropriate. 
• Ensure that budgets anticipate likely cost impacts 
• Seek additional funding as a consequence of government-imposed costs 

                                                  Responsible for this risk - E Croston & R Parry (owner several) 

M  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4x4=16 
              

10 
 
 
 

Making inappropriate choices in 
relation to lending or and borrowing 
decisions, leads to financial losses.  

• Effective due diligence prior to granting loans and careful monitoring of 
investment decisions. 

MH  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 98



 

 

• Effective challenge to treasury management proposals by both officers and 
members (Corporate Governance & Audit Committee) taking account of external 
advice 

                                                               Responsible for this risk - E Croston (owner R Firth) 

 
                        
2x5=10 

11 
 
 
 

Exposure to uninsured losses or 
significant unforeseen costs, leads to 
the necessity for unintended savings 
to balance the councils finances.  

• Ensure adequacy of financial revenue reserves to protect the council financial 
exposure and managed effectively not to impact on the council essential services. 

• Consider risks and most cost-effective appropriate approach to responding to 
these (internal or external insurance provision) 
                                         Responsible for this risk - E Croston & J Muscroft(owner K Turner) 

H 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4x4=16 
          

12 
 
 
 

The financial regime set by 
government causes a further loss of 
resources or increased and under-
funded obligations (e.g. in relation 
to social care), with impact on the 
strategic plans.  
 
This relates to the essential 
dependence on initial and medium-
term financial support from 
government as a consequence of 
impact on the councils finances from 
coronavirus. 
 

The current crisis has resulted in some changes to national finance proposals- but 
major and fundamental changes to national government funding of crisis costs and 
implications (e.g. loss of tax and trading revenues) impact more heavily. 
The government has promised continuing resource to meet coronavirus 
consequence, but it is unclear if this will be adequate, if the government will seek to 
risk share, and the financial consequence in the medium term. In the longer- term 
risks remain. 
• Monitor government proposals and legislation, and their impact on council and 

partner services. 
• Continue to lobby, through appropriate mechanisms, for additional resources 

e.g. Local Government Association (LGA)  
• Be aware of underlying issues through effective communication with citizens, 

partners, service providers and suppliers about likely impact on resources 
• Ensure that budgets anticipate likely impacts 
• Ensure adequacy of financial revenue reserves to protect the council financial 

exposure and managed effectively not to impact on the council essential services.                
.                                                          Responsible for this risk - E Croston & ET (owner J Anderson) 
 

L  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
5x5=25 
 
 

 Other Resource & Partnership 
Risks 

The current national emergency has a serious and significant risk to the councils 
position with regard to commercial and community suppliers, information 
management /technology/cyber, health and safety- addressed in more detail in 
the special report 

  

13 
 

Council supplier and market 
relationships, including contractor 

• Avoid, where possible, over dependence on single suppliers  MH  
 
 
 

P
age 99



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

failure leads to; 
• loss of service,  
• poor quality service  
• an inability to attract new 

suppliers (affecting competition, 
and to replace any incumbent 
contractors who have failed) 

• complexities and difficulties in 
making arrangements in respect 
of significant and long running 
major outsource contracts, and 
their extension and renewal. 

 

• More thorough financial assessment when a potential supplier failure could 
have a wide impact on the council’s operations but take a more open approach 
where risks are few or have only limited impact.  

• Recognise that supplier failure is always a potential risk; those firms that derive 
large proportions of their business from the public sector are a particular risk. 

• Need to balance between only using suppliers who are financially sound but may 
be expensive and enabling lower cost or new entrants to the supplier market. 

• Consideration of social value, local markets and funds recirculating within the 
borough  

• Understanding supply chains and how this might impact on the availability of 
goods and services 

• Be realistic about expectation about what the market can deliver, taking into 
account matter such as national living wage, recruitment and retention issues 
etc. 

• Develop and publish in place market position statement and undertake regular 
dialogue with market. 

• Effective consultation with suppliers about proposals to deal with significant 
major external changes 

• Early consultation with existing suppliers about arrangements to be followed at 
the end of existing contractual arrangements  

• Realign budgets to reflect real costs 
• Commission effectively 
• Ensuring adequate cash flow for smaller contractors 

                                                 Responsible for this risk – J Muscroft (owner J Lockwood) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5x4=20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                         

P
age 100



 

 

14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Management of information from 
loss or inappropriate destruction or 
retention and the risk of failure to 
comply with the Council’s 
obligations in relation to Data 
Protection, Freedom of Information 
legislation and the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
leading to reputational damage, 
rectification costs and fines. Cyber 
related threats affecting data 
integrity and system functionality.  

• Thorough, understandable information security policies and practices that are 
clearly communicated to workforce and councillors 

• Effective management of data, retention and recording. 
• Raised awareness and staff and councillor training 
• Compliance with IT security policy. 
• Compliance with retention schedules. 
• Compliance with information governance policy. 
• Business continuity procedures. 
• Recognition of increased risk from homeworking (e.g. destruction of paper 

records) 
• Comply with new legislation around staff access to sensitive data. 
• Council has a Senior Information Risk Owner (“SIRO”) officer and a Data 

Protection Officer (DPO) who are supported by an Information Governance 
Board 

• Development of action plan to respond to GDPR requirements and resourcing 
requirements as appropriate 

• Increased awareness of officers and members as to their obligations 
• Proactive management of cyber issues, including additional web controls 

                 Responsible for this risk – J Muscroft (owner K Deacon)  & A Simcox (owner T Hudson) 

H 
(INFO) 
M 
(CYBER) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
4x5=20 

15 
 
 
 
 

Health and safety measures are 
inadequate leading to harm to 
employees or customers and 
possible litigious action from them 
personally and/or the Health and 
Safety Executive.(and the potential 
of prosecution and corporate 
/personal liability)(and in particular 
issues of fire safety,) 

• Ensuring appropriate H&S responses re Coronavirus (appropriately balancing 
statutory obligations, desirable positions and commerciality/business risk) 

• New Fire Safety Policy approved and being implemented with improved 
monitoring of fire risk  

• Prioritised programme of remedial works to buildings to tackle fire safety and 
other issues  

• Review work practices to address H&S risks 
• Monitor safety equipment  
• Improved employee training as to their responsibilities, as employees and (where 

appropriate) as supervisors. Improved employee work practices 
• Approval of additional resources to improve corporate monitoring regime. 

                                        Responsible for this risk – R Spencer Henshall (owner S Westerby) 

H  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
3x5=15 

P
age 101



 

 

16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exposure to increased liabilities 
arising from property ownership and 
management, including dangerous 
structures and asbestos, with 
reputational and financial 
implications. 
 

• Active site management 
• Routine servicing and cleansing regimes (including coronavirus compliance in 

both operational and managed tenanted commercial property) 
• Work practices to address risks from noxious substances 
• Property disposal strategy linked to service and budget strategy 
• Review of fire risks Develop management actions, categorised over the short to 

medium term and resource accordingly. 
• Prioritisation of funding to support reduction of backlog maintenance 
• Clarity on roles and responsibilities particularly where property management is 

outsourced                          Responsible for this risk – K Battersby (owner D Martin) 

H  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                       
4x4=16 
 
 
 
 
 

17 
 
 
 

A funding shortfall in partner 
agencies) leads to increased 
pressure on community services 
with unforeseen costs. 

• Engagement in resilience discussions with NHS partners 
• Secure funding as appropriate 
• Consider extension of pooled funds  
• Accept that this may lead to an increase in waiting times 
• Strengthen partnership arrangements to ascertain whether other funding or cost 

reduction solutions can be introduced. 
• Assess dependency on voluntary organising, and impacts that coronavirus has on 

their sustainability, and consider actions. 
                                                 Responsible for this risk – R Parry & all ET (owner Various) 

L  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4x4=16 
                         

18 
 
 
 
 
 

The risk of retaining a sustainable, 
diverse, workforce, including 

• aging and age profile 
• encouraging people to enter 

hard to recruit roles (which 
often have low pay, or 
challenging hours or tasks) 

• encouraging entrants to 
professional roles where pay 
is often below market levels. 

• and ensuring that the 
workforce is broadly content,  

without whom the council is unable 
to deliver its service obligations. 

• Effective Workforce Planning (including recruitment and retention issues) 
• Modernise Human Resources policies and processes  
• Increased accessibility to online training managers/ employees. 
• Selective use of interim managers and others to ensure continuity of progress 

regarding complex issues  
• Ensure robust change processes including Equality Impact Assessments (EIA’s) 

and consultation. 
• Understand market pay challenges 
• Promote the advantages of LG employment 
• Emphasise the satisfaction factors from service employment 
• Engage and encourage younger people through targeted apprenticeships, 

training, and career development  
• Ensuring awareness to ensure employees safety and health (including stress) 

H  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                        

P
age 102



 

 

• Consider issues about a workforce reflective of the community, inclusion, 
diversity and coronavirus issues 
                                                  Responsible for this risk – R Spencer Henshall (owner D Lucas) 

4x4=16 
 
 

19 
 
 

National legislative or policy changes 
have unforeseen consequences with 
the consequence of affecting 
resource utilisation or budgets. 

• Reprioritise activities 
• Deploy additional resources 
• Use of agency staff or contractors where necessary 
• Development of horizon scanning service 

                                                                Responsible for this risk – all ET (owner Various) 

L  
 
 
 
 
 
 
                        
5x4=20 

20 Compliance with the councils own 
climate change commitments, and 
or statutory climate change 
obligations fails to achieve 
objectives and ambitions, and or 
causes unanticipated costs or 
operational consequences 

• Reconsideration of priorities and potential achievability within timescales  
• Monitoring of achievements 
• Effective project planning and costing 
• Awareness of local consequences 
• Awareness of local consequences of national commitments and obligations 
• Lobbying for financial and other government support in relation to the costs of 

meeting obligations                   Responsible for this risk – K Battersby (owner Various) 

M  

 
 
 
 
 
4x4=16 

 All risks shown on this corporate matrix are considered to have a potentially high probability, or impact, which may be in the short or medium horizon 
20200714 
Risk Factor 
Probability     Likelihood, where 5 is very likely and 1 is very unlikely 
Impact            The consequence in financial or reputational terms 
Risk                  Probability x Impact 
TREND ARROWS 

                                                       CONTROL OPPORTUNITIES 
H This risk is substantially in the control of the council 
M This risk has features that are controllable, although there are external influences 
L This risk is largely uncontrollable by the council 

 

 
Risk Factor 
Probability     Likelihood, where 5 is very likely and 1 is very unlikely 
Impact            The consequence in financial or reputational terms 
Risk                  Probability x Impact 

Worsening 
 

Broadly unchanged 
  
Improving 

 

P
age 103



   

 

                 Appendix 12 

 

 
 
Name of meeting: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee  
 
Date:   22 July 2020  
 
Title of report:         Annual Report on Treasury Management 2019-20           
 
Purpose of report 
Financial Procedure Rules require that the Council receives an annual report on 
Treasury Management activities for the previous financial year.  The report reviews 
borrowing and investment performance. 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or 
to have a significant effect on two or 
more electoral wards? 

Not applicable 
  

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and 
private reports)? 

Yes 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for “call in” 
by Scrutiny? 

Yes 

Date signed off by Service Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance, IT and 
Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Governance and 
Commissioning Support? 

Eamonn Croston 10 July 2020 
 
 
 
As above  
 
 
Julie Muscroft  
  

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Graham Turner 
 

 
Electoral wards affected:  Not applicable 
 
Ward councillors consulted:  Not applicable 
 
Public or private:   Public 
 
GDPR: This report contains no information that falls within the scope of General Data 
Protection Regulations 
 
 

1.   Summary 
  
1.1 The Council’s treasury management operation for the year has followed the strategy 

approved by Council on 13 February 2019.  Investments averaged £32.7 million, were 
largely deposited in instant access accounts and earned an average interest rate of 
0.73%.  Total external borrowing at 31st March 2020 increased by £31.0 million to 

Page 104

http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/councillors/yourcouncillors.asp


   

 

£426.9 million (£395.9 million as at 31st March 2019).  The increase is mainly due to 
the borrowing requirements in the capital plan.  Temporary borrowing increased for 
the year by £39.5 million to £40.9 million (£1.4 million 31st March 2019).  The majority 
of borrowing is on fixed rate terms and the average long term borrowing rate for 2019-
20 was 4.67%. 

 
1.2 In 2017-18 the Council approved a revision to its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

policy, which relates to the amount of revenue resources set aside each year to 
provide for its outstanding debt repayments over the longer term.  This was done by 
updating its approach to Supported Borrowing from 2007-08 onwards, moving from a 
4% reducing balance to an annuity basis in its repayment of debt. 

 
1.3 In updating the approach the Council effectively over-provided in previous years the 

re-payment of debt to the sum of £91.1m.  Within the Treasury Management Strategy 
2018-19 the Council set out its approach to unwind this over-provision at £9.1m each 
year over the next 10 years, starting from 2017-18 onwards. 

 
1.4 Following approval within the 2018-19 Treasury Management Strategy there was a 

further increase in the un-winding in the General Fund MRP for 2018-19 and 2019-20.  
The maximum amount of un-wind in any one year cannot be more than the overall 
annual MRP calculation, as otherwise the Council would end up in a negative MRP 
position, which is not allowable under accounting rules.  The calculation estimated for 
the Treasury Management Strategy was £13.5m. The actual MRP calculation for 
2019-20 and hence the maximum unwind allowable is £13.7m. In the 2019-20 the 
unwind has therefore been increased by a further £200k. 

 
1.5  Treasury management costs incurred in the year include £10.8 million on net interest 

payments.  The Council complied with its treasury management prudential indicators 
in the year. 

 
2.   Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 Background 
 
2.1.1 The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 

operates its treasury management service in compliance with this Code and various 
statutory requirements.  These require that the prime objective of the activity is to 
secure the effective management of risk, and that borrowing is undertaken on a 
prudent, affordable and sustainable basis. 

 
2.1.2 Council Financial Procedure Rules require that the Council receives an annual report 

on Treasury Management activities for the year.  Cabinet is responsible for the 
implementation and monitoring of the treasury management policies.  Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee undertake a scrutiny role with regard to treasury 
management. 

 
2.1.3 In reviewing 2019-20 performance, reference will be made to the Treasury 

Management Strategy Report approved by Budget Council on 13 February 2019.   
  
2.2 Borrowing and Investment Strategy 2019-20 
 
2.2.1 The Council’s overall Treasury Management Strategy prioritises security, liquidity and 

risk management which was adhered to in 2019-20.  The Council aims to invest 
externally, balances of £30 million, largely for the purpose of managing day-to-day 
cash flow requirements, with any remaining balances invested “internally”, offsetting 
borrowing requirements.  The investment strategy is designed to minimise risk, 

Page 105



   

 

investments being made primarily in instant access accounts or short-term deposits, 
with the major British owned banks and building societies, or Money Market Funds.  

 
2.2.2 Although it only affected the last couple of weeks of the 2019-20 financial year, 

COVID-19 had a significant impact on treasury management. . In an operational 
sense, this resulted in a shortage of options for short-term borrowing within the market 
as a whole, with a resultant increase in rates. Due to the cyclical nature of local 
government cashflows and the uncertainty around the implications for future 
cashflows, various central government mitigations were implemented to ease sectoral 
concerns about short-term access to funds and market liquidity. For the Council, this 
position was eased with the receipt in advance of several tranches of Central 
Government funding for 2020-21. Further specific details are provided in the 
subsequent paragraphs within this report.   

 
2.3 The Economy and Interest Rates  
 
Below paragraphs 2.3.1-2.3.6 are a commentary from our external treasury management 

advisors, Arlingclose. 
 
2.3.1 The UK’s exit from the European Union and future trading arrangements, had remained 

one of major influences on the UK economy and sentiment during 2019-20.  The 29th 
March 2019 Brexit deadline was extended to 12th April, then to 31st October and 
finally to 31st January 2020.  Politics played a major role in financial markets over the 
period as the UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European Union together with 
its future trading arrangements drove volatility, particularly in foreign exchange 
markets.  The outcome of December 2019 General Election removed a lot of the 
uncertainty and looked set to provide a ‘bounce’ to confidence and activity. 

 
2.3.2  The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation fell to 1.7% year on year in February, 

below the Bank of England’s target of 2%.  Labour market data remained positive.  
The International Labour Organisation (ILO) unemployment rate was 3.9% in the three 
months to January 2020 while the employment rate hit a record high of 76.5%.  The 
average annual growth rate for pay excluding bonuses was 3.1% in January 2020 and 
the same when bonuses were included, providing some evidence that a shortage of 
labour had been supporting wages.  

 
2.3.3  Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth in Q4 2019 was reported as flat by the Office 

for National Statistics and service sector growth slowed and production and 
construction activity contracted on the back of what at the time were concerns over 
the impact of global trade tensions on economic activity.  The annual rate of GDP 
growth remained below-trend at 1.1%. 

 
2.3.4  Then coronavirus swiftly changed everything.  COVID-19, which had first appeared in 

China in December 2019, started spreading across the globe causing plummeting 
sentiment and falls in financial markets not seen since the Global Financial Crisis as 
part of a flight to quality into sovereign debt and other perceived ‘safe’ assets. 

 
2.3.5  In response to the spread of the virus and sharp increase in those infected, the 

government enforced lockdowns, central banks and governments around the world 
cut interest rates and introduced massive stimulus packages in an attempt to reduce 
some of the negative economic impact to domestic and global growth. 

 
2.3.6  The Bank of England, which had held policy rates steady at 0.75% through most of 

2019-20, moved in March 2020 to cut rates to 0.25% from 0.75% and then swiftly 
thereafter brought them down further to the record low of 0.10%.  In conjunction with 
these cuts, the UK government introduced a number of measures to help businesses 

Page 106



   

 

and households impacted by a series of ever-tightening social restrictions, culminating 
in pretty much the entire lockdown of the UK. 

 
2.4 Investment Activity 
 
2.4.1 The Council’s treasury management investments totalled £52.0 million as at 31 March 

2020 (£39.1 million 31 March 2019).  The Council invested an average balance of 
£32.7 million externally during the year (£45.2 million 2018-19).  Interest income of 
£0.204 million was generated through these investments (£0.313 million 2018-19) and 
£0.183 million dividend income from the CCLA Property Fund.  Appendix 1 shows 
where investments were held at the beginning of April 2019, the end of September 
2019 and the end of March 2020, by counterparty, by sector and by country.  The 
Council’s average lending rate for the year was 0.73% (0.67% 2018-19).  

 
2.4.2 The majority of investments were placed in instant access bank deposit 

accounts/Money Market Funds (MMFs).  MMFs offer greater diversification of 
counterparties and thus lower risk, as well instant access and relatively good returns.  
The Council invested £10 million during the year in the CCLA Property Fund as part 
of the 2019-20 Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
2.5 Borrowing Update 
 
2.5.1 On 9th October 2019 the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) raised the cost of certainty 

rate borrowing by 1% to 1.8% above UK gilt yields as HM Treasury was concerned 
about the overall level of local authority debt. As a result, by way of an example, a 30 
year maturity loan on 8th October was 1.96% which increased to 2.97% the following 
day. PWLB borrowing remains available and although rates have reduced, (a 30 year 
maturity loan on 6th July was 2.68%) it is still 1% higher than it would otherwise have 
been. Market alternatives are available and new products have been developed; 
however, the financial strength of individual authorities is subject to increased scrutiny 
by investors and commercial lenders for any market alternative.  

 
2.5.2 The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included significant changes to PWLB 

policy and launched a wide-ranging consultation on the PWLB’s future direction.  
Announcements included a reduction in the margin on new HRA loans, the value of 
this discount is 1% below the rate at which the authority usually borrows from the 
PWLB, available from 12th March 2020. 

 
2.5.3 The consultation proposals allow authorities that are not involved in “debt for yield” 

activity to borrow at lower rates as well as stopping local authorities using PWLB loans 
to buy commercial assets primarily for yield without impeding their ability to pursue 
their core policy objectives of service delivery, housing, and regeneration.  The 
consultation closes on 31st July 2020 with implementation of the new lending terms 
expected in the latter part of this calendar year or financial year beginning 2021-22. 

 
2.6 Borrowing Requirement and Debt Management 
 
2.6.1 In terms of borrowing, long-term loans at the end of the year totalled £373.7 million 

and short-term loans (excluding interest accrued) £53.2 million (£384.1 million and 
£11.8 million 31 March 2019), an overall increase of £31.0 million.  There was no new 
long term borrowing in 2019-20.  Appendix 2 details repayments of long-term loans 
during the year and short-term loans outstanding as at 31 March 2020.    

 
2.6.2 Fixed rate loans account for 83.53% of total long-term debt (see also Appendix 5) 

giving the Council stability in its interest costs.  The maturity profile for all long-term 
loans is shown in Appendix 3 and shows that no more than 9% of all debt is due to be 
repaid in any one year.  This is good practice as it reduces the Council’s exposure to 

Page 107



   

 

a substantial borrowing requirement in any one particular future year, when interest 
rates might be at a relatively high level. 

 
2.6.3 The primary source of the Council’s borrowing is from the Government i.e. Public 

Works Loan Board (PWLB). See also, 2.5 above.  
 
2.6.4 The Council held a £10.0 million range Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) with 

Barclays at the beginning of the year paying interest of 4.1%. LOBO loans are when 
the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at set dates, 
following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay 
the loan at no additional cost.  As previously reported (to Corporate Governance and 
Audit Committee on 15th November 2019), Barclays approached the Council with a 
view to converting this to a fixed rate loan. This was subsequently agreed in July 2019 
and converted to a fixed rate maturity loan with an interest rate of 3.75%.  This brings 
the total of LOBO loans down to £61.6 million which represents 16% of total external 
borrowing.   

 
2.6.5 The table below sets out the actual external borrowing requirement against estimated 

requirements; 
 
 

 2018-19 
£m 

actual 

2019-20 
£m 

forecast 

2019-20 
£m 

actual 
General Fund CFR - Non PFI 
                                  PFI            

436.6 
49.3 

480.2 
45.8 

461.6 
45.8 

HRA CFR               -  Non PFI 
                                  PFI 

175.3 
52.9 

172.7 
50.5 

175.3 
50.5 

Total CFR 714.1 749.2 733.2 
Less: PFI debt liabilities  102.2 96.3 96.3 

Borrowing CFR 611.9 652.9 636.9 
Other deferred liabilities 3.9 3.8 3.9 
Internal borrowing 212.1 219.0 206.1 
External borrowing:    
     PWLB Loans 278.6 274.4 273.3 
     LOBOs 76.6 65.0 61.6 
     Loan Stock (Fixed Rate) 7.0 7.0 7.0 
     Other Loans (Fixed Rate) 32.3 38.4 44.1 
     Temporary borrowing  1.4 45.3 40.9 

Total External borrowing 395.9 430.1 426.9 

Total Funding 611.9 652.9 636.9 
Investments 39.1 30.0 52.0 

 
 

2.6.6 The Local Capital Finance Company established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative source of local authority finance.  It plans to issue bonds 
on the capital markets and lend the proceeds to local authorities. Its first bond was 
issued in February 2020 and has announced three further pooled bond issues to 
follow. Officers will continue to monitor developments of this potential new funding 
source.  

Page 108



   

 

 
2.6.7 In terms of debt rescheduling, the premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt 

remained relatively expensive for the loans in the Council’s portfolio and therefore 
unattractive for debt rescheduling activity in 2019-20. 

 
2.6.8 The average long term borrowing rate for 2019-20 for the Council’s long-term loans 

outstanding was 4.67% (4.83% 2018-19).   
 

2.7  Trends in treasury management activity 
 

2.7.1 Appendix 4 shows the Council’s borrowing and investment trends over the last 6 
years. The trend has been to re-pay long term debt at maturity and where required 
borrow over the short term.  Going forward the need to borrow long term will be 
reviewed using the liability benchmark and also the result of the PWLB consultation 

 
2.8 Risk and Compliance Issues  

 
2.8.1 The Council has complied with its prudential indicators for 2019-20, which were 

approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.  Details can be found in 
Appendix 5.  Indicators relating to affordability and prudence are highlighted in this 
appendix. 

 
2.8.2  When the Council has received unexpected monies late in the day, officers have no 

alternative but to put the monies into the Barclays Business Reserve Account 
overnight.  The account is maintained so that usually, daily balances are under £100k.  
The maximum daily amount deposited in this account overnight as a result of 
unexpected late payments was £1.6m.  Whilst this is not an ideal situation, the Council 
is still within investment limits as per the Treasury Management Strategy which is set 
at £10m per counterparty.  

 
2.8.3 In line with Council Treasury Management Strategy, the Council has not placed any 

direct investments in companies as defined by the Carbon Underground 200. 
 

2.8.4 The Council is aware of the risks of passive management of the treasury portfolio and, 
with the support of the Council’s consultants (Arlingclose), has proactively managed 
the debt and investments over the year.  

 
2.8.5 The CIPFA Code of Practice requires that treasury management performance be 

subject to regular member scrutiny.  The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 
performs this role and members have received reports on strategy, half yearly 
monitoring and now the outturn for the year 2019-20.  Training was provided to 
Members on the 15th November 2019.  

 
  Looking ahead – Treasury Management developments in 2020-21 
 

2.9 Re-financing/re-payment of current Long Term Borrowing 
 

2.9.1 As outlined within the Council approved Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21, the 
Council will continue to look to repay existing long term debt when the opportunity 
arises where it becomes beneficial for the Council to do so. 

 
2.9.2  In light of a number of lenders currently reviewing their holding of LOBO loans, there 

may be further opportunities to convert or re-finance existing LOBOs.  With LOBO 
loans the Lender has the option to exercise their right to change the interest rate at 
which point the borrower can then choose to accept the new interest rate or choose 
to re-pay at no additional cost. Should any opportunities arise in the future then these 
would be investigated and reported back to members. 

Page 109



   

 

 
2.9.3 It is intended that Council officers liaise with the Council’s external Treasury 

Management advisors, Arlingclose, to review lender options, and proceed if they are 
considered to be in the longer term best interests of the Council.   

 
2.10 Loan Funding Sources 

 
2.10.1 The Council may be presented with additional sources of long-term funding at certain 

points in time, beyond those currently listed in the Council’s current Treasury 
Management Strategy.  These may be at preferential rates of interest and therefore 
the Service Director Finance (Section 151 Officer) will look to maximise the use of 
source funds when it is preferential to do so. 

 
2.10.2 One such opportunity is with SALIX Finance Ltd.  SALIX Finance Ltd provides interest 

free Government funding to the public sector to improve their energy efficiency, reduce 
carbon emissions and lower energy bills.  The Council to date has taken the 
opportunity to secure £6.8m interest free loan to part fund the £11m approved street 
lighting replacement scheme in the Council’s approved capital plan. 

 
2.11 Investment Opportunities 

 
2.11.1  The Service Director Finance, supports the approach that the borrowing and 

investment strategy for 2020-21 continues to place emphasis on the security of the 
Council’s balances.   

 
2.11.2 Average current cashflow balances from April 2020 is £92.2 million, significantly higher 

than the ideal balances of £30m normally required for ‘business as usual ‘day to day 
cashflow requirements. Business grants of £113.6m and Covid-19 related grants of 
£23.9m received in March 2020 have overstated this current cash flow figure so far 
this year. The receipt of these grants in March 2020 was a result of concerns about 
short-term access to funds for local authorities and market liquidity. Government 
addressed these issues early by providing, in advance, funding normally allocated in 
instalments in-year. As a result, liquidity risks within the sector to be able to manage 
daily cashflow requirements efficiently and effectively, are currently minimal but will 
remain under regular review through the remainder of the year.  A high level financial 
impact of COVID-19 report on 21 May highlighted potential financial impacts on the 
Council, including ongoing cashflow volatility (see below): 

 
 COVID-19 - Impact upon Council Finances (Agenda Item 7)              
 

2.11.3 In order to increase investment returns and following member approval to add the 
Local Authorities Pooled Investment Fund (LAPF) as an approved Council investment 
in the 2019-20 Treasury Management Strategy, the Council invested £10 million into 
the fund during the year.    

 
2.11.4 The Local Authorities Property Fund was established in 1972 and is managed by 

CCLA Fund Managers.  As at March 2020 there are assets under management of 
£1,206m.  The Fund aims to provide investors with a high level of income and long-
term capital appreciation, and it is an actively managed, diversified portfolio of UK 
commercial property.  It principally invests in UK assets, but may invest in other assets. 

 
2.11.5 The fund returned a gross dividend yield of 4.4% in 2019-20 (4.2% 2018-19), which 

compares with average 0.73% on other short-term investments (see paragraph 2.4.1 
above). Net income of £0.183 million was received by the Council in 2019-20. This 
reflects a part-year effect as the £10m was invested in two £5m tranches (in May 2019 
and February 2020). 

 
Page 110

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=5962&Ver=4


   

 

2.11.6 Arlingclose commented that: In a relatively short period since the onset of the COVID-
19 pandemic, the global economic fallout was sharp and large. Market reaction was 
extreme with large falls in equities, corporate bond markets and, to some extent, real 
estate echoing lockdown-induced paralysis and the uncharted challenges for 
governments, businesses and individuals.  Gilt yields fell but credit spreads widened 
markedly reflecting the sharp deterioration in economic and credit conditions 
associated with a sudden stagnation in economies, so corporate bonds yields 
(comprised of the gilt yield plus the credit spread) rose and prices therefore fell.  

 
2.11.7  The falls in the capital values of the underlying assets of the Local Authorities Property 

Fund (LAPF) were reflected in the 31st March fund valuations with the fund registering 
negative capital returns over 12 months to March 2020.   

 
2.11.8  These unrealised capital losses of £0.9m in 2019-20 will not have an impact on the 

General Fund as the Council is utilising a Government dispensation for LAPF financial 
investment capital losses/gains at each year end to be notionally adjusted for within 
the Council’s annual accounts, rather than it being a charge to the General Fund. It 
should be noted, that the current dispensation ends in 2023-24. 

 
2.11.9 The investment in the fund is part of a longer term investment strategy to mitigate 

against any short-term market volatility or risk.  As this fund has no defined maturity 
date its performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s investment 
objectives is regularly reviewed.  Strategic fund investments are made in the 
knowledge that capital values will move both up and down on months, quarters and 
even years; but with the confidence that over a three to five-year period total returns 
will exceed cash interest rates.  

 
2.11.10 As a result of the receipt in advance in March 2020, of a tranche of central government 

funding for 2020-21 (as noted in paragraph 2.11.2); the Council has taken up an 
opportunity to prepay it’s superannuation contributions to the West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund for 2020-21. This is expected to result in a saving to the Council of approximately 
£600k. 

 
2.12 New Borrowing 

 
2.12.1 Following the 1% increase in PWLB borrowing rates in October 2019, Arlingclose 

suggest that PWLB rates are now relatively expensive (albeit reset to the rates they 
were 12 months previous) compared to alternative longer term funding sources, where 
Councils are considering longer term borrowing.  The Council’s current approach is to 
continue to borrow short term, but this will be subject to ongoing review in consultation 
with Arlingclose, as to when it may be more appropriate to borrow longer term. It will 
also be considered in light of the timing of PWLB rates potentially coming down from 
current levels, depending what Government implements following the PWLB Future 
Lending Terms consultation. As noted earlier in the report (paragraph 2.11.2) in light 
of COVID, cashflow remains relatively volatile (compared to business as usual) but 
measures introduced by Government have actually resulted in a lot of short term funds 
being currently available at low rates. 

 
3.   Implications for the Council  
 
3.1 Working with People – no impact 
3.2 Working with Partners – no impact 
3.3 Place Based Working – no impact 
3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality – no impact 
3.4  Improving outcomes for children - no impact 
3.5   Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources) – Any changes in assumed  

Page 111



   

 

borrowing and investment requirements, balances and interest rates will be reflected 
in revenue budget monitoring reports during the year.   
 

4.   Consultees and their opinions 
 
None. 
 

5.   Next steps and timelines 
 
5.1 Comments and feedback from CGAC will be incorporated into this report 
which will be subsequently considered at Cabinet in July and Council in September 
2020 as part of the overall financial outturn and rollover report 2019-20. 
 

6.   Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
CGAC are asked to consider the following for Cabinet and Council approval; 
 

6.1 note treasury management performance in 2019-20 as set out in this report; 
 
 

7.   Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations  
 To follow 
  

8.   Contact officer  
James Anderson Head of Accountancy 
Rachel Firth        Finance Manager    
   

9.   Background Papers and History of Decisions 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services. 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 
Public Works Loan Board Website. 
Treasury Management 19-20 Strategy Report approved by Council on 13 February 
2019.  
COVID-19 - Impact upon Council Finances Report approved by Cabinet on 21 May 
2020. 
 

10. Service Director responsible 
 
Eamonn Croston    01484 221000    

Page 112



   

 

          APPENDIX 1 
 Kirklees Council Investments 2019/20                   
    Credit  1 April 2019 30 September 2019 31 March 2020 
Counterparty   Rating  £m Interest  Type of £m Interest Type of   £m Interest Type of  

    
Mar 

2020*   Rate Investment  Rate Investment    Rate Investment 
Specified Investments                 
Santander Bank F1/A+ 2.0 0.85% 35 Day Notice 0.0 0.85% 35 Day Notice  0.0 0.85% 35 Day Notice 
Aberdeen Standard  MMF** AAAmmf 9.9 0.79% Instant Access 10.0 0.74% Instant Access  10.0 0.48% Instant Access 
Aviva MMF** Aaa-mf  10.0 0.79% Instant Access 7.2 0.72% Instant Access  6.6 0.45% Instant Access 
Deutsche MMF** AAAmmf 0.0 0.71% Instant Access 10.0 0.72% Instant Access  2.9 0.41% Instant Access 
Goldman Sachs MMF** AAAmmf 7.2 0.72% Instant Access 0.0 0.67% Instant Access  7.5 0.28% Instant Access 
Thurrock Council Local Authority  5.0 0.94% Local Authority 

 
 

0.0 N/A Local Authority   10.0 2.50% Local Authority 
  

 
Suffolk County Council Local Authority  5.0 0.95% Local Authority 

 
0.0 N/A Local Authority   0.0 N/A Local Authority 

Surrey County Council Local Authority  0.0 N/A Local Authority 0.0 N/A Local Authority   5.0 1.25% Local Authority 
 CCLA Property Fund  0.0 N/A Property Fund 5.0 N/A Property Fund  10.0 N/A Property Fund 

     39.1   32.2    52.0   
Sector Analysis    £m %age  £m %age   £m %age   
Bank    2.0 5%  0.0 0%   0.0 0%   
MMF**    27.1 69%  27.2 84%   27.0 52%   
Local Authorities/Cent Govt  10.0 26%  0.0 0%   15.0 29%  
Property Fund  0.0 0%  5.0 16%   10.0 19%  
     39.1 100%  32.2 100%   52.0 100%   
Country analysis    £m %age  £m %age   £m %age   
UK    12.0 31%  5.0 16%   25.0 48%   
MMF**   27.1 69%  27.2 84%   27.0 52%   
   39.1 100%  32.2 100%   52.0 100%  

    
*Fitch short/long term ratings, except Aviva MMF (highest Moody rating).  See next page for key.  ** MMF – Money Market Fund. These funds are domiciled in Ireland for tax reasons, but the 
funds are made up of numerous diverse investments with highly rated banks and other institutions.  The credit risk is therefore spread over numerous countries, including the UK.  The exception to 
this is the Aviva Government Liquidity Fund which invests directly in UK government securities and in short-term deposits secured on those securities.

P
age 113



   

 

Key – Fitch’s credit ratings: 
 
  Long Short 

Investment 
Grade 

Extremely Strong AAA  
 

F1+ 
 AA+ 

Very Strong AA 
 AA- 
 A+   

Strong A F1 
 A-   
 BBB+ F2 

Adequate BBB   
 BBB- F3 

Speculative 
Grade 

 BB+  
 
 

B 

Speculative BB  
 BB-  
 

Very Speculative 
B+  
B  
B-  

 
 

Vulnerable 

CCC+  
 

C 

 
CCC  
CCC-  
CC  
C  

 Defaulting D D 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



   

 

 
       Appendix 2 
 
Long-term loans repaid and short-term loans outstanding 31 March 2020 
 
Long-term loans repaid during 2019-20 
 

 Amount 
£000s 

Rate %  Date repaid   

Repayments on maturity    
PWLB (476012) 4,613 8.50 10 Jun 19 
    
Repayments on annuity loans    
PWLB (496956) 353 4.58 30 Sep 19 
PWLB (496956) 361 4.58 30 Mar 20 
    
Total 5,327   

 
 
Short-term loans outstanding 31 March 2020 
 

 Amount 
£000s 

Rate % Length 
(days) 

Temporary borrowing from the 
Money Market 

   

Rugby Borough Council 5,000 0.83 139 
Staffordshire County Council 5,000 0.85 90 
Hampshire County Council 5,000 0.72 42 
Blackburn & Darwen Borough Council 5,000 0.75 50 
South Lanarkshire Council 5,000 0.75 43 
Ribble Valley Borough Council 1,500 0.80 46 
Warrington Borough Council 10,000 1.00 35 
Mansfield Building Society 1,000 1.00 33 
West Lindsey District Council 2,000 0.75 28 
Local lenders/Trust Funds 1,431   
Total Temporary borrowing  40,931   
Long-term loans due to mature in the 
next twelve months 

12,277   

Total 53,208   
 
 

Page 115



 

 

Kirklees Council Loan Maturity Profile (All Debt)     Appendix 3 
 

 
 
  

0

5000000

10000000

15000000

20000000

25000000

30000000

35000000
20

20
-2

1
20

21
-2

2
20

22
-2

3
20

23
-2

4
20

24
-2

5
20

25
-2

6
20

26
-2

7
20

27
-2

8
20

28
-2

9
20

29
-3

0
20

30
-3

1
20

31
-3

2
20

32
-3

3
20

33
-3

4
20

34
-3

5
20

35
-3

6
20

36
-3

7
20

37
-3

8
20

38
-3

9
20

39
-4

0
20

40
-4

1
20

41
-4

2
20

42
-4

3
20

43
-4

4
20

44
-4

5
20

45
-4

6
20

46
-4

7
20

47
-4

8
20

48
-4

9
20

49
-5

0
20

50
-5

1
20

51
-5

2
20

52
-5

3
20

53
-5

4
20

54
-5

5
20

55
-5

6
20

56
-5

7
20

57
-5

8
20

58
-5

9
20

59
-6

0
20

60
-6

1
20

61
-6

2
20

62
-6

3
20

63
-6

4
20

64
-6

5
20

65
-6

6
20

66
-6

7
20

67
-6

8

Stock PWLB Other LOBOs

P
age 116



 

 

 
               Appendix 4 

Kirklees Council - Borrowing and Investment Trends 
 

At 31 March 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
       
Investments 52.0m 39.1m 36.1m 31.3m 38.3m 38.7m 
       
ST Borrowing (excl interest accrued) 53.2m 11.8m 20.8m 37.7m 16.0m 21.1m 
LT Borrowing 373.7m 384.1m 392.4m 400.5m 408.4m 422.6m 
Total Borrowing 426.9m 395.9m 413.2m 438.2m 424.4m 443.7m 
Deferred liabilities (non PFI) 3.7m 3.9m 4.1m 4.1m 4.3m 4.4m 
Net debt position 378.6m 360.7m 381.2m 411.0m 390.4m 409.4m 

       
Capital Financing Requirement (excl PFI)       
General Fund 461.5m 436.6m 420.3m 412.8m 411.3m 422.2m 
HRA 175.4m 175.3m 182.8m 186.2m 192.4m 196.6m 
Total CFR 636.9m 611.9m 603.2m 599.0m 603.7m 618.8m 

Balances “internally invested” 206.1m 212.1m 185.9m 156.7m 175.0m 170.7m 

       
Ave Kirklees’ investment rate for financial year 

 
0.7% 

 
0.7% 

 
0.3% 0.4% 

 
0.5% 0.4% 

Ave Base rate (Bank of England) 0.7% 0.7% 0.3% 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 
Ave LT Borrowing rate (1) 2.4% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 3.2% 3.7% 

 
 

(1) Based on average PWLB rate throughout the year on a 25 to 30 year loan (less 0.2% PWLB certainty rate) repayable on maturity.

P
age 117



 

 

       
          APPENDIX 5 
 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 
 

Interest Rate Exposures 
While fixed rate borrowing can contribute significantly to reducing the uncertainty 
surrounding future interest rate scenarios, the pursuit of optimum performance 
justifies retaining a degree of flexibility through the use of variable interest rates on 
at least part of the treasury management portfolio.  The Prudential Code requires 
the setting of upper limits for both variable rate and fixed interest rate exposure: 
 

 Limit Set 
2019-20 

Actual 
2019-20 

Interest at fixed rates as a percentage of net 
interest payments 

60% - 100% 84% 

Interest at variable rates as a percentage of 
net interest payments 

0% - 40% 16% 

 

The interest payments were within the limits set. 
 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
This indicator is designed to prevent the Council having large concentrations of fixed 
rate debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 
 

Amount of projected borrowing that is fixed 
rate maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing that 
is fixed rate 

 
Limit Set 
2019-20 

Actual 
Levels  

2019-20 
 

Under 12 months 0% - 20% 4% 
12 months to 2 years 0% - 20% 2% 
2 years to 5 years 0% - 60% 4%  
5 years to 10 years 0% - 80% 2% 
More than 10 years 20% - 100% 88% 

 

The limits on the proportion of fixed rate debt were adhered to. 
 
Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days 
The Council has not invested any sums longer than 364 days. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 

 

  APPENDIX 6 
 
 

 
 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet Meeting 
Date:    28 July 2020    
Title of report:  Kirklees Active Leisure Covid-19 Funding support 
  
Purpose of report: To set out the irrecoverable losses directly attributed to the Covid-19 lockdown 
and subsequent anticipated phased re-opening faced by Kirklees Active Leisure (KAL), and proposing 
they be underwritten from Covid-19 funding received from the Government 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

Yes. KAL, which operates facilities across Kirklees, 
require both an uplift in the annual funding from the 
Council to be sustainable, and a significant injection to 
cover losses arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision – No,  
This is only applicable to Cabinet reports 
 
Public Report/Private Appendix – Yes, private 
appendix.  Public report with exempt appendix. The 
Appendix is recommended for consideration in private 
in accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 namely it contains information 
relating to the financial and business affairs of the 
Council and third parties. It is considered that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption, which 
would protect the rights of an individual or the council, 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information and providing greater openness in the 
council’s decision making. 
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 
 

Rachel Spencer-Henshall – 15/07/2020 
  
 
 
Eamonn Croston - 15/07/2020 
 
 
Julie Muscroft - 17/07/2020 

Cabinet member portfolio; Corporate Cllr Graham Turner  
 
Electoral wards affected: KAL operate services for the whole of Kirklees.  
 
Ward councillors consulted: Ward Councillors have not been consulted on this matter.  
 
Public or private: This report is public, however, the appendices contain commercially sensitive information 
and are private.    
 
Has GDPR been considered?  Yes, and we do not believe that any personal data is being shared in this 
report that would be in breach of our GDPR responsibilities. 
  

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 10:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary 

 
The impact of Covid-19 and the subsequent lockdown of leisure facilities has seen KAL suffer 
virtually total income loss from customers. In addition, it is almost certain that re-opening will 
need to be gradual and with reduced capacities for an extended period in order to satisfy social 
distancing regulations.  
 
It is proposed that KAL’s irrecoverable losses be underwritten from Covid-19 funding received 
from the Government, in order to allow KAL to be able to re-open facilities in line with guidance 
and protect both jobs and the services offered to the people of Kirklees.  
 
At the same time, officers had already been looking at the development of a ‘KAL Commission’, 
so that we could review the outcomes KAL are working towards and ensure they were meeting 
the key priorities. Again, the impact of the pandemic and the disproportionate effect that the virus 
and / or lockdown has had on groups who suffer from the largest health inequalities or levels of 
inactivity has reinforced the need to look at this and ensure that, in return for our funding, KAL 
are supporting these priority groups with their health and wellbeing. This work will follow in due 
course.  
 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
KAL operate 12 leisure facilities on behalf of the Council but have been experiencing financial 
pressures from a combination of market forces and increasing national living wage cost 
pressures on a largely low paid KAL work force. The arrangements for an increased Council 
funding contribution to KAL, which were discussed prior to the Covid-19 outbreak, have been 
incorporated into the 2020-23 approved budget plans. 

 
The Covid-19 pandemic, and the subsequent lockdown has further impacted KAL’s financial 
position, with all usual income streams effectively stopping overnight. This requires additional, 
urgent financial support to help them to remain solvent and manage their cash flow.  
 
The nature of the pandemic, and the subsequent Government guidance on social distancing 
means that KAL will have to re-open sites gradually and with a reduced capacity for the 
foreseeable future. This further limits their ability to return to usual levels of income. 
 
To mitigate the losses, officers are satisfied that KAL has utilised the furloughing scheme and 
other available Government financial support as far as it is able. KAL has also supported the 
response to Covid-19 and worked closely with the Council to re-deploy some staff into critical 
Council services to support the Covid-19 response effort, and we would expect continuing 
flexibility in this regard. 
 
Current KAL projections indicate that the Council may need to underwrite irrecoverable losses of 
up to £4m. This figure assumes no KAL redundancies, no extension of current furloughing 
scheme by Government beyond October 2020, and a partial and gradual resumption of some 
leisure activity from August within presumed social distancing guidelines. We recognise, 
however, that the landscape is changing rapidly and this timescale may change depending on 
Government guidance, and KAL will continue to provide us with revised projections should any of 
these expectations change. The projection also assumes that KAL reserves will have reached the 
minimum figure of £500k at year end, which it needs as a minimum contingency as a hitherto 
£16m annual turnover operation. 
 
It had already, as part of previous discussions about KAL funding, been considered that KAL 
ought to play an increasing role in helping to address some of the health and activity inequalities 
that exist. The impact and significance of those inequalities has been exposed even more starkly 
during recent months. The mutual objectives of the partnership are, therefore, being reviewed by 
officers and will be presented in due course as a ‘KAL Commission’. At the same time, KAL have 
themselves been looking at how they might be seen as more of a ‘health and wellbeing’ provider, 
and so this opportunity to support their transition into that arena is timely, albeit under the most 
unfortunate of circumstances.  Page 122



 
We do not know yet the true health impact of Covid-19 on people who have suffered from it, and 
there may become a significant need to support people with a longer term recovery to full health. 
In addition, there are also a significant number of people who, for a variety of reasons, have been 
inactive for an extended period of time, and for whom becoming active might be challenging or 
daunting. The consequences of inactivity if left unchecked could cause tremendous problems in 
the future if we do not address these as soon as possible. 
 
Failure to support KAL in this challenging time leaves them vulnerable and with the likelihood that 
some sites may have to close, and possibly even lead to the demise of KAL. This would have 
serious consequences to both the Council, who may have to pick up a number of liabilities, and 
for the public, with the loss of the major operator of leisure facilities (and the health and social 
consequences thereof). In particular, KAL is the main provider of swimming pools in Kirklees, and 
the prolonged closure of these would have a knock on impact on the ability for schools to meet 
statutory school swimming obligations as well as meeting the swimming needs of the wider 
population.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, however, it should be noted that the only justification for providing 
this support is that through the adoption of a new ‘KAL Commission’ which is currently under 
development, we will be expecting KAL to be transformed and change their offer significantly and 
work in very different ways. We will expect KAL to demonstrate a much greater focus on 
engaging with, and supporting, the target groups and those who suffer the most from inequalities, 
and through that engagement, redesign their offer and approach to ensure it supports those 
people to be more physically active and improve their health outcomes. We also expect to see 
KAL embrace a systems working approach with a range of partners so that this support can be 
joined up and we can maximise resources jointly. In so doing, KAL will play a bigger role in 
helping to address this key agenda.  
 
 

 
3. Implications for the Council 
 

• Working with People 
KAL facilities draw staff and customers from all corners of Kirklees, and the facilities play an 
important role in their communities. This ranges from being a social space where people may 
meet up with friends to supporting local community sports clubs with appropriate facilities. 
KAL regularly seeks and reviews feedback from their customers to help shape their offer, and 
the customer satisfaction rate is high. Through the ‘KAL Commission’ we will also explore 
how they might canvass and respond to the views of those who suffer from health 
inequalities, who are inactive or who come from some of our most deprived communities.  
  

• Working with Partners 
KAL are a key local partner, who contribute to the economic performance of Kirklees and are a 
major employer, in particular of young workers. This financial support will enable them to 
overcome the shock to their business of Covid-19, and through the proposed commission, 
encourage them to develop new and broader partnerships within the health sector, so that 
collectively a number of organisations can work together to achieve mutually desired outcomes.  
 

 
• Place Based Working  

KAL runs a number of facilities across the borough and we will encourage KAL to shape the offer 
in their sites to meet the needs of the various local communities. In particular, where noted health 
or other inequalities exist, we believe that there is an opportunity to work together to tackle these. 
 

• Climate Change and Air Quality 
The immediate proposal doesn’t make any changes to climate change and / or air quality, 
although the impact of fewer sites operating and fewer customer visits for the foreseeable future, 
may well contribute to that goal. 
 

Page 123



Longer term, through the emerging KAL Commission and considering how it can both support 
the active travel agenda and also work to tackle the health inequalities in the communities 
around the facilities, we hope to be able to promote more local access, and through more 
sustainable means. 
 
Finally, KAL have for a long time been committed to reducing energy costs and operating 
facilities as efficiently as possible and are committed to continuing to do so.   
 

• Improving outcomes for children 
KAL operates the bulk of the swimming pools in Kirklees, and manages the School 
Swimming programme, which allows schools to fulfil their responsibilities regarding ensuring 
children can swim. They also have a wide offer of other activities which are either aimed at, 
or open to children to support them in being active. 

 
• Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 
Based on current financial projections, which are fluid as the Government guidance changes, it is 
proposed that the Council underwrite KAL’s forecast income loss of up to £4m, with that funding 
coming from Covid-19 funding we’ve received to date from Government. It is also proposed that 
this support should protect primarily against the need for redundancies. Given the likely extended 
phasing of re-opening of KAL facilities, this will be heavily predicated on a flexible KAL workforce 
conditionality if the Council wishes to re-deploy staff in the interim. There is also an expectation 
that KAL will continue to review all available financing packages available going forward, with the 
industry currently lobbying Government for an enhanced support package, and should additional 
funds become available to KAL the quantum of actual Council funding underwrite will flex 
accordingly. 
 
The provision of financial assistance is not considered to constitute State aid, and the legal 
powers for the council to underwrite /fund costs of Kirklees Active Leisure subject to acting 
reasonably in public law terms will be Section 19 (3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

 
 
Do you need an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)?  
 
No. The current proposals do not set out any operational changes for KAL, however, it is 
proposed that the review of the ‘KAL Commission’ will seek to identify ways in which groups who 
suffer health inequalities and inactive people can be supported to be more active and use 
physical activity as a means of reducing those inequalities or better managing their conditions, 
and an Integrated Impact Assessment may be required as part of that work. It is also expected 
that KAL will continue to seek and adopt policies which impact positively on the environment, in 
particular about energy efficiency and the use of active travel where possible by staff and 
customers.  
 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

 
This proposed financial support package has been the subject of detailed discussions between 
KAL and the Council’s Service Director for Finance and also the Consultant in Public Health, who 
are supportive of this approach. It also has the support of the wider Council Executive Team. 

 
5. Next steps and timelines 

 
If Cabinet approves the financial support to KAL, then arrangements for the transfer of funds can 
be made to ensure that KAL are able to meet their financial obligations and retain the minimum 
level of reserves required as a charity.  
 
The arrangements for increased Council funding contribution to KAL, which were discussed prior 
to the Covid-19 outbreak, have been incorporated into the 2020-23 approved budget plans. This Page 124



was on the understanding that we would review this further in the next budget round, where it can 
be aligned with the outcomes of the proposed ‘KAL Commission’.   
 
Officers will continue to work on finalising the ‘KAL Commission’ and, once concluded, be 
brought to Cabinet for consideration, as part of a forthcoming review of the broader Council 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
Officers recommend that Cabinet authorise: 
 
a) The Council commit to underwrite irrecoverable KAL income loss as a direct consequence of 

Covid-19 to current financial year end 31 March 2021 of up to £4m in order to help KAL 
through the financial challenges caused by Covid-19.   

 
b) As part of the forthcoming Medium Term Financial Strategy review, officers will review the 

Council commissioning brief with KAL in line with emerging priority outcomes, including 
consideration of attendant resourcing implications, and will bring the details of this work to 
Cabinet in due course.  

 
 

7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 
 
The cabinet portfolio holder, Cllr Graham Turner, recommends that the Cabinet commit to 
underwrite irrecoverable KAL income loss as a direct consequence of Covid-19 to current 
financial year end 31 March 2021 of up to £4m.  
 
To note that as part of the forthcoming Medium Term Financial Strategy review, officers will 
review the Council commissioning brief with KAL in line with emerging priority outcomes, 
including consideration of attendant resourcing implications, and will bring back further proposals 
to Cabinet in due course.  
 

 
8. Contact officer  

 
Martin Gonzalez, Development Manager martin.gonzalez@kirklees.gov.uk  

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 
 

10. Service Director responsible  
Rachel Spencer-Henshall, Strategic Director - Corporate Strategy, Commissioning & Public 
Health 

 
 

Page 125

mailto:martin.gonzalez@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 12:
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 137

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 139

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2: Interests
	7: Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy; Tree Works on Council Owned Trees Guidance Document; Tree Risk Management Framework
	Council Owned Tree and Woodland Management Policy
	Kirklees Tree Works Guidance
	1. Introduction
	2. Common Law Rights
	3. Maintenance of Council Trees
	3.1 Street trees
	3.2 Parks and public open spaces
	3.3 Cemeteries and closed churchyards
	3.4 Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing (KNH) managed areas
	3.5 Tree felling
	3.6 Tree pruning
	3.7 Use of green waste
	3.8 Tree planting
	3.9 Wildlife legislation

	4.  Unsafe Trees
	4.1 Unsafe trees - requiring immediate action
	4.2 Trees - not requiring immediate action
	4.3 Unsafe trees in private ownership

	5. General Works to Council Trees Not Required by Law
	5.1 Tree touching a building
	5.2 Tree overhanging property
	5.3 Tree roots and drains
	5.4 Trees blocking natural light
	5.5 Trees blocking views
	5.6 Leaf fall from trees
	5.7 Sap from trees
	5.8 Blossom from trees
	5.9 Bird droppings from trees
	5.10 Fruit, berries & nuts from trees
	5.11 Wildlife and insects in trees
	5.12 Satellite, television and other communications reception blocked by trees
	5.13 Security cameras/sensors blocked by trees
	5.14 Solar collectors and panels obscured by trees
	5.15 Telephone wires and trees
	5.16 Tree considered too large
	5.17 Vandalism to trees
	5.18 Anti-social behaviour and trees
	5.19 Claims of subsidence caused by trees
	5.20 Tree swings and tree houses on Council owned land

	6. Trees Affecting the Public Highway
	6.1 Tree obstructing the highway
	6.2 Pavement obstructed or damaged by tree
	6.3 Line of sight obscured by trees
	6.4 Signal and signage obscured by trees
	6.5 Street light obscured by trees

	7. Woodland Management

	Tree Risk Management Framework

	8: Major Transport - Major Scheme Approvals and Update
	9: Council Financial Outturn & Rollover Report 2019-20 incorporating General Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue account, Capital and Treasury Management
	Name of meeting: Cabinet
	Electoral wards affected: None Ward Councillors Consulted: None
	Table 1 - Overview of 2019-20 general fund revenue outturn position
	1.7 General Fund Reserves
	1.7.2 The year-end reserves position set out in Appendix 2 incorporates the new Place Partnership Theme reserve approved as part of the overall 2020-23 Council budget plans.  It also reflects measures taken to release an additional £6.7m revenue resou...
	Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday 2nd June 2020, 3.00 pm | Kirklees Council (Item 9)
	1.7.3 The 2019-20 early closedown review report set out proposals to increase earmarked reserves by £6.7m through a year end review of capitalisation opportunities and funding sources within allowable accounting rules.  The review identified £5.4m of ...
	1.7.4 At the time of the Early Closedown Review report to Cabinet on 2 June 2020, the £6.7m transfer of revenue resources was anticipated to be aligned to financial resilience reserves. It is now proposed that this is re-directed to the Demand Reserve...
	1.7.5 A specific reserve has been set aside to cover the costs of the Council’s COVID-19 response in 2020-21. The balance of this reserve as at 31 March 2020 is £11.1m; made up of the transfer of the first tranche of un-ringfenced COVID Support Grant ...
	1.7.6 The £12.2m funding was released early by Government on 27 March and technically has to be accounted for in 2019-20, with the balance of £11.1m rolling forward into 2020-21 through a specific reserve. It is anticipated that the £11.1m reserve wil...
	1.7.8  Total usable reserves (excluding Schools Reserves (Other) and Public Health) at 1st April 2020 are £104.6m; equivalent to 34.6% of the 2020-21 £302.3 (net) revenue budget.  For comparator purposes, the median percentage across the 36 metropolit...
	1.7.9 The significance of this indicator is that it features as part of CIPFA’s suite of ‘financial resilience’ performance indicators being developed to support officers, members and other stakeholders as an independent and objective suite of indicat...
	1.7.10   Financial resilience reserves as at 1st April 2020 will remain at just over £37m, which was also the minimum financial reserves requirement recommendation by the Chief Financial Officer at least to the start of 2021-22, as set out in the 2020...
	1.8     Collection Fund
	Table 2 – Collection Fund Summary
	1.9 Housing Revenue Account
	1.10.27 The proportion of the annual revenue budget set aside to repay debt and interest is a matter of local decision, informed by relevant CIPFA prudential guidance relating to prudence, affordability and sustainability.
	2  Information required to take a decision
	3  Implications for the Council
	4 Consultees and their opinions
	5 Next Steps
	6 Cabinet portfolio holders recommendations
	7 Officer recommendations and reasons
	8 Contact Officer
	James Anderson, Head of Accountancy
	9 Background papers and History of Decisions
	Early Closedown Review 2019-20 to Cabinet on 2 June 2020
	10 Service Director responsible
	2.3.1 The UK’s exit from the European Union and future trading arrangements, had remained one of major influences on the UK economy and sentiment during 2019-20.  The 29th March 2019 Brexit deadline was extended to 12th April, then to 31st October and...
	2.3.2  The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation fell to 1.7% year on year in February, below the Bank of England’s target of 2%.  Labour market data remained positive.  The International Labour Organisation (ILO) unemployment rate was 3.9% in ...
	2.3.3  Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth in Q4 2019 was reported as flat by the Office for National Statistics and service sector growth slowed and production and construction activity contracted on the back of what at the time were concerns over th...
	2.3.4  Then coronavirus swiftly changed everything.  COVID-19, which had first appeared in China in December 2019, started spreading across the globe causing plummeting sentiment and falls in financial markets not seen since the Global Financial Crisi...
	2.3.5  In response to the spread of the virus and sharp increase in those infected, the government enforced lockdowns, central banks and governments around the world cut interest rates and introduced massive stimulus packages in an attempt to reduce s...
	2.3.6  The Bank of England, which had held policy rates steady at 0.75% through most of 2019-20, moved in March 2020 to cut rates to 0.25% from 0.75% and then swiftly thereafter brought them down further to the record low of 0.10%.  In conjunction wit...

	10: Kirklees Active Leisure Covid-19 Funding Support
	12: Kirklees Active Leisure Covid-19 Funding Support
	Appendix 2 Exempt
	Appendix 3 Exempt
	Appendix 4 Exempt
	Appendix 5 Exempt


